
Morrow County Board of Commissioners Agenda                                                        Page 1 of 2 
 

MORROW COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS MEETING AGENDA 
Wednesday, June 8, 2022 at 9:00 a.m. 

Bartholomew Building Upper Conference Room 
110 N. Court St., Heppner, Oregon 

See Zoom Meeting Information on Page 2 
AMENDED 

 
1. Call to Order and Pledge of Allegiance:  9:00 a.m. 
2. City/Citizen Comments:  Individuals may address the Board on issues not on the agenda 
3. Open Agenda:  The Board may introduce subjects not already on the agenda 
4. Consent Calendar 

a. Approve Accounts Payable & Payroll Payables 
b. USDA APHIS Wildlife Services Cooperative Agreement #22-7341-5126-RA  
c. Oregon Water Resources Department Intergovernmental Agreement for Assistant 

Watermaster Services 
d. Tidewater Addition Subdivision Plat – Located inside Boardman City Limits 
e. Ramandeep Subdivision Plat – Located inside Boardman City Limits 
f. Barnett & Moro Representation Letter 

5. Business Items 
a. Broadband Fellowship – Broadband Action Team (Commissioner Lindsay) 
b. Century West Engineering Agreement and Authorization for Engineering 

Consulting Services, Lexington Airport Taxiway D Reconstruction Design (Sandi 
Pointer) 

c. Letter of Support – LimitBid’s USDA Meat and Poultry Processing Expansion 
Program Grant Application  

d. Fiscal Year 2021 Close-Out of Oregon Health Authority Intergovernmental 
Agreement #159824 for the Financing of Public Health Services (Robin Canaday) 

e. Order No. R-2022-10:  Consolidating the Bylaws of the Special Transportation 
Fund Advisory Committee and the Statewide Transportation Fund Advisory 
Committee; and Approving Membership Roster (Katie Imes)  

f. Morrow County Tourism Consultant Bi-Annual Report (Karie Walchli) 
g. 2020 Ballot Measure 109 – Authorized the manufacture and use of psilocybin 

products.  Jurisdictions opt-in unless the Board refers the matter to voters at the 
next general election (Tamra Mabbott) 

6. Department Reports 
a. Planning Department Monthly Report (Tamra Mabbott) 
b. Treasurer’s Monthly Report (Jaylene Papineau) 

7. Correspondence  
8. Commissioner Reports 
9. Sign documents 
10. Adjournment 

 
Agendas are available every Friday on our website (www.co.morrow.or.us/boc under 
“Upcoming Events”).  Meeting Packets are also available the following Monday. 
 

http://www.co.morrow.or.us/boc


Morrow County Board of Commissioners Agenda                                                        Page 2 of 2 
 

The meeting location is accessible to persons with disabilities. A request for an interpreter for the 
hearing impaired or for other accommodations for persons with disabilities should be made at 
least 48 hours before the meeting to Roberta Lutcher at (541) 676-5613. 
 
Pursuant to ORS 192.640, this agenda includes a list of the principal subjects anticipated to be 
considered at the meeting; however, the Board may consider additional subjects as well. This 
meeting is open to the public and interested citizens are invited to attend. Executive sessions are 
closed to the public; however, with few exceptions and under specific guidelines, are open to the 
media. The Board may recess for lunch depending on the anticipated length of the meeting and 
the topics on the agenda. If you have anything that needs to be on the agenda, please notify the  
 
Board office before noon of the preceding Friday.  If something urgent comes up after this 
publication deadline, please notify the office as soon as possible. If you have any questions about 
items listed on the agenda, please contact Darrell J. Green, County Administrator at (541) 676-
2529. 

Zoom Meeting Information 
 

https://zoom.us/j/5416762546  PASSWORD:  97836 Meeting ID: 541-676-2546 
 
Zoom Call-In Numbers for Audio Only: 

• 1-346-248-7799, Meeting ID:  541 676 2546#  
• 1-669-900-6833, Meeting ID:  541 676 2546#  
• 1-312-626-6799, Meeting ID:  541-676-2546# 
• 1-929-436-2866, Meeting ID:  541-676-2546# 
• 1-253-215-8782, Meeting ID:  541-676-2546# 
• 1-301-715-8592, Meeting ID:  541-676-2546# 

 
 
 

https://zoom.us/j/5416762546






































































BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
 110 N Court St. • P.O. Box 788   Jim Doherty, Chair 
 Heppner, OR 97836                 Melissa Lindsay, Commissioner  
 541-676-5613     Don Russell, Commissioner 
 www.co.morrow.or.us 

Barnett & Moro Representation Letter – June 2022                                                                                       Page 1 of 9 
 

 
 
 
June 3, 2022 
 
Barnett & Moro, P.C. 
Certified Public Accounts 
495 E. Main 
Hermiston, OR  97838 
 
This representation letter is provided in connection with your audit of the financial statements of 
Morrow County, Oregon, which comprise the respective financial position of the governmental 
activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information as of June 30, 2021, and 
the respective changes in financial position for the year then ended, and the related notes to the 
financial statements, for the purpose of expressing opinions as to whether the financial statements 
are presented fairly, in all material respects, in accordance with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America (U.S. GAAP). 
 
Certain representations in this letter are described as being limited to matters that are material. 
Items are considered material, regardless of size, if they involve an omission or misstatement of 
accounting information that, in light of surrounding circumstances, makes it probable that the 
judgment of a reasonable person relying on the information would be changed or influenced by the 
omission or misstatement. An omission or misstatement that is monetarily small in amount could 
be considered material as a result of qualitative factors. 
 
We confirm, to the best of our knowledge and belief, as of June 3, 2022, the following 
representations made to you during your audit. 
 
Financial Statements 
 
1) We have fulfilled our responsibilities, as set out in the terms of the audit engagement letter 
dated June 1, 2021, including our responsibility for the preparation and fair presentation of the 
financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP and for preparation of the supplementary 
information in accordance with the applicable criteria. 
 
2) The financial statements referred to above are fairly presented in conformity with U.S. GAAP 
and include all properly classified funds and other financial information of the primary 
government and all component units required by generally accepted accounting principles to be 
included in the financial reporting entity. 
 



 

Barnett & Moro Representation Letter – June 2022                                                                                       Page 2 of 9 
 

3) We acknowledge our responsibility for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal 
control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
4) We acknowledge our responsibility for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal 
control to prevent and detect fraud. 
 
5) Significant assumptions we used in making accounting estimates, including those measured at 
fair value are reasonable. 
 
6) Related party relationships and transactions, including revenues, expenditures/expenses, loans, 
transfers, leasing arrangements, and guarantees, and amounts receivable from or payable to related 
parties have been appropriately accounted for and disclosed in accordance with U.S. GAAP. 
 
7) Adjustments or disclosures have been made for all events, including instances of 
noncompliance, subsequent to the date of the financial statements that would require adjustment to 
or disclosure in the financial statements or in the schedule of findings and questioned costs. 
 
8) We believe that there are no uncorrected financial statement misstatements. 
 
9) The effects of all known actual or possible litigation, claims, and assessments have been 
accounted for and disclosed in accordance with U.S. GAAP. 
 
10) Guarantees, whether written or oral, under which the County is contingently liable, if any, 
have been properly recorded or disclosed. 
 
Information Provided 
 
11) We have provided you with:  
 
a) Access to all information, of which we are aware, that is relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial statements, such as records, documentation, and other matters, and all 
audit or relevant monitoring reports, if any, received from funding sources. 
 
b) Additional information that you have requested from us for the purpose of the audit. 
 
c) Unrestricted access to persons within the County from whom you determined it necessary to 
obtain audit evidence. 
 
d) Minutes of the meetings of Board of Commissioners or summaries of actions of recent meetings 
for which minutes have not yet been prepared. 
 
12) All material transactions have been recorded in the accounting records and are reflected in the 
financial statements, and the schedule of expenditures of federal awards. 
 
13) We have disclosed to you the results of our assessment of the risk that the financial statements 
may be materially misstated as a result of fraud. 



 

Barnett & Moro Representation Letter – June 2022                                                                                       Page 3 of 9 
 

 
14) We have no knowledge of any fraud or suspected fraud that affects the County and involves: 
 
a) Management, 
 
b) Employees who have significant roles in internal control, or 
 
c) Others where the fraud could have a material effect on the financial statements. 
 
15) We have no knowledge of any allegations of fraud or suspected fraud affecting the County’s 
financial statements communicated by employees, former employees, regulators, or others. 
 
16) We have no knowledge of instances of noncompliance or suspected noncompliance with 
provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, or grant agreements, or waste or abuse, whose effects 
should be considered when preparing financial statements, other than previously disclosed. 
 
17) We have disclosed to you all known actual or possible litigation, claims, and assessments 
whose effects should be considered when preparing the financial statements. 
 
18) We have disclosed to you the identity of the County’s related parties and all the related party 
relationships and transactions, including any side agreements. 
 
Government—specific 
 
19) There have been no communications from regulatory agencies concerning noncompliance 
with, or deficiencies in, financial reporting practices. 
 
20) We have identified to you any previous audits, attestation engagements, and other studies 
related to the objectives of the audit and whether related recommendations have been 
implemented. 
 
21) We have identified to you any investigations or legal proceedings that have been initiated with 
respect to the period under audit. 
 
22) The County has no plans or intentions that may materially affect the carrying value or 
classification of assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, deferred inflows of resources, 
and fund balance or net position. 
 
23) We are responsible for compliance with the laws, regulations, and provisions of contracts and 
grant agreements applicable to us, including tax or debt limits and debt contracts, and legal and 
contractual provisions for reporting specific activities in separate funds. 
 
24) We have identified and disclosed to you all instances of identified and suspected fraud and 
noncompliance with provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements that we 
believe have a material effect on the financial statements. 
 



 

Barnett & Moro Representation Letter – June 2022                                                                                       Page 4 of 9 
 

25) There are no violations or possible violations of budget ordinances, laws and regulations 
(including those pertaining to adopting, approving, and amending budgets), provisions of  
 
contracts and grant agreements, tax or debt limits, and any related debt covenants whose effects 
should be considered for disclosure in the financial statements, or as a basis for recording a loss 
contingency, or for reporting on noncompliance. 
 
26) As part of your audit, you assisted with preparation of the financial statements and related 
notes, and schedule of expenditures of federal awards. We acknowledge our responsibility as it 
relates to those nonaudit services, including that we assume all management responsibilities; 
oversee the services by designating an individual, preferable within senior management, who 
possesses suitable skill, knowledge, or experience; evaluate the adequacy and results of the 
services performed; and accept responsibility for the results of the services. We have reviewed, 
approved, and accepted responsibility for those financial statements and related notes, and 
schedule of expenditures of federal awards. 
 
27) The County has satisfactory title to all owned assets, and there are no liens or encumbrances 
on such assets nor has any asset been pledged as collateral, except as disclosed in the notes to the 
financial statements. 
 
28) The County has complied with all aspects of contractual agreements that would have a 
material effect on the financial statements in the event of noncompliance. 
 
29) We have followed all applicable laws and regulations in adopting, approving, and amending 
budgets, with the exception of the budget over expenditures disclosed in the financial statements. 
 
30) The financial statements properly classify all funds and activities in accordance with GASB 
Statement No. 34, as amended. 
 
31) All funds that meet the quantitative criteria in GASB 34 and 37 for presentation as major are 
identified and presented as such and all other funds that are presented as major are particularly 
important to financial statement users, if any. 
 
32) Components of net position (net investment in capital assets; restricted; and unrestricted) and 
classifications of fund balance (nonspendable, restricted, committed, assigned, and unassigned) are 
properly classified and, if applicable, approved. 
 
33) Provisions for uncollectible receivables have been properly identified and recorded. 
 
34) Expenses have been appropriately classified in or allocated to functions and programs in the 
statement of activities, and allocations have been made on a reasonable basis.  
 
35) Revenues are appropriately classified in the statement of activities within program revenues, 
general revenues, contributions to term or permanent endowments, or contributions to permanent 
fund principal. 
 



 

Barnett & Moro Representation Letter – June 2022                                                                                       Page 5 of 9 
 

36) Interfund, internal, and intra-entity activity and balances have been appropriately classified 
and reported. 
 
37) Deposits and investment securities and derivative instruments are properly classified as to risk 
and are properly disclosed. 
 
38) Capital assets, including infrastructure and intangible assets, are properly capitalized, reported, 
and, if applicable, depreciated. 
 
39) We have appropriately disclosed the County’s policy regarding whether to first apply 
restricted or unrestricted resources when an expense is incurred for purposes for which both 
restricted and unrestricted net position is available and have determined that net position is 
properly recognized under the policy. 
 
40) We are following our established accounting policy regarding which resources (that is, 
restricted, committed, assigned, or unassigned) are considered to be spent first for expenditures for 
which more than one resource classification is available. That policy determines the fund balance 
classifications for financial reporting purposes. 
 
41) We acknowledge our responsibility for the required supplementary information (RSI). The 
RSI is measured and presented within prescribed guidelines and the methods of measurement and 
presentation have not changed from those used in the prior period. We have disclosed to you any 
significant assumptions and interpretations underlying the measurement and presentation of the 
RSI. 
 
42) We understand that you prepared the trial balance for use during the audit and that your 
preparation of the trial balance was limited to formatting information into a working trial balance 
based on management’s chart of accounts. 
 
43) With respect to the supplemental information the combining and individual nonmajor fund 
financial statements, other schedules, and the schedule of expenditures of federal awards: 
 
a) We acknowledge our responsibility for presenting the combining and individual nonmajor fund 
financial statements, other schedules, and the schedule of expenditures of federal awards in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and we 
believe the combining and individual nonmajor fund financial statements, other schedules, and the 
schedule of expenditures of federal awards, including its form and content, is fairly presented in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. The 
methods of measurement and presentation of the combining and individual nonmajor fund 
financial statements, other schedules, and the schedule of expenditures of federal awards have not 
changed from those used in the prior period, and we have disclosed to you any significant 
assumptions or interpretations underlying the measurement and presentation of the supplementary 
information. 
 
b) If the combining and individual nonmajor fund financial statements, other schedules, and the 
schedule of expenditures of federal awards are not presented with the audited financial statements, 
we will make the audited financial statements readily available to the intended users of the 



 

Barnett & Moro Representation Letter – June 2022                                                                                       Page 6 of 9 
 

supplementary information no later than the date we issue the supplementary information and the 
auditor’s report thereon. 
 
44) With respect to federal award programs: 
 
a) We are responsible for understanding and complying with and have complied with the 
requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) Part 200, Uniform Administrative 
Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance), 
including requirements relating to preparation of the schedule of expenditures of federal awards. 
 
b) We acknowledge our responsibility for presenting the schedule of expenditures of federal 
awards (SEFA) and related disclosures in accordance with the requirements of the Uniform 
Guidance, and we believe the SEFA, including its form and content, is fairly presented in 
accordance with the Uniform Guidance. The methods of measurement or presentation of the SEFA 
have not changed from those used in the prior period and we have disclosed to you any significant 
assumptions and interpretations underlying the measurement or presentation of the SEFA. 
 
c) If the SEFA is not presented with the audited financial statements, we will make the audited 
financial statements readily available to the intended users of the SEFA no later than the date we 
issue the SEFA and the auditor’s report thereon. 
 
d) We have identified and disclosed to you all of our government programs and related activities 
subject to the Uniform Guidance compliance audit, and have included in the SEFA, expenditures 
made during the audit period for all awards provided by federal agencies in the form of federal 
grants, federal cost reimbursement contracts, loans, loan guarantees, property (including donated 
surplus property), cooperative agreements, interest subsidies, insurance, food commodities, direct 
appropriations, and other direct assistance. 
 
e) We are responsible for understanding and complying with, and have complied with, the 
requirements of federal statutes, regulations, and the terms and conditions of federal awards 
related to each of our federal programs and have identified and disclosed to you the requirements 
of federal statutes, regulations, and the terms and conditions of federal awards that are considered 
to have a direct and material effect on each major program. 
 
f) We are responsible for establishing, designing, implementing, and maintaining, and have 
established, designed, implemented, and maintained, effective internal control over compliance for 
federal programs that provides reasonable assurance that we are managing our federal awards in 
compliance with federal statutes, regulations, and the terms and conditions of federal awards that 
could have a material effect on our federal programs. We believe the internal control system is 
adequate and is functioning as intended. 
 
g) We have made available to you all federal awards (including amendments, if any) and any other 
correspondence with federal agencies or pass-through entities relevant to federal programs and 
related activities. 
 
h) We have received no requests from a federal agency to audit one or more specific programs as a 
major program. 



 

Barnett & Moro Representation Letter – June 2022                                                                                       Page 7 of 9 
 

 
i) We have complied with the direct and material compliance requirements (except for 
noncompliance disclosed to you), including when applicable, those set forth in the OMB 
Compliance Supplement, relating to federal awards and have identified and disclosed to you all 
amounts questioned and all known noncompliance with the direct and material compliance 
requirements of federal awards. 
 
j) We have disclosed any communications from federal awarding agencies and pass-through 
entities concerning possible noncompliance with the direct and material compliance requirements, 
including communications received from the end of the period covered by the compliance audit to 
the date of the auditor’s report. 
 
k) We have disclosed to you the findings received and related corrective actions taken for previous 
audits, attestation engagements, and internal or external monitoring that directly relate to the 
objectives of the compliance audit, including findings received and corrective actions taken from 
the end of the period covered by the compliance audit to the date of the auditor’s report. 
 
l) Amounts claimed or used for matching were determined in accordance with relevant guidelines 
in OMB’s Uniform Guidance (2 CFR part 200, subpart E) and OMB Circular A-87, Cost 
Principles for State, Local, and Indian Tribal Governments, and OMB’s Uniform Administrative 
Requirements for Grants and Cooperative Agreements to State and Local Governments.  
 
m) We have disclosed to you our interpretation of compliance requirements that may have varying 
interpretations. 
 
n) We have made available to you all documentation related to compliance with the direct material 
compliance requirements, including information related to federal program financial reports and 
claims for advances and reimbursements. 
 
o) We have disclosed to you the nature of any subsequent events that provide additional evidence 
about conditions that existed at the end of the reporting period affecting noncompliance during the 
reporting period. 
 
p) There are no such known instances of noncompliance with direct and material compliance 
requirements that occurred subsequent to the period covered by the auditor’s report. 
 
q) No changes have been made in internal control over compliance or other factors that might 
significantly affect internal control, including any corrective action we have taken regarding 
significant deficiencies or material weaknesses in internal control over compliance, subsequent to 
the period covered by the auditor’s report. 
 
r) Federal program financial reports and claims for advances and reimbursements are supported by 
the books and records from which the financial statements have been prepared. 
 
s) The copies of federal program financial reports provided to you are true copies of the reports 
submitted, or electronically transmitted, to the respective federal agency or pass-through entity, as 
applicable. 



 

Barnett & Moro Representation Letter – June 2022                                                                                       Page 8 of 9 
 

 
t) We have charged costs to federal awards in accordance with applicable cost principles. 
 
u) We are responsible for and have accurately prepared the summary schedule of prior audit 
findings to include all findings required to be included by the Uniform Guidance, and we have 
provided you with all information on the status of the follow-up on prior audit findings by federal 
awarding agencies and pass-through entities, including all management decisions. 
 
v) We are responsible for and have ensured the reporting package does not contain protected 
personally identifiable information. 
 
w) We are responsible for and will accurately prepare the auditee section of the Data Collection 
Form as required by the Uniform Guidance. 
 
x) We are responsible for preparing and implementing a corrective action plan for each audit 
finding, if applicable. 
 
45) OTHER MATTERS: 
 
We have reviewed insurance coverage requirements with our insurance providers. Our insurance 
coverage is adequate to protect the County. 
 
Allocations of expenses between departments and funds are based upon time records, usage, and 
other reasonable methods. 
 
There are no instances where any officer or employee of the County has an interest in a company 
with which the County does business which would be considered a “conflict of interest.” Such an 
interest would be contrary to County policy. 
 
The County is not aware of any unclaimed property that is payable to the state in excess of $1,000. 
 
The County is not aware of any post-retirement benefits provided to retirees other than the pension 
plan referenced in the notes to the financial statements. 
 
46) ADJUSTING JOURNAL ENTRIES: 
 
All material transactions have been properly recorded in the accounting records underlying the 
aforementioned financial statements. The adjusting journal entries for the year ended June 30, 
2021, which have been proposed by you, if any, are approved by us and will be recorded in the 
financial records of the County. 
 
47) SUBSEQUENT EVENTS: 
 
No events or transactions, including instances of noncompliance, have occurred since June 30, 
2021 and through the date of the this letter, other than those disclosed in the notes to the financial 
statements, which would have a material effect upon the financial statements at that date or for the 
period then ended, or which are of such significance in relation to the County’s affairs as to 



 

Barnett & Moro Representation Letter – June 2022                                                                                       Page 9 of 9 
 

require disclosure in the aforementioned financial statements or in the schedule of findings and 
questioned costs, in order to make them not misleading as to the financial position, results of 
operations, changes in fund balances, or changes in cash flows of the County. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Jim Doherty, Chair, Board of Commissioners 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Darrell Green, County Administrator 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Jaylene Papineau, Treasurer 
 





































































































































































































































































































































RUNWAY 8-26

APPROXIMATE RECONSTRUCTION LIMITS

SCALES ACCORDINGLY.

THIS SHEET, ADJUST

IF NOT ONE INCH ON

 0"                              1"

ORIGINAL DRAWING.

BAR IS ONE INCH ON

VERIFY SCALES

APPRBYNO. DATE REVISIONS

SHEET NO.

DRAWING NO.

DATE:

OCTOBER 2021

MORROW COUNTY

LEXINGTON AIRPORT

TAXIWAY D RECONSTRUCTION

   CENTURY
   WEST

E   N   G   I   N   E   E   R   I   N   G

BEND OFFICE

1020 SW EMKAY DRIVE, #100

BEND, OR  97702

541.322.8962

541.382.2423 FAX

PROJECT NO: SCALE:

CHECKED BY:

DRAWN BY:

DESIGNED BY:

X
:
\
P

r
o
j
e
c
t
s
\
M

o
r
r
o
w

 
C

o
u
n
t
y
\
2
0
2
2
 
-
 
T

a
x
i
w

a
y
 
D

 
R

e
c
o
n
s
t
r
u
c
t
i
o
n
 
(
D

e
s
i
g
n
)
\
C

A
D

\
E

x
h
i
b
i
t
s
\
S

c
o
p
e
 
E

x
h
i
b
i
t
\
P

r
o
j
e
c
t
 
O

v
e
r
v
i
e
w

 
E

x
h
i
b
i
t
.
d
w

g

AS NOTED
12414.007.01

P

R

E

L

I

M

I

N

A

R

Y

EX-1

1 OF 1

PROJECT OVERVIEW EXHIBIT

AIP #3-41-0034-012-2022

GJR

GJR

JNR

LEGEND:

SCALE: 1" = 150'

PROJECT OVERVIEW
1

EX-1

150 0 150 300

SCALE OF FEET

SCALE: 1"=150'

TAXIWAY D

RECONSTRUCTION

(±2,150 SY)

SOURCE: GOOGLE EARTH (2015)

SEE

NOTE 1

PARALLEL TAXIWAY

T

A

X

I

W

A

Y

 

B

T

A

X

I

W

A

Y

 

C

T

A

X

I

W

A

Y

 

D

NOTES:

1. APRON CONSTRUCTION LINE WORK (2018) APPROXIMATED ON AERIAL IMAGE.

APRON

T
A

X
I
W

A
Y

 
A

APRON

RECONSTRUCTION

(±3,000 SY)

EXISTING CONDITIONS NOTES:

1.
THE PORTIONS OF THE APRON AND TAXIWAY D

ANTICIPATED TO BE RECONSTRUCTED UNDER THIS

PROJECT WERE ORIGINALLY CONSTRUCTED IN 1967

AND 1989.

ESTIMATED 2022 PCI VALUES RANGE FROM 0 TO 60.

THE LAST KNOWN MAINTENANCE ON THESE

PAVEMENTS WAS CRACK SEALING IN 2008 AND AN

ASPHALT OVERLAY IN 2007 (NON-AIP FUNDED).

THE PAVEMENT EXHIBITS LARGE, TRANSVERSE

CRACKS, PAVEMENT OXIDATION, AND ALLIGATOR

CRACKING THAT IS GENERATING FOD.

2.

3.

4.

AutoCAD SHX Text
RENEWS: 12/31/22

AutoCAD SHX Text
92820PE

AutoCAD SHX Text
OREGON

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
J

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
F

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
.

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
,

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
7

AutoCAD SHX Text
N





 
 

Page 1 of 2  

ENGINEERING CONSULTING   TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

 

 
1.  SERVICES:  Engineer agrees to perform the Scope of Services 

(Services) under the following terms and conditions.  Additional 

Services will be provided only by written amendment to this 

Agreement. 

 

2.  TIMES OF PAYMENTS:  Engineer will submit invoices on a 

monthly basis for the unbilled portion of Services actually 

completed.  Client will pay the invoice within 30 days of the invoice 

date.  Accounts remaining unpaid after said 30 days will be 

considered delinquent and assessed a late payment charge 

(currently at the rate of 1 1/2% per month) calculated each month 

from the date of the invoice.  Engineer reserves the right to suspend 

all Services until account delinquencies have been remedied. 

 

3.  OPINIONS OF COST: Because Engineer has no control over the 

cost of labor, materials, equipment or Services furnished by others, 

or over contractors' methods of determining prices, or other 

competitive bidding or market conditions, any cost estimates 

provided by Engineer will be made on the basis of experience and 

judgment.  Engineer cannot and does not guarantee that proposals, 

bids or actual Project construction costs will not vary from opinions 

of probable costs prepared by Engineer. 

 

4.  CLIENT-PROVIDED INFORMATION:    Client will make available to 

Engineer, all information readily available to Client regarding existing 

and proposed conditions of the site which will aid Engineer in its 

performance of Services.  Engineer shall be entitled to rely, without 

further inquiry or investigation, on all information furnished to 

Engineer by Client.  Client agrees to advise Engineer of any 

hazardous substances or any condition existing in, on or near the 

site presenting a potential danger to human health, the 

environment, or equipment.  Client will immediately transmit to 

Engineer any new information which becomes available to Client 

which may have a bearing on Engineer’s performance of Services or 

which relates to information Engineer has requested from Client.  If 

any hazards, not disclosed to Engineer, are discovered after the 

Services are undertaken, Client and Engineer agree that the Scope of 

Services, time schedule and rate schedule shall be modified 

accordingly.  

 

5.  STANDARD OF PERFORMANCE:  Engineer represents that 

Services will be performed within the limits prescribed by Client, and 

that its findings, recommendations, specifications and/or 

professional advice provided hereunder will be prepared and 

presented  in a manner consistent with the level of care and skill 

ordinarily exercised by other professionals under similar 

circumstances at the time the Services are performed. 

 

6.  ACCESS, APPROVALS, PERMITS:  Client shall arrange for access to 

and make all provisions for Engineer to enter onto public and private 

property as required for Engineer to perform the Services.  Unless 

otherwise agreed, Client will be solely responsible for applying for 

and obtaining such permits and approvals as may be necessary for 

Engineer to perform the Services.  

 

7.  REUSE OF DOCUMENTS:  All documents, including computer files, 

drawings and specifications, prepared by Engineer pursuant to this 

Agreement shall remain the property of Engineer and are 

instruments of service with respect to the Project.  They are not 

intended or represented to be suitable for reuse by Client or others 

on extensions of the Services provided for the Project under this 

Agreement or on any other project.  Any reuse without written 

authorization, certification or adaptation by Engineer for the specific 

purpose intended will be at Client's sole risk and without liability to 

Engineer. 

 

8.  ASBESTOS/PCBs:  All asbestos/PCB related Services are excluded 

from Engineer's Scope of Services.  Client shall notify Engineer at the 

start of the Project if the presence of asbestos/PCBs on the project is 

suspected.  If asbestos/PCBs are suspected or encountered, 

Engineer will stop its own work to permit proper testing and 

evaluation.  If requested as an additional Service, Engineer will assist 

Client in contacting regulatory agencies and/or identifying 

appropriate testing laboratories.   

 

9.  SUBMITTAL REVIEW:  Review by Engineer of submittals by 

contractor is only for general conformance with the design concept 

of the Project and general compliance with the information given in 

the Contract Documents.  The review does not affect the 

contractor's responsibility to perform all contract requirements with 

no change in contract price or time.  Any action taken by the 

Engineer is subject to the requirements of the plans, specifications 

and other Contract Documents.  Client shall indemnify Engineer 

against any claim by any contractor based on the review. 

 

10.  ENGINEER AT CONSTRUCTION SITE:  The presence or duties of 

Engineer's personnel at the construction site, whether as on-site 

representatives or otherwise, do not make Engineer or its personnel 

in any way responsible for those duties that belong to the Owner 

and/or the construction contractors or other entities, and do not 

relieve the construction contractors or any other entity of their 

obligations, duties and responsibilities, including but not limited to, 

all construction methods, means, techniques, sequences and 

procedures necessary for coordinating and completing all portions 

of the construction work in accordance with the Contract 

Documents and any health or safety precautions required by such 

construction work.  Engineer and its personnel have no authority to 

exercise control over any construction contractor or other entity or 

their employees in connection with their work or any health or 

safety precautions and have no duty for inspecting, noting, 

observing, correcting or reporting on health or safety deficiencies of 

the construction contractor or other entity or any other persons at 

the site except Engineer's own personnel. 

 



 
 

Page 2 of 2  

11.  INDEMNIFICATION AND INSURANCE: 

(a) Client agrees to indemnify, hold harmless and defend 

Engineer, its directors, officers, agents and employees, from and 

against any and all liabilities, claims, penalties, forfeitures, suits and 

the cost and expenses incidental thereto, including but not limited 

to reasonable attorney fees, which Engineer may hereafter incur, 

become responsible for or pay out as a result of death or bodily 

injuries to any person, destruction or damage to any property, 

contamination of or adverse effects on the environment or any 

violation of governmental laws, regulations or orders caused by   (1) 

Client’s breach of any term or provision of this Agreement; (2) 

Client’s negligent or wrongful act or omission in the performance of 

this Agreement; or (3) Client’s generation, storage or release of 

waste products including hazardous waste.. 

(b) Engineer agrees to indemnify, hold harmless and defend 

Client, its directors, officers, agents and employees, from and 

against any and all liabilities, claims, penalties, forfeitures, suits and 

the cost and expenses incidental thereto, including but not limited 

to reasonable attorney fees, which Client may hereafter incur, 

become responsible for or pay out as a result of death or bodily 

injuries to any person, destruction or damage to any property, 

contamination of or adverse effects on the environment or any 

violation of governmental laws, regulations or orders caused by 

Engineer’s  (1) breach of any term or provision of this Agreement; or 

(2) any negligent or wrongful act or omission in the performance of 

this Agreement. 

(c) In the event any claim arises as a result of the concurrent 

negligence of Engineer and Client, liability will be determined on the 

basis of the doctrine of comparative negligence.  Each party shall 

promptly notify the other party, in writing, of any threatened or 

actual claim, action, or proceeding.  Engineer and Client shall jointly 

control the defense. 

(d) Notwithstanding any other provision contained in this 

Agreement, neither party shall be liable to the other party for any 

indirect, incidental, special or consequential damages of any kind, 

including without limitation, lost profits or loss of use, regardless of 

the cause, including negligence. 

(e) Upon request, Engineer will provide Client with 

Certificates of Insurance for Workers Compensation, General, Auto 

and Professional Liability coverage.  Client agrees to maintain, during 

the performance of Services, general liability and automobile liability 

insurance in the amount of one million dollars ($1,000,000). 

 

12.  LIMITED LIABILITY: Client agrees that Engineer's liability to 

Client, contractors, subcontractors, and their agents, employees 

and consultants, and to all other third parties which may arise 

from or be due directly or indirectly to the negligent acts, errors 

and/or omissions of engineer, its agents, employees or consultants 

shall be limited to a continued aggregate not to exceed $100,000 

or the total amount paid in fees to Engineer, whichever is greater. 

 

 

13.  TERMINATION:  Either party may terminate this Agreement 

upon thirty (30) days written notice to the other.  Either party may 

terminate this Agreement immediately in the event of a material 

breach by the other party to perform in accordance with the terms 

hereof but only if said breach is through no fault of the terminating 

party and said breach is not corrected before the date of 

termination.  If this Agreement terminates for Force Majeure, Client 

shall pay Engineer for all Services authorized and performed prior to 

the termination date including, if applicable, a prorated lump sum 

fee.  

 

14.  SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS:  Neither Engineer nor Client may 

assign this Agreement without the prior written consent of the 

other.  Engineer may, however, employ any other party or entity it 

deems necessary or proper for any part of the Services required to 

be performed by Engineer under the terms of this Agreement.  The 

covenants, conditions and terms of this Agreement shall extend to 

and be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the heirs, personal 

representatives, successors and assigns of the parties hereto. 

 

15.  MISCELLANEOUS: 

(a) This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State 

of Oregon.  

(b) Any claim brought by Client against Engineer must be 

brought no later than two years after the date of substantial 

completion of the Services hereunder or the expiration of the 

appropriate statute of limitations, whichever is earlier. 

(c) In the event this Agreement should be referred to an 

attorney at law or agent for collection, Client agrees to pay such 

reasonable attorney's or agent's fees and costs as Engineer may 

incur to any attorney or agent in such collection even if no action is 

instituted. In the event an action is instituted to enforce any of the 

terms or conditions of this Agreement, the losing party shall pay to 

the prevailing party, in addition to the costs and disbursements 

allowed by statutes, such sum as the court may adjudge reasonable 

as attorney's fees in such action, in both trial and appellate courts. 

(d) No waiver by either party of any provision of this 

Agreement shall be construed or deemed to be a waiver of (a) any 

other provision of this Agreement or (b) a subsequent breach of the 

same provision, unless such waiver be so expressed in writing and 

signed by the party to be bound. 

(e) The terms and conditions of this Agreement contain a 

series of separate agreements.  If in any proceeding a court or 

arbitrator shall refuse to enforce any of the separate agreements, 

any unenforceable agreement shall be deemed reduced or 

eliminated from the terms and conditions for the purpose of such 

proceeding, but only to the extent necessary to permit the 

remaining agreements to be enforced in such proceeding. 

(f) This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between 

Client and Engineer regarding the Services and supersedes all prior 

or contemporaneous oral or written representations or agreements.  

This Agreement shall not be modified except by a written document 

signed by both parties. 

 



 

 

 

  
 

Scope of Work 1 

X:\Projects\Morrow County\2022 - Taxiway D Reconstruction (Design)\Administrative and Contract\Engineering 
Agreement\Lexington Taxiway D Reconstruction Design - Scope of Work - rev1.docx  
 

 

Scope of Work 
 

Morrow County 
Lexington Airport 

 
Engineering Design, Bidding, and Project Closeout Services 

Taxiway D Reconstruction 
 

Rev 0 – 3 December 2021 
Rev 1 – 14 December 2021 

 
GENERAL 
 
The general scope of the project is to provide engineering design, bidding, and 
project closeout services for the reconstruction of Taxiway D at the Lexington 
Airport (9S9). The project is anticipated to be designed in 2022 and constructed in 
2023. Construction management services are not included as a part of this 
agreement and will be included as a separate agreement. The Airport is owned 
and operated by Morrow County (OWNER). See attached Exhibit 1 for a project 
overview. 
 
The project area encompasses approximately 2,150 SY of reconstruction of 
Taxiway D and approximately 3,000 SY of the adjacent apron. Record data 
indicate Taxiway D and the Apron was originally constructed in 1967 and 1989. 
The last known rehabilitation maintenance performed within the project limits was 
a non-AIP eligible overlay in 2007 and crack sealing in 2008. The 2017 PCI Study 
has projected PCI values for Taxiway A and the Apron in 2027 between 0 (failed) 
and 55 (poor).  The pavement exhibits large, transverse cracks, pavement 
oxidization, and alligator cracking that is generating foreign object debris (FOD). 
The project improvements include full-depth reconstruction.  
 
Due to previous feedback received from the FAA, Sponsor Force Account work 
will not be considered for this project. 
 
This scope of work details activities and work elements needed to perform design, 
bidding, and project closeout services for the work. 

The improvements include: 

• Reconstruction of existing Taxiway D and adjacent Apron (~5,150 SY); 

• Construction of pavement underdrains for the taxiway and apron; 



 

 

 

  
 

Scope of Work 2 

X:\Projects\Morrow County\2022 - Taxiway D Reconstruction (Design)\Administrative and Contract\Engineering 
Agreement\Lexington Taxiway D Reconstruction Design - Scope of Work - rev1.docx  
 

 

• Installation of elevated reflectors for the taxiway and apron; 

• Installation of pavement markings for the taxiway and apron; 

• Construction of miscellaneous drainage structures and pipe to 
adequately drain the site; and 

• Miscellaneous site grading to accommodate the work. 
 

As cost estimates are refined, the project bid schedule will be prepared as a Base 
Bid with Additive Alternates, if necessary, so the work to be constructed can be 
matched with available project funding.  

No impacts or upgrades are anticipated to the existing electrical system.  

Services to be performed are as follows: 

PHASE I – DESIGN, BIDDING, AND PROJECT CLOSEOUT SERVICES 
 
TASK 1 – ADMINSTRATION AND COORDINATION 
 

1. Finalize work scope, fee estimate, and negotiate contract with the Owner. 
 

2. Provide a detailed scope of work and figures without costs to OWNER for 
obtaining an independent fee estimate (IFE) by a separate Engineer. 

 
3. Provide OWNER with Record of Negotiations documentation template. 

OWNER will prepare and submit Record of Negotiations documentation 
for FAA review. 

 
4. Carry out project administration including, but not limited to monitoring 

design and project schedules, coordination of project with the Sponsor, 
monitoring and reporting technical and budget issues to the Sponsor, 
preparation of monthly consultant invoices for submittal to the Sponsor. 
Assume 4 hours per month over a non-consecutive 12-month period for 
design, bidding, and project closeout. 
 

5. Attend predesign meeting with the OWNER and FAA via telephone 
conference. The Consultant will provide a conference call-in number, 
prepare a meeting agenda, and distribute meeting minutes. The Project 
Manager will attend. 
 

6. Coordinate project team and sub-consultants. Prepare sub-consultant 
agreements and scope of work to be performed. 
 



 

 

 

  
 

Scope of Work 3 

X:\Projects\Morrow County\2022 - Taxiway D Reconstruction (Design)\Administrative and Contract\Engineering 
Agreement\Lexington Taxiway D Reconstruction Design - Scope of Work - rev1.docx  
 

 

7. Provide a project schedule to the OWNER and FAA. Up to 3 revisions are 
anticipated. 

 
8. Prepare FAA grant application for design. A separate FAA grant application 

will be prepared for Construction under a separate task. 
 

9. Assist OWNER with the submittal of FAA Sponsor Certification forms (up 
to 6). 
 

10. Assist the OWNER in the administration and reporting for annual FAA 
reports and/or other funding programs and development of overall 
program costs. Annual FAA reports are anticipated to be required for up to 
two fiscal years. 

 
11. Prepare FAA form 7460s for submittal to FAA. Up to (8) 7460s are 

anticipated include the following: 
 

• Contractor Staging Area (temporary) – 4 total 
• Work Area (temporary) – 4 total 

 
12. Prepare and submit up to 6 FAA Quarterly Performance Reports via email 

to the FAA Project Manager. 
 

13. Conduct in-house quality control for each element of design. 
 

14. Attend up to 2 Airport Advisory Board meetings at the Airport during the 
design of the project to provide Airport personnel and management project 
updates and status reports. The Project Manager will attend the meetings. 

 
Task 1 Summary 
  

Anticipated Schedule: December 2021-June 2023. 
 
Deliverables: 

• Scope and Fee (PDF) 

• IFE Spreadsheet (Excel) 

• Predesign Meeting Minutes (PDF) 

• Project Schedule (PDF) 

• Sponsor Certification Forms (PDF) 

• 7460s (Submitted online via OEAAA Website) 

• Quarterly Performance Reports (PDF) 



 

 

 

  
 

Scope of Work 4 

X:\Projects\Morrow County\2022 - Taxiway D Reconstruction (Design)\Administrative and Contract\Engineering 
Agreement\Lexington Taxiway D Reconstruction Design - Scope of Work - rev1.docx  
 

 

TASK 2 – DESIGN SURVEYING  

 
1. Perform one site visit during the topographic survey. It is anticipated the 

Staff Engineer will perform a two-day site visit. 
 

2. Identify Primary Airport Control Station (PACS) and Secondary Airport 
Control Stations (SACS), if present. If PACS and SACS are not present, 
surveyor shall establish horizontal, NAD 83 (2011), and vertical control, 
NAVD 88, for survey work at the airport.  Establish one benchmark for 
elevation control and a minimum of two additional points for horizontal 
control, outside of anticipated disturbance limits. 
 

3. Conduct a topographic survey as follows: 
 
a. Start at the Runway 26 threshold. Extend parallel with the runway 

centerline east 200’. Then proceed south along a line 200’ east of 
Taxiway D centerline until intercepting southern edge of Airport Road. 
Continue survey along south edge of Airport Road and the Access Road 
until intercepting a line parallel with the northwest edge of Taxiway C 
pavement. Extend survey to a point 600’ west of the Runway 26 
threshold, parallel with the runway centerline and connect. See Exhibit 
2. Approximate topographic survey area is 84,000 SY. 
 

b. Runway/Taxiway/Apron survey data, on pavement surfaces, shall be 
collected at cross sections on a 25’ (maximum) interval or a 25’ 
(maximum) grid as appropriate.  Survey data, off of pavement surfaces, 
shall be collected at cross sections on a 50’ (maximum) interval or a 50’ 
(maximum) grid as appropriate. 

 
c. The topographic survey shall show existing pavement striping/markings, 

edge lights and reflectors, signs, ditches, swales, drainage structures, 
fences, buildings, tie-down anchors, pavement edges (AC and PCC) 
gravel areas, roadways, utilities, test pits, pavement core locations, 
NAVAIDS and other structures or surface features within the survey 
limits.  

 
d. Survey finish floor elevations for all hangars within the survey limits. 
 
e. Survey the seal coat joint on the Apron between the pavement that 

received a seal coat in 2021 and old pavement to be reconstructed. 



 

 

 

  
 

Scope of Work 5 

X:\Projects\Morrow County\2022 - Taxiway D Reconstruction (Design)\Administrative and Contract\Engineering 
Agreement\Lexington Taxiway D Reconstruction Design - Scope of Work - rev1.docx  
 

 

 
f. The survey shall tie the Runway 8-26 centerline at each end and identify 

monuments, if present. 
 

g. Property line and boundary delineations are not included. 
4. Engage the Oregon Utility Notification Center (“one call”) to request utility 

locates within the survey limits. The Surveyor will identify all locates 
identified in the “one call” request and include in the base map. 
 

5. Surveyor will engage utility locate firm to denote on-airport private utilities 
within the survey limits, including the existing MIRL system, existing 
Runway 26 PAPI system, existing AWOS system, and existing Airport 
Beacon system and coordinate on-airport utility locations with the airport. 
The Surveyor will identify all locates identified and include in the base map. 
The anticipated utilities include the MIRL system, Runway 26 PAPI system, 
AWOS system, and Airport Beacon system. Century West will provide the 
Surveyor with available record drawings of these utilities. 

 
6. Using the data collected from the topographic survey, develop a digital 

terrain model of the area surveyed in AutoCAD Civil 3D format. 
 

7. Develop a contour map at a scale of 1”=50’ for use in the design. The 
contour interval shall be 0.5 feet. 

 
8. All elevations shall be accurate to 0.04 feet on pavement and 0.10 feet off 

pavement. 
 
Task 2 Summary 
  

Anticipated Schedule: June 2022-August 2022 
 

Deliverables: 

• AutoCAD Base Map (.dwg) 
 
TASK 3 – ENVIRONMENTAL EVALUATION  
 

1. Solicit input from FAA Environmental Protection Specialist about required 
environmental scope. Prepare and provide project summary, pertinent past 
project environmental documentation, CIP data sheet, and scope exhibit for 
review.  
 



 

 

 

  
 

Scope of Work 6 

X:\Projects\Morrow County\2022 - Taxiway D Reconstruction (Design)\Administrative and Contract\Engineering 
Agreement\Lexington Taxiway D Reconstruction Design - Scope of Work - rev1.docx  
 

 

This effort assumes the project will be categorically excluded and no further 
environmental documentation will be required.  
 

TASK 4 – GEOTECHNICAL INVESTIGATION 

No separate geotechnical investigation will be performed for this project. The 
Engineer will utilize past geotechnical investigations in the project vicinity which 
include the Apron Construction performed in 2018 and the Runway 8-26 
Reconstruction performed in 2010. 

TASK 5 – PRELIMINARY DESIGN 
 

1. Review past mapping, plans, documents and other available information 
pertaining to the project. 
 

2. Make recommendations and prepare the design for surface and subsurface 
drainage of the project area.  Drainage features may include inlets, pipes, 
underdrains, ditches, swales, manholes and other appurtenances to 
provide site drainage. 
 

3. Prepare a pavement section design for the Taxiway and Apron pavement.  
The basis of the pavement section design will be light aircraft (12,500 lbs 
design). Aircraft fleet information will be taken from forecasts developed in 
the Airport’s 2015 Airport Master Plan. 

 
4. Prepare up to (3) three Taxiway geometry alternatives for consideration by 

the OWNER and FAA. 
 

5. Prepare Draft Taxiway geometry alternatives memo for OWNER and FAA 
review. Summarize alternatives and cost estimates for each alternative. 
Solicit feedback and approval from FAA prior to proceeding with 90% 
construction documents. 
 

6. Finalize Taxiway geometry alternatives memo incorporating FAA and 
OWNER comments. Include final memo in the design report. 
 

7. Prepare up to (3) three phasing alternatives for consideration by the 
OWNER. 
 

8. Conduct (1) one meeting at the Airport with staff and potential stakeholders 
to discuss construction impacts and a preferred phasing alternative. The 
Project Manager will attend the meeting. 

 



 

 

 

  
 

Scope of Work 7 

X:\Projects\Morrow County\2022 - Taxiway D Reconstruction (Design)\Administrative and Contract\Engineering 
Agreement\Lexington Taxiway D Reconstruction Design - Scope of Work - rev1.docx  
 

 

9. Prepare a preliminary construction phasing and safety plan (CSPP) and 
recommendations. Safety plan is to be reviewed by the FAA and OWNER. 
Solicit comments and incorporate into final form for approval by FAA. Final 
version shall be submitted via the OEAAA portal for approval a minimum of 
45 days prior to bid opening. 
 

10. Complete the Annual Uniform DBE Report and submit via online FAA Civil 
Rights portal. One submittal is anticipated for FY2022. 
 

11. Prepare a NPDES 1200-C permit application and obtain the permit on 
behalf of OWNER.  OWNER will pay all permit application and annual 
renewal fees.  
 
An Environmental Cleanup Site Information (ECSI) number exists in the 
vicinity of the project area. As a result, it is anticipated consultation with the 
Oregon Department of Environmental Quality will be required to determine 
what mitigation will be needed as a part of construction. 

 
12. The Project Manager and Senior Project Engineer will make one site visit 

and inspection when the project is approximately 75% complete and 
discuss progress with the OWNER. 
 

13. Prepare preliminary quantity and construction estimates for the project. Up 
to 3 preliminary estimates will be made. 
 

14. Prepare preliminary (90%) plans. The plan set is expected to consist of 
approximately 22 drawings and will include the following components: 

 

• Cover Sheet (1 Sheet) 

• Site & Survey Control Plan (1 Sheet) 

• Construction phasing/safety/work area plan and detail drawings to 
be incorporated into the construction plan set based on the 
recommendations from a previous task (3 Sheets) 

• Preliminary erosion control plan and details for construction (2 

Sheets) 

• Demolition plan to depict civil and electrical items scheduled for 

removal (1 Sheet) 

• Apron Geometry Plan (1 Sheet) 

• Taxiway D Plan & Profile (1 Sheet) 

• Paving and Grading Plan (3 Sheets) 



 

 

 

  
 

Scope of Work 8 

X:\Projects\Morrow County\2022 - Taxiway D Reconstruction (Design)\Administrative and Contract\Engineering 
Agreement\Lexington Taxiway D Reconstruction Design - Scope of Work - rev1.docx  
 

 

• Storm Drainage Plan (2 Sheets) 

• Storm Drainage Details (2 Sheets) 
• Pavement Marking Plan (1 Sheet) 
• Pavement Marking Details (1 Sheet) 
• Typical Section and Paving Details (1 Sheet) 
• Reflector Layout Plan (1 Sheet) 
• Cross Sections (1 Sheet) 

 

15. Prepare an engineer’s design report to the established FAA requirements. 
 

16. Prepare 90% preliminary specifications manual using Advisory Circular 
150/5370-10(latest edition), Standards for Specifying Construction of 
Airports. OWNER will provide contract boilerplate for consultant use in 
developing bidding documents. At the owner’s request, Consultant’s 
standard contract boilerplate will be used. 
 
It is anticipated that the project bidding documents will be developed as a 
Base Bid with Additive Alternates, if necessary, so the work to be 
constructed can be matched with available project funding. 
 

17. Provide up to five (5) sets of 90% preliminary contract documents (plans, 
specifications, design report, and cost estimate). A digital (PDF) copy will 
be sent to the FAA, one (1) hard copy will be sent to the Owner, and the 
Engineer will retain three (3) hard copies. 

 
18. Solicit, receive, record and incorporate into the final form of the 90% 

preliminary contract documents, all comments provided by the OWNER 
and FAA. Hold a conference call with the FAA and Owner to discuss 
comments. Consultant will provide agenda, meeting minutes, and call-in 
number. 
 

Task 5 Summary 
  

Anticipated Schedule: August 2022 through December 2022. 
 
Deliverables: 

• Taxiway Geometry Alternatives Memo (PDF) 

• Phasing Alternatives (PDF) 

• CSPP (PDF & Upload via OEAAA website) 

• 90% Plans (Up to 5 hard copies) 

• 90% Specifications (Up to 5 hard copies) 



 

 

 

  
 

Scope of Work 9 

X:\Projects\Morrow County\2022 - Taxiway D Reconstruction (Design)\Administrative and Contract\Engineering 
Agreement\Lexington Taxiway D Reconstruction Design - Scope of Work - rev1.docx  
 

 

• 90% Design Report (Up to 5 hard copies) 

• 90% Cost Estimate (Up to 5 hard copies) 
 
TASK 6 – FINAL DESIGN 
 

1. Incorporate preliminary design comments and respond as necessary to 
requests for additional information. 

 
2. Provide final design drawings (22 drawings). 

 
3. Develop final specifications manual. 

 
4. Complete final quantity calculations and prepare a detailed Engineer’s 

estimate of construction costs for the project. 
 

5. Print and bind up to 10 sets of contract documents for OWNER for use 
during bidding and construction. The Consultant will retain 5 sets of the 
plans for use during construction. 
 

6. Submit final contract documents (plans, specifications, design report, and 
cost estimate) to OWNER and FAA for review and approval. One copy will 
be sent to the OWNER, and a digital (PDF) copy will be sent to the FAA. 
 

Task 6 Summary 
  

Anticipated Schedule: January 2023 through February 2023 
 
Deliverables: 

• Final Plans (Up to 10 hard copies) 

• Final Specifications (Up to 10 hard copies) 

• Final Design Report (Up to 10 hard copies) 

• Final Cost Estimate (Up to 10 hard copies) 
 
TASK 7 – BIDDING SERVICES 

 
1. Provide an advertisement for public bidding of the project. It is anticipated 
 the bid documents will be distributed via an online distribution center, similar 

to QuestCDN.  Place ads for the project in the Daily Journal of Commerce, 
and other like publications on the OWNER’S behalf.  Advertising costs will 
be paid by the OWNER. 



 

 

 

  
 

Scope of Work 10 

X:\Projects\Morrow County\2022 - Taxiway D Reconstruction (Design)\Administrative and Contract\Engineering 
Agreement\Lexington Taxiway D Reconstruction Design - Scope of Work - rev1.docx  
 

 

 
2. Assist in answering questions from potential bidders during the construction 

contract bidding process.   
 

3. Prepare addenda as necessary to clarify bid documents. This scope 
assumes up to two addendums will be prepared and distributed. Any 
additional addenda will be considered additional work and may require a 
subsequent agreement. 

 
4. Organize, attend, and conduct a pre-bid conference at the Airport.  The 

Project Manager will attend the pre-bid conference. 
 

5. Attend the bid opening at the Airport. The Project Manager will attend the 
bid opening. 

 
6. Prepare bid analysis tabulation, recommendation of award to the FAA, and 

notice of award to the Contractor. 
 

7. Prepare FAA grant application for construction and construction 
management services for OWNER signature and submittal to FAA. 
 

Task 7 Summary 
 

Anticipated Schedule: February 2023-March 2023 
 
Deliverables: 

• Addenda, as necessary (PDF) 

• Prebid Conference Agenda & Meeting Minutes (PDF) 

• Bid Tab (PDF) 

• Recommendation of Award Letter (PDF) 

• FAA Grant Application (PDF) 
 
TASK 8 – PROJECT CLOSEOUT SERVICES 
 

1. Prepare final project records and closeout in accordance ANM-620-05, 
Standard Handout for Final Reports available at:  
 

https://www.faa.gov/airports/northwest_mountain/engineering/construction_resources/me
dia/standard-handout-for-final-reports.zip 
 



 

 

 

  
 

Scope of Work 11 

X:\Projects\Morrow County\2022 - Taxiway D Reconstruction (Design)\Administrative and Contract\Engineering 
Agreement\Lexington Taxiway D Reconstruction Design - Scope of Work - rev1.docx  
 

 

Prepare administrative FAA forms, project close out, and OWNER 
certification forms for submittal to FAA by OWNER. 
 

2. Assist the OWNER with the A-133 annual audit including finding appropriate  
 project files and answering questions, as required. 
 
3. Assist the OWNER to update the 5-year FAA Capital Improvement Plan for 

submittal to the FAA. 
 
 

Task 8 Summary 
 

Anticipated Schedule: April 2023-June 2023 
 
Deliverables: 

• Final Closeout Documentation (PDF) 



PROJECT TITLE: LEXINGTON AIRPORT-TAXIWAY D RECONSTRUCTION (DESIGN)

CLIENT: MORROW COUNTY

JOB NUMBER: 12414.007.01

2022 Rates SENIOR

PRINCIPAL PROJ PROJ STAFF CADD

ENGR MGR ENGR ENGR TECH CLER. TOTAL PROJECT

PROJECT TASK $294.00 $165.00 $150.00 $120.00 $107.00 $95.00 HRS COST

PHASE I - DESIGN, BIDDING, & PROJECT CLOSEOUT SERVICES

Task 1 - Administration and Coordination Meal Days Hotel Nights Roundtrip

1 Scope of Work 2 2 2 6 $1,108.00 $26,354.00

2 Prepare IFE Materials 2 2 $300.00

3 Record of Negotiations 2 2 $300.00

4 Project Administration 24 24 48 $6,240.00

5 Pre-design Meeting (Teleconference) 4 4 $660.00

6 Coordinate Team and Subs 4 4 2 10 $1,450.00

7 Project Schedule 2 4 6 $930.00

8 Grant Application (Design) 2 4 6 $780.00

9 Sponsor Certifciation Forms 4 4 $600.00

10 Grant Reporting 4 8 12 $1,860.00

11 7460 Submittal 2 4 6 $780.00

12 Quarterly Performance Reports 6 6 $990.00

13 In House QAQC 24 24 $7,056.00

14 Airport Advisory Board Meetings (2 Meetings) 20 20 $3,300.00 2 0 2

Task 2 - Design Surveying

1 Surveying Site Visit 16 16 $1,920.00 $1,920.00 2 1 1

2-8 Surveying Field Work

Task 3 - Environmental Work

1 Environmental Documentation 2 2 4 $570.00 $570.00

Task 4 - Geotechnical Investigation Work

$0.00

Task 5 - Preliminary Design

1 Review Prior Mapping and Plans 2 2 4 $540.00 $80,347.00

2 Subsurface Drainage Design 8 16 16 40 $5,640.00

3 Pavement Section Design 2 4 6 $810.00

4 Geometry Alternatives (Up to 3) 4 8 16 28 $3,780.00

5 Geometry Alternatives Memo 8 4 12 $1,920.00

6 Finalize Geometry Alternatives Memo 1 2 3 $465.00

7 Phasing Alternatives (Up to 3) 2 4 12 18 $2,370.00

8 Phasing Meeting 10 $1,650.00 1 0 1

9 Preliminary CSPP 2 4 16 22 $2,850.00

10 Annual DBE Uniform Report 1 2 3 $390.00

11 1200-C Permit 4 8 16 28 $3,780.00

12 75% Site Visit 10 10 20 $3,150.00 2 0 1

13 Preliminary Quantities and Cost Estimate (Up to 3) 2 8 16 26 $3,450.00

14 90% Plans (22 Sheets) 4 24 60 120 100 308 $39,236.00

15 Preliminary Design Report 2 4 12 18 $2,370.00

16 90% Specifications Manual 4 8 24 8 44 $6,856.00

17 Print & Submit 90% Review Documents (5 Copies) 8 8 $760.00

18 Solicit and Receive 90% Comments 2 2 $330.00

Task 6 - Final Design $13,322.00

1 Incorporate Review Comments 4 8 8 20 $2,820.00

2 Final Construction Plans 4 8 16 16 44 $5,492.00

3 Final Specifications Manual 4 8 8 20 $2,620.00

4 Final Quantities and Cost Estimate 2 2 4 $540.00

5 Print 10 Sets 16 16 $1,520.00

6 Submit Final Contract Documents 2 2 $330.00

Task 7 - Bidding Services

1 Provide Advertisement 2 2 $240.00 $13,620.00

2 Answer Questions During Bidding 8 8 8 2 26 $3,670.00

3 Prepare Addenda (Up to 2) 2 4 16 4 26 $3,230.00

4 Pre-bid Conference 10 10 $1,650.00 1 0 1

5 Bid Opening 10 10 $1,650.00 1 0 1

6 Bid Analysis 4 8 12 $1,620.00

7 FAA Grant Application (Construction) 4 8 12 $1,560.00

Task 8 - Project Closeout Services

1 Final Project Closeout 4 8 $1,860.00 $2,790.00

2 A-133 Audit 1 2 $465.00

3 Update Airport CIP 1 2 $465.00

Labor Subtotal 34 211 237 326 116 74 970 $138,923 9 1 7

EXPENSES:

Cost Meal Ground Hotel R.T.  

Travel: Per Unit Days Trips Nights Miles Markup  

Lodging $125.00 1 1.0 $125

Mileage (Federal Rate) $0.56 7 436 1.0 $1,709

Meals $30.00 9 1.0 $270

Misc. expenses:

PHOTO COPIES $250

TELEPHONE $250

POSTAGE $500

PRINTING & PLOTTING (15 Sets) $1,000

Sub-Consultants:

1.  Survey Subconsultant (John Thompson) $18,000.00 1.0 $18,000

2.

3.

Subtotal - Expenses $4,104

Subtotal - Subconsultants $18,000

PHASE I - DESIGN, BIDDING, & PROJECT CLOSEOUT SERVICES $161,027

No Geotechnical Investigation in Scope of Work

Expenses

Included as a Subconsultant Below



Guidelines for Contract Provisions for Obligated Sponsors and Airport Improvement Program Projects  

Issued on June 19, 2018 Page 1 

FAA 
Airports 

Contract Provision Guidelines for Obligated Sponsors and 
Airport Improvement Program Projects  

Contents  

 Purpose of this Document ............................................................................................................ 4 

 Sponsor Requirements .................................................................................................................. 4 

 Typical Procurement Steps ........................................................................................................... 5 

 Applicability Matrix for Contract Provisions ................................................................................. 6 

A1 ACCESS TO RECORDS AND REPORTS ............................................................................................. 1 

A2 AFFIRMATIVE ACTION REQUIREMENT .......................................................................................... 2 

A3 BREACH OF CONTRACT TERMS ..................................................................................................... 5 

A4 BUY AMERICAN PREFERENCE ....................................................................................................... 6 

A5 CIVIL RIGHTS - GENERAL ............................................................................................................. 12 

A6 CIVIL RIGHTS – TITLE VI ASSURANCE ........................................................................................... 14 

A7 CLEAN AIR AND WATER POLLUTION CONTROL .......................................................................... 24 

A8 CONTRACT WORKHOURS AND SAFETY STANDARDS ACT REQUIREMENTS ................................ 25 

A9 COPELAND “ANTI-KICKBACK” ACT .............................................................................................. 27 

A10 DAVIS-BACON REQUIREMENTS ............................................................................................... 29 

A11 DEBARMENT AND SUSPENSION .............................................................................................. 36 

A12 DISADVANTAGED BUSINESS ENTERPRISE ............................................................................... 38 

A13 DISTRACTED DRIVING ............................................................................................................. 41 

A14 ENERGY CONSERVATION REQUIREMENTS ............................................................................. 42 

A15 DRUG FREE WORKPLACE REQUIREMENTS .............................................................................. 43 

A16 EQUAL EMPLOYEMENT OPPORTUNITY (EEO) ......................................................................... 44 



Guidelines for Contract Provisions for Obligated Sponsors and Airport Improvement Program Projects  

Issued on June 19, 2018 Page 2 

A17 FEDERAL FAIR LABOR STANDARDS ACT (FEDERAL MINIMUM WAGE) ................................... 51 

A18 LOBBYING AND INFLUENCING FEDERAL EMPLOYEES ............................................................. 52 

A19 PROHIBITION of SEGREGATED FACILITIES ............................................................................... 54 

A20 OCCUPATIONAL SAFETY AND HEALTH ACT OF 1970 .............................................................. 56 

A21 PROCUREMENT OF RECOVERED MATERIALS .......................................................................... 57 

A22 RIGHT TO INVENTIONS ............................................................................................................ 59 

A23 SEISMIC SAFETY ....................................................................................................................... 60 

A24 TAX DELINQUENCY AND FELONY CONVICTIONS .................................................................... 62 

A25 TERMINATION OF CONTRACT ................................................................................................. 64 

A26 TRADE RESTRICTION CERTIFICATION ...................................................................................... 68 

A27 VETERAN’S PREFERENCE ......................................................................................................... 70 

 
RECO RD O F CHANGES  

No. Date Item Change 

1 1/29/2016 Entire Document Re-structured document to enhance user understanding of use and 

applicability; added suggested provisions for “Termination for 

Cause”, “Recovered Materials”, “Seismic Safety”. 

2 6/10/2016 Table 1 Distracted Driving: Updated “Dollar Threshold” to $3,500 to reflect 

current micro-purchase threshold. 

3 6/10/2016 A2, Affirmative Action Update the reference to the Department of Labor online document 

to be “Participation Goals for Minority and Females” 

4 6/10/2016 A12, Disadvantaged 

Business Enterprise 

A12.3: Changed Title to “Required Provisions” 

A12.3.1:  Corrected starting timeframe for submitting written 

confirmation from “Owner Notice of Award” to “bid opening” 

A12.3.1: Provided two sets of last paragraphs to reflect change (7 

days to 5 days) that occurs on December 31, 2016. 

A12.3.2:  Moved Race/Gender Neutral language up and renamed 

heading to reflect text is solicitation language. 

A12.3.3:  Moved and renamed contract clause information and 

clarified it is for prime contract covered by a DBE program.  

5 12/12/2017 Cover Change title of document for clarity 

6 12/12/2017 1. Purpose of this 

Document 

Added clarifying text addressing purpose and limitations of this 

guidance. 



Guidelines for Contract Provisions for Obligated Sponsors and Airport Improvement Program Projects  

Issued on June 19, 2018 Page 3 

No. Date Item Change 

1.7-1.9: Added definitions of contract, applicant, bid 

7 12/12/2017 2. Sponsor 

requirements 
Added clarifying text addressing sponsor responsibilities. 

8 12/12/2017 3. Typical 

Procurement Steps 

Added clarifying text for typical procurement process steps. 

9 12/12/2017 Table 1 – Applicability 

Matrix 

Re-arranged table in alphabetic order. 

Added “Solicitation” column to address solicitation provisions 

Item l, Seismic Safety: Added Limited Application 

Added note on Airport Concessions Disadvantaged Business 

Enterprises 

10 12/12/2017 All Clauses Clarifying revisions made to applicability section. 

11 12/12/2017 A5, Civil Rights - 

General  

Rephrased General Civil Rights Provision to simplify language and to 

clarify duration of obligation for tenant/concessionaire/lessee 

12 12/12/2017 A6.3.1 Civil Rights – 

Solicitations 

Added sponsor must select either DBE or ACDBE 

12 12/12/2017 A12, Disadvantaged 

Business Enterprise 

The deadline to submit DBE confirmation of participation is now 5 

days after bid opening or as a matter of bid responsiveness. 

Updated DBE contract assurance (12.3.3) to match language of 49 

CFR § 26.13 

13 12/12/2017 A24, Tax Delinquency 

and Felony Conviction 

New certification addressing contractor tax delinquency and felony 

conviction.  

14 6/19/2018 6.2.1,  Applicability of 

Title VI Solicitation 

Notice 

For Title VI Clauses for Compliance with Nondiscrimination 

Requirements, change second sentence in second column to 

changed “are already subject to nondiscrimination requirements” 

to “are not already subject to nondiscrimination requirements”. 

15 6/19/2018 A6.4.1, Title VI Clauses 

for Compliance with 

Nondiscrimination 

Requirements 

In second item, changed “are already subject to nondiscrimination 

requirements” to “are not already subject to nondiscrimination 

requirements”. 

 

  



Guidelines for Contract Provisions for Obligated Sponsors and Airport Improvement Program Projects  

Issued on June 19, 2018 Page 4 

CONT RA CT  GUI DANCE  

 Purpose of this Document 

1) The purpose of this document is to establish a convenient resource for Sponsors that 

consolidates all possible provisions and clauses into one document that includes an 

applicability matrix. This document itself does not create, revise or delete requirements for 

participation in the Airport Improvement Program.  The source of requirements addressed 

within this document are identified within the section for each individual clause.   

2) Federal laws and regulations require that an sponsor (a recipient of federal assistance) include 

specific clauses in certain contracts, solicitations, or specifications regardless of whether or not 

the project is federally funded.  

3) The term sponsor is used in this document to mean either an obligated sponsor on a project 

that is not federally funded, or a sponsor on an AIP funded project. 

4) The term Owner is generally used in the solicitation or contract clauses because of its common 

use in public contracts. 

5) An Owner becomes an obligated sponsor upon acceptance of the Airport Improvement 

Program (AIP) grant assurances associated with current or prior AIP grant funded projects.  

6) For purposes of determining requirements for contract provisions, the term contract includes 

subcontracts and supplier contracts such as purchase orders.  

7) For purpose of remaining compliant with its obligations, a sponsor must incorporate applicable 

contract provisions in all its procurements and contract documents.  Unless otherwise stated, 

these provisions flow down to subcontracts and sub-tier agreements.   

8) The term contractor is understood to mean a contractor, subcontractor, or consultant; and 

means one who participates, through a contract or subcontract (at any tier).  

9) The term bid is understood to mean a bid, an offer, or a proposal. 

10) Applicant: 

a. For the Equal Employment Opportunity (EEO) clause, the term applicant means an 

applicant for employment (whether or not the phrase, for employment, follows the 

word applicant or applicants). 

b. For all other clauses, the term applicant means a bidder, offeror, or proposer for a 

contract. 

 Sponsor Requirements 

In general, the sponsor must take the following actions in order to remain consistent with its 

obligations: 

 Include in its procurements the provisions that are applicable to its project. 



Guidelines for Contract Provisions for Obligated Sponsors and Airport Improvement Program Projects  

Issued on June 19, 2018 Page 5 

 Not incorporate the entire contract provisions guidelines in its solicitation or contract 

documents, whether by reference or by inclusion in whole. Incorporation of this entire guidance 

document creates potential for ambiguous interpretation and may lead to improper application 

that unnecessarily increases price.  A sponsor that fails to properly incorporate applicable 

contract clauses may place themselves at risk for audit findings or denial of Federal funding. 

 Incorporate applicable contract provisions using mandatory language as required. The 

subheading entitled Applicability advises whether a particular clause or provision has mandatory 

language that a sponsor must use. 

(a) Mandatory Language - Whenever a clause or provision has mandatory text, the sponsor 

must incorporate the text of the provision without change, except where specific adaptive 

input is necessary (e.g. such as the sponsor’s name).  

(b) No Mandatory Language Provided - For provisions without mandatory language, this 

guidance provides model language acceptable to the FAA.  Some sponsors may already have 

standard procurement language that is equivalent to those federal provisions. In these 

cases, sponsors may use their existing standard procurement provision language provided 

the text meets the intent and purpose of the Federal law or regulation. 

 Require the contractor (including all subcontractors) to insert these contract provisions in each 

lower tier contract (e.g. subcontract or sub-agreement). 

 Require the contractor (including all subcontractors) to incorporate the applicable requirements 

of these contract provisions by reference for work done under any purchase orders, rental 

agreements and other agreements for supplies or services.  

 Require that the prime contractor be responsible for compliance with these contract provisions 

by any subcontractor, lower-tier subcontractor or service provider.  

 Verify that any required local or State provision does not conflict with or alter a Federal law or 

regulation. 

 Typical Procurement Steps  

The usual procurement steps in a project are: 

 Solicitation, Request for Bids or Request for Proposals – This is also called the Advertisement or 

Notice to Bidders. 

 Bidding or Accepting Proposals – In this stage, the bidders receive a complete set of the 

procurement documents, also known as the project manual.  The project manual will typically 

include a copy of the solicitation, instructions-to-bidders, bid forms, certifications and 

representations, general provisions, contract conditions, copy of contract, project drawings, 

technical specifications and related project documents. 

 Bid/Proposal Evaluation – Period when Sponsor tabulates and reviews all proposals for bid 

responsiveness and bidder responsibility. 

 Award – Point when the Sponsor formally awards the contract to the successful bidder. 



Guidelines for Contract Provisions for Obligated Sponsors and Airport Improvement Program Projects  

Issued on June 19, 2018 Page 6 

 Execution of Contract – Point at which the Sponsor formally enters into a legally binding 

agreement to perform services or provide goods. 

 Applicability Matrix for Contract Provisions  

Table 1 summarizes the applicability of contract provisions based upon the type of contract or 

agreement.  The dollar threshold represents the value at which, when equal to or exceeded, the sponsor 

must incorporate the provision in the contract or agreement.   

Supplemental information addressing applicability and use for each provision is located in Appendix A.  

Appendix A and the Matrix include notes indicating when the sponsor may incorporate references in the 

solicitation in lieu of including the entire text. 



Guidelines for Contract Provisions for Obligated Sponsors and Airport Improvement Program Projects  

Issued on June 19, 2018 Page 7 

Meaning of cell values 

• Info –Sponsor has discretion on whether to include clause in its contracts. 

• Limited – Provision with limited applicability depending on circumstances of the procurement.  

• n/a – Provision that is not applicable for that procurement type. 

• NIS – Provision that does not need to be included or referenced in the solicitation document 

• REF – Provision to be incorporated into the solicitation by reference.  

• REQD - Provision the sponsor must incorporate into procurement documents.  

Table 1 – Applicability of Provisions  

Provisions/Clauses 
D

o
ll

a
r 

T
h

re
sh

o
ld

 

S
o

li
ci

ta
ti

o
n

 

P
ro

fe
ss

io
n

a
l 

S
e

rv
ic

e
s 

C
o

n
st

ru
ct

io
n

 

E
q

u
ip

m
e

n
t 

P
ro

p
e

rt
y

 

(L
a

n
d

) 

N
o

n
-A

IP
 

C
o

n
tr

a
ct

s 

Access to Records and Reports $ 0 NIS REQD REQD REQD REQD n/a 

Affirmative Action Requirement $10,000 REQD Limited REQD Limited Limited n/a 

Breach of Contract  $150,000 NIS REQD REQD REQD REQD n/a 

Buy American Preferences $ 0 REF Limited REQD REQD Limited n/a 

(1) Buy American Statement $ 0 NIS Limited REQD REQD Limited n/a 

(2) BA – Total Facility $ 0 NIS Limited REQD REQD Limited n/a 

(3) B.A. – Manufactured Product $ 0 NIS Limited REQD REQD Limited n/a 

Civil Rights – General $ 0 NIS REQD REQD REQD REQD REQD 

Civil Rights - Title VI Assurances  $ 0 REF REQD REQD REQD REQD REQD 

(1) Notice - Solicitation $ 0 REQD REQD REQD REQD REQD REQD 

(2) Clause - Contracts $ 0 NIS REQD REQD REQD REQD REQD 

(3) Clause – Transfer of U.S. Property $ 0  NIS n/a n/a n/a Limited REQD 

(4) Clause – Transfer of Real Property $ 0 NIS n/a n/a n/a REQD REQD 

(5) Clause - Construct/Use/Access to 

Real Property 

$ 0 NIS n/a n/a n/a REQD REQD 

(6) List – Pertinent Authorities $0 NIS REQD REQD REQD REQD REQD 

Clean Air/Water Pollution Control $150,000 NIS REQD REQD REQD REQD n/a 

Contract Work Hours and Safety Standards $100,000 NIS Limited REQD Limited Limited n/a 

Copeland Anti-Kickback $ 2,000 NIS Limited REQD Limited Limited n/a 

Davis Bacon Requirements  $ 2,000 REF Limited REQD Limited Limited n/a 

Debarment and Suspension $25,000 REF REQD REQD REQD Limited n/a 

Disadvantaged Business Enterprise $ 0 REF REQD REQD REQD REQD n/a 

Distracted Driving $3,500 NIS REQD REQD REQD  REQD n/a 

Energy Conservation Requirements $ 0 NIS REQD REQD REQD REQD n/a 

Equal Employment Opportunity  $10,000 NIS Limited REQD Limited Limited n/a 

(1) EEO Contract Clause $10,000 NIS Limited REQD Limited Limited n/a 

(2) EEO Specification $10,000 NIS Limited REQD Limited Limited n/a 

Federal Fair Labor Standards Act $ 0 NIS REQD REQD REQD REQD Info 

Foreign Trade Restriction  $ 0 REF REQD REQD REQD REQD n/a 

Lobbying Federal Employees  $ 100,000 REF REQD REQD REQD REQD n/a 

Occupational Safety and Health Act $ 0 NIS REQD REQD REQD REQD Info 

Prohibition of Segregated Facilities  $10,000 NIS Limited REQD Limited Limited n/a 

Recovered Materials $10,000 REF Limited REQD REQD Limited n/a 

Rights to Inventions  $ 0 NIS Limited Limited Limited n/a n/a 

Seismic Safety $ 0 NIS Limited Limited Limited n/a n/a 

Tax Delinquency and Felony Conviction $ 0 NIS REQD REQD REQD REQD n/a 

Termination of Contract $10,000 NIS REQD REQD REQD REQD n/a 

Veteran’s Preference  $ 0 NIS REQD REQD REQD REQD n/a 

 



Guidelines for Contract Provisions for Obligated Sponsors and Airport Improvement Program Projects  

Issued on June 19, 2018 Page 8 

Airport Concessions Disadvantage Business Enterprise (ACDBE) Notes: 

1.  Language relative to solicitation for ACDBEs does not need to be included in AIP funded solicitations, 

since in no case are concessions activities funded with federal funds. 

2.  Airport sponsors must include the appropriate Title VI language in their solicitation notices when they 

seek proposals for concessions.



Guidelines for Contract Provisions for Obligated Sponsors and Airport Improvement Program Projects  

Issued on June 19, 2018 Page 1 

APPENDI X A  –  CONTRACT  PROVISIONS 

A 1  A C C E S S  T O  R E C O R D S  A N D  R E P O R T S   

A 1 . 1  S O U R C E  

2 CFR § 200.333 

2 CFR § 200.336 

FAA Order 5100.38 

A 1 . 2  A P P L I C A B I L I T Y  

2 CFR § 200.333 requires a sponsor to retain records pertinent to a Federal award for a period of three 

years from submission of final closure documents.  2 CFR § 200.336 establishes that sponsors must 

provide Federal entities the right to access records pertinent to the Federal award. FAA policy extends 

these requirements to the sponsor’s contracts and subcontracts of AIP funded projects. 

Contract Types – The sponsor must include this provision in all contracts and subcontracts of AIP funded 

projects. 

Use of Provision – No mandatory language provided.  The following language is acceptable to the FAA 

with meeting the intent of this requirement.  If the sponsor prefers to use different language, the 

sponsor’s language must fully satisfy the requirements of §§ 200.333 and 200.336. 

A 1 . 3   C O N T R A C T  C L A U S E  

ACCESS TO RECORDS AND REPORTS 

The Contractor must maintain an acceptable cost accounting system. The Contractor agrees to provide 

the Owner, the Federal Aviation Administration and the Comptroller General of the United States or any 

of their duly authorized representatives access to any books, documents, papers and records of the 

Contractor which are directly pertinent to the specific contract for the purpose of making audit, 

examination, excerpts and transcriptions. The Contractor agrees to maintain all books, records and 

reports required under this contract for a period of not less than three years after final payment is made 

and all pending matters are closed.



Guidelines for Contract Provisions for Obligated Sponsors and Airport Improvement Program Projects  

Issued on June 19, 2018 Page 2 

A 2  A F F I R M A T I V E  A C T I O N  R E Q U I R E M E N T   

A 2 . 1  S O U R C E  

41 CFR part 60-4 

Executive Order 11246  

A 2 . 2  A P P L I C A B I L I T Y  

Minority Participation.  Sponsors are required to set goals for minority participation in AIP funded 

projects exceeding $10,000.  The goals for minority participation derive from Economic Area (EA) and 

Standard Metropolitan Statistical Area (SMSA) as established in Volume 45 of the Federal Register dated 

10/3/80.  Page 65984 contains a table of all EAs and SMSAs and the associated minority participation 

goals. 

To find the goals for minority participation, a sponsor must either refer to the Federal Register Notice or 

to the Department of Labor online document, “Participation Goals for Minorities and Females”.  EAs and 

SMSAs span state boundaries. A sponsor may have to refer to entries for adjacent states in order to 

locate the goal for the project location. 

Female Participation.  Executive Order 11246 has set a goal of 6.9% nationally for female participation 

for all construction projects. This value remains constant for all counties and states.   

Contract Types –  

Construction – The sponsor must incorporate this notice in all solicitations for bids or requests 

for proposals for AIP funded construction work contracts and subcontracts that exceed $10,000.   

Construction work means construction, rehabilitation, alteration, conversion, extension, 

demolition or repair of buildings, highways or other changes or improvements to real property, 

including facilities providing utility services. The term also includes the supervision, inspection 

and other onsite functions incidental to the actual construction. 

Equipment – The sponsor must incorporate this notice in any equipment project exceeding 

$10,000 that involves installation of equipment onsite (e.g. electrical vault equipment).  This 

provision does not apply to equipment acquisition projects where the manufacture of the 

equipment takes place offsite at a manufacturer’s plant (e.g. firefighting and snow removal 

vehicles). 

Professional Services – The sponsor must incorporate this notice in any professional service 

agreement if the professional services agreement includes tasks that meet the definition of 

construction work [as defined by the U.S. Department of Labor (DOL)] and exceeds $10,000.  

Examples include installation of monitoring systems (e.g. noise, environmental, etc.). 

Property/Land – The sponsor must incorporate this notice in any agreement associated with 

land acquisition if the agreement includes construction work (defined above) that exceeds 

$10,000.  Examples include demolition of structures or installation of boundary fencing. 



Guidelines for Contract Provisions for Obligated Sponsors and Airport Improvement Program Projects  

Issued on June 19, 2018 Page 3 

Use of Provision – MANDATORY TEXT.  The sponsor must: 

(a) Incorporate the text of this provision in its solicitations without modification.  

(b) Incorporate the applicable minority participation goal and the covered area by geographic 

name. 

(c) Not simply insert a reference to the 1980 Federal Register Notice. 

A 2 . 3  S O L I C I T A T I O N  C L A U S E  

NOTICE OF REQUIREMENT FOR AFFIRMATIVE ACTION to  

ENSURE EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY 

1. The Offeror’s or Bidder’s attention is called to the “Equal Opportunity Clause” and the “Standard 

Federal Equal Employment Opportunity Construction Contract Specifications” set forth herein. 

2. The goals and timetables for minority and female participation, expressed in percentage terms for the 

Contractor’s aggregate workforce in each trade on all construction work in the covered area, are as 

follows: 

Timetables 

Goals for minority participation for each trade: 2.1%  

Goals for female participation in each trade:  6.9% 

These goals are applicable to all of the Contractor’s construction work (whether or not it is Federal or 

federally assisted) performed in the covered area.  If the Contractor performs construction work in a 

geographical area located outside of the covered area, it shall apply the goals established for such 

geographical area where the work is actually performed.  With regard to this second area, the Contractor 

also is subject to the goals for both its federally involved and non-federally involved construction. 

The Contractor’s compliance with the Executive Order and the regulations in 41 CFR Part 60-4 shall be 

based on its implementation of the Equal Opportunity Clause, specific affirmative action obligations 

required by the specifications set forth in 41 CFR 60-4.3(a) and its efforts to meet the goals. The hours 

of minority and female employment and training must be substantially uniform throughout the length of 

the contract, and in each trade, and the Contractor shall make a good faith effort to employ minorities 

and women evenly on each of its projects. The transfer of minority or female employees or trainees 

from Contractor to Contractor or from project to project for the sole purpose of meeting the Contractor’s 

goals shall be a violation of the contract, the Executive Order and the regulations in 41 CFR Part 60-4.  

Compliance with the goals will be measured against the total work hours performed. 

3. The Contractor shall provide written notification to the Director of the Office of Federal Contract 

Compliance Programs (OFCCP) within 10 working days of award of any construction subcontract in 

excess of $10,000 at any tier for construction work under the contract resulting from this solicitation.  

The notification shall list the name, address, and telephone number of the subcontractor; employer 

identification number of the subcontractor; estimated dollar amount of the subcontract; estimated 

starting and completion dates of the subcontract; and the geographical area in which the subcontract is 

to be performed. 



Guidelines for Contract Provisions for Obligated Sponsors and Airport Improvement Program Projects  

Issued on June 19, 2018 Page 4 

4. As used in this notice and in the contract resulting from this solicitation, the “covered area” is 

Lexington, Morrow County, Oregon. 



 

Guidelines for Contract Provisions for Obligated Sponsors and Airport Improvement Program Projects  

Issued on June 19, 2018 Page 5 

A 3  B R E A C H  O F  C O N T R A C T  T E R M S  

A 3 . 1  S O U R C E  

2 CFR § 200 Appendix II(A)  

A 3 . 2  A P P L I C A B I L I T Y  

This provision requires sponsors to incorporate administrative, contractual or legal remedies if 

contractor violate or breach contract terms. The sponsor must also include appropriate sanctions and 

penalties. 

Contract Types – This provision is required for all contracts that exceed the simplified acquisition 

threshold as stated in 2 CFR Part 200, Appendix II (A). This threshold is occasionally adjusted for inflation 

and is now equal to $150,000.  

Use of Provision – No mandatory language provided.  The following language is acceptable to the FAA as 

meeting the intent of this requirement. If the sponsor uses different language, the sponsor’s language 

must fully satisfy the requirements of part 200. Select either “contractor” or “consultant” as applicable. 

A 3 . 3  C O N T R A C T  C L A U S E  

BREACH OF CONTRACT TERMS 

Any violation or breach of terms of this contract on the part of the [Consultant] or its subcontractors 

may result in the suspension or termination of this contract or such other action that may be necessary to 

enforce the rights of the parties of this agreement.  

Owner will provide [Consultant] written notice that describes the nature of the breach and corrective 

actions the [Consultant] must undertake in order to avoid termination of the contract.  Owner reserves 

the right to withhold payments to Contractor until such time the Contractor corrects the breach or the 

Owner elects to terminate the contract. The Owner’s notice will identify a specific date by which the [ 

Consultant] must correct the breach.  Owner may proceed with termination of the contract if the 

[Consultant] fails to correct the breach by the deadline indicated in the Owner’s notice. 

The duties and obligations imposed by the Contract Documents and the rights and remedies available 

thereunder are in addition to, and not a limitation of, any duties, obligations, rights and remedies 

otherwise imposed or available by law. 

  



 

Guidelines for Contract Provisions for Obligated Sponsors and Airport Improvement Program Projects  

Issued on June 19, 2018 Page 6 

A 4  B U Y  A M E R I C A N  P R E F E R E N C E  

A 4 . 1  S O U R C E  

Title 49 USC § 50101 

A 4 . 2  A P P L I C A B I L I T Y  

The Buy American Preference requirement in 49 USC § 50101 requires that all steel and manufactured 

goods used on AIP projects be produced in the United States.  The statute gives the FAA the ability to 

issue a waiver to a sponsor to use non-domestic material on an AIP funded project subject to meeting 

certain conditions.  A sponsor may request that the FAA issue a waiver from the Buy American 

Preference requirements if the FAA finds that: 

1) Applying the provision is not in the public interest;   

2) The steel or manufactured goods are not available in sufficient quantity or quality in the United 

States; 

3) The cost of components and subcomponents produced in the United States is more than 

60 percent of the total components of a facility or equipment, and final assembly has taken 

place in the United States.  Items that have an FAA standard specification item number (such as 

specific airport lighting equipment) are considered the equipment. 

4) Applying this provision would increase the cost of the overall project by more than 25 percent. 

Timing of Waiver Requests.  Sponsors desiring a Type 1 or Type 2 waiver must submit their waiver 

requests before issuing a solicitation for bids or a request for proposal for a project. 

The sponsor must submit Type 3 or Type 4 waiver requests prior to executing the contract.  The FAA will 

generally not consider waiver requests after execution of the contract except where extraordinary and 

extenuating circumstances exist.  The FAA cannot review waiver requests with incomplete information. 

Sponsors must assess the adequacy of the waiver request and associated information prior to 

forwarding a waiver request to the FAA for action.   

Buy American Conformance List.  The FAA Office of Airports maintains a listing of equipment that has 

received a nationwide waiver from the Buy American Preference requirements or that fully meet the 

Buy American requirements.  The Nationwide Buy American Waiver List is available online at 

www.faa.gov/airports/aip/buy_american/.  Products listed on the Buy American Conformance list do 

not require additional submittal of domestic content information under a project specific Buy American 

Preference waiver. 

Facility Waiver Requests.  For construction of a facility, the sponsor may submit the waiver request 

after bid opening, but prior to contract execution.  Examples of facility construction include terminal 

buildings, terminal renovation, and snow removal equipment buildings. 

Contract Types –  

Construction and Equipment – The sponsor must meet the Buy American Preference 

requirements of 49 USC § 50101 for all AIP funded projects that require steel or manufactured 



 

Guidelines for Contract Provisions for Obligated Sponsors and Airport Improvement Program Projects  

Issued on June 19, 2018 Page 7 

goods.  The Buy America requirements flow down from the sponsor to first tier contractors, who 

are responsible for ensuring that lower tier contractors and subcontractors are also in 

compliance.  

Note: The Buy American Preference does not apply to equipment a contractor uses as a tool of 

its trade and which does not remain as part of the project. 

Professional Services – Professional service agreements (PSAs) do not normally result in a 

deliverable that meets the definition of a manufactured product.  However, the emergence of 

various project delivery methods has created situations where task deliverables under a PSA 

may include a manufactured product. If a PSA includes providing a manufactured good as a 

deliverable under the contract, the sponsor must include the Buy American Preference provision 

in the agreement. 

Property – Most land transactions do not involve acquiring a manufactured product.  However, 

under certain circumstances, a property acquisition project could result in the installation of a 

manufactured product.  For example, the installation of property fencing, gates, doors and locks, 

etc. represent manufactured products acquired under an AIP funded land project that must 

comply with Buy American Preferences. 

Use of Provision – No mandatory language provided.  The following language is acceptable to the FAA 

and meets the intent of this requirement.   If the sponsor uses different language, the sponsor’s revised 

language must fully comply with 49 USC § 50101. 

There are two types of Buy American certifications.  The sponsor must incorporate the appropriate 

“Certificate of Buy America Compliance” in the solicitation: 

• Projects for a facility (buildings such as terminals, snow removal equipment (SRE) buildings, 

aircraft rescue and firefighting (ARFF) buildings, etc.) – Insert the Certificate of Compliance 

Based on Total Facility.  

• Projects for non-facility development (non-building construction projects such as runway or 

roadway construction or equipment acquisition projects) – Insert the Certificate of Compliance 

Based on Equipment and Materials Used on the Project. 

A 4 . 3  S O L I C I T A T I O N  C L A U S E  

A 4 . 3 . 1  B u y  A m e r i c a n  P r e f e r e n c e  S t a t e m e n t   

BUY AMERICAN PREFERENCE 

The Contractor agrees to comply with 49 USC § 50101, which provides that Federal funds may not be 

obligated unless all steel and manufactured goods used in AIP funded projects are produced in the 

United States, unless the Federal Aviation Administration has issued a waiver for the product; the 

product is listed as an Excepted Article, Material Or Supply in Federal Acquisition Regulation subpart 

25.108; or is included in the FAA Nationwide Buy American Waivers Issued list.  



 

Guidelines for Contract Provisions for Obligated Sponsors and Airport Improvement Program Projects  

Issued on June 19, 2018 Page 8 

A bidder or offeror must complete and submit the Buy America certification included herein with their 

bid or offer. The Owner will reject as nonresponsive any bid or offer that does not include a completed 

Certificate of Buy American Compliance.   

A 4 . 3 . 2  C e r t i f i c a t e  o f  B u y  A m e r i c a n  C o m p l i a n c e  –  T o t a l  

F a c i l i t y  

CERTIFICATE OF BUY AMERICAN COMPLIANCE FOR TOTAL FACILITY 

As a matter of bid responsiveness, the bidder or offeror must complete, sign, date, and submit this 

certification statement with its proposal.  The bidder or offeror must indicate how it intends to comply 

with 49 USC § 50101 by selecting one of the following certification statements.  These statements are 

mutually exclusive.  Bidder must select one or the other (i.e. not both) by inserting a checkmark () or 

the letter “X”. 

 Bidder or offeror hereby certifies that it will comply with 49 USC § 50101 by: 

a) Only installing steel and manufactured products produced in the United States; or 

b) Installing manufactured products for which the Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) 

has issued a waiver as indicated by inclusion on the current FAA Nationwide Buy 

American Waivers Issued listing; or 

c) Installing products listed as an Excepted Article, Material or Supply in Federal 

Acquisition Regulation Subpart 25.108. 

By selecting this certification statement, the bidder or offeror agrees: 

• To provide to the Owner evidence that documents the source and origin of the steel and 

manufactured product.   

• To faithfully comply with providing U.S. domestic products. 

• To refrain from seeking a waiver request after establishment of the contract, unless extenuating 

circumstances emerge that the FAA determines justified.  

 The bidder or offeror hereby certifies it cannot comply with the 100 percent Buy American 

Preferences of 49 USC § 50101(a) but may qualify for either a Type 3 or Type 4 waiver under 

49 USC § 50101(b).  By selecting this certification statement, the apparent bidder or offeror with 

the apparent low bid agrees: 

a) To the submit to the Owner within 15 calendar days of the bid opening,  a formal 

waiver request and required documentation that supports the type of waiver being 

requested.  

b) That failure to submit the required documentation within the specified timeframe is 

cause for a non-responsive determination that may result in rejection of the proposal. 

c) To faithfully comply with providing U.S. domestic products at or above the approved 

U.S. domestic content percentage as approved by the FAA. 

d) To furnish U.S. domestic product for any waiver request that the FAA rejects. 

e) To refrain from seeking a waiver request after establishment of the contract, unless 

extenuating circumstances emerge that the FAA determines justified.  

Required Documentation 



 

Guidelines for Contract Provisions for Obligated Sponsors and Airport Improvement Program Projects  

Issued on June 19, 2018 Page 9 

Type 3 Waiver – The cost of components and subcomponents produced in the United States is more 

than 60 percent of the cost of all components and subcomponents of the “facility”. The required 

documentation for a Type 3 waiver is: 

a) Listing of all manufactured products that are not comprised of 100 percent U.S. domestic content 

(excludes products listed on the FAA Nationwide Buy American Waivers Issued listing and 

products excluded by Federal Acquisition Regulation Subpart 25.108; products of unknown 

origin must be considered as non-domestic products in their entirety). 

b) Cost of non-domestic components and subcomponents, excluding labor costs associated with 

final assembly and installation at project location. 

c) Percentage of non-domestic component and subcomponent cost as compared to total “facility” 

component and subcomponent costs, excluding labor costs associated with final assembly and 

installation at project location.   

Type 4 Waiver – Total cost of project using U.S. domestic source product exceeds the total project cost 

using non-domestic product by 25 percent. The required documentation for a Type 4 of waiver is: 

a) Detailed cost information for total project using U.S. domestic product 

b) Detailed cost information for total project using non-domestic product 

False Statements:  Per 49 USC § 47126, this certification concerns a matter within the jurisdiction of 

the Federal Aviation Administration and the making of a false, fictitious or fraudulent certification may 

render the maker subject to prosecution under Title 18, United States Code. 

    

Date  Signature 

    

Company Name  Title 

  



 

Guidelines for Contract Provisions for Obligated Sponsors and Airport Improvement Program Projects  

Issued on June 19, 2018 Page 10 

A 4 . 3 . 3  C e r t i f i c a t e  o f  B u y  A m e r i c a n  C o m p l i a n c e  –   

M a n u f a c t u r e d  P r o d u c t  

Certificate of Buy American Compliance for Manufactured Products  

As a matter of bid responsiveness, the bidder or offeror must complete, sign, date, and submit this 

certification statement with their proposal.  The bidder or offeror must indicate how they intend to 

comply with 49 USC § 50101 by selecting one on the following certification statements.  These 

statements are mutually exclusive.  Bidder must select one or the other (not both) by inserting a 

checkmark () or the letter “X”. 

 Bidder or offeror hereby certifies that it will comply with 49 USC § 50101 by: 

a) Only installing steel and manufactured products produced in the United States;  

b) Installing manufactured products for which the Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) 

has issued a waiver as indicated by inclusion on the current FAA Nationwide Buy 

American Waivers Issued listing; or 

c) Installing products listed as an Excepted Article, Material or Supply in Federal 

Acquisition Regulation Subpart 25.108. 

By selecting this certification statement, the bidder or offeror agrees: 

1. To provide to the Owner evidence that documents the source and origin of the steel and 

manufactured product.   

2. To faithfully comply with providing U.S. domestic product. 

3. To furnish U.S. domestic product for any waiver request that the FAA rejects 

4. To refrain from seeking a waiver request after establishment of the contract, unless 

extenuating circumstances emerge that the FAA determines justified.  

 The bidder or offeror hereby certifies it cannot comply with the 100 percent Buy American 

Preferences of 49 USC § 50101(a) but may qualify for either a Type 3 or Type 4 waiver under 

49 USC § 50101(b).  By selecting this certification statement, the apparent bidder or offeror with 

the apparent low bid agrees: 

1. To the submit to the Owner within 15 calendar days of the bid opening, a formal 

waiver request and required documentation that supports the type of waiver being 

requested.  

2. That failure to submit the required documentation within the specified timeframe is 

cause for a non-responsive determination may result in rejection of the proposal. 

3. To faithfully comply with providing U.S. domestic products at or above the approved 

U.S. domestic content percentage as approved by the FAA. 

4. To refrain from seeking a waiver request after establishment of the contract, unless 

extenuating circumstances emerge that the FAA determines justified.  

Required Documentation 

Type 3 Waiver – The cost of the item components and subcomponents produced in the United States is 

more that 60 percent of the cost of all components and subcomponents of the “item”. The required 

documentation for a Type 3 waiver is: 



 

Guidelines for Contract Provisions for Obligated Sponsors and Airport Improvement Program Projects  

Issued on June 19, 2018 Page 11 

a) Listing of all product components and subcomponents that are not comprised of 100 

percent U.S. domestic content (Excludes products listed on the FAA Nationwide Buy 

American Waivers Issued listing and products excluded by Federal Acquisition 

Regulation Subpart 25.108; products of unknown origin must be considered as non-

domestic products in their entirety). 

b) Cost of non-domestic components and subcomponents, excluding labor costs associated 

with final assembly at place of manufacture. 

c) Percentage of non-domestic component and subcomponent cost as compared to total 

“item” component and subcomponent costs, excluding labor costs associated with final 

assembly at place of manufacture.   

Type 4 Waiver – Total cost of project using U.S. domestic source product exceeds the total project cost 

using non-domestic product by 25 percent. The required documentation for a Type 4 of waiver is: 

a) Detailed cost information for total project using U.S. domestic product 

b) Detailed cost information for total project using non-domestic product 

False Statements:  Per 49 USC § 47126, this certification concerns a matter within the jurisdiction of 

the Federal Aviation Administration and the making of a false, fictitious or fraudulent certification may 

render the maker subject to prosecution under Title 18, United States Code. 

    

Date  Signature 

    

Company Name  Title 

 



 

Guidelines for Contract Provisions for Obligated Sponsors and Airport Improvement Program Projects  

Issued on June 19, 2018 Page 12 

A 5  C I V I L  R I G H T S  -  G E N E R A L  

A 5 . 1  S O U R C E  

49 USC § 47123 

A 5 . 2  A P P L I C A B I L I T Y  

There are two separate civil rights provisions that apply to projects: 

1. FAA General Civil Rights Provision and, 

2. Title VI provisions, which are addressed in Appendix A6. 

Contract Types – The General Civil Rights Provisions found in 49 USC § 47123, derived from the Airport 

and Airway Improvement Act of 1982, Section 520, apply to all sponsor contracts regardless of funding 

source. 

Use of Provision – MANDATORY TEXT.  There are two separate general civil rights provisions ―one that 

is used for contracts, and one that is used for lease agreements or transfer agreements. The sponsor 

must incorporate the text of the appropriate provision without modification into the contract, or the 

lease or transfer agreement.  

A 5 . 3  C O N T R A C T  C L A U S E  ( U s e  t h e  C o r r e c t  C l a u s e  f o r  t h e  S i t u a t i o n )  

A 5 . 3 . 1  C l a u s e  t h a t  i s  u s e d  f o r  C o n t r a c t s  

GENERAL CIVIL RIGHTS PROVISIONS 

The Contractor agrees to comply with pertinent statutes, Executive Orders and such rules as are 

promulgated to ensure that no person shall, on the grounds of race, creed, color, national origin, sex, 

age, or disability be excluded from participating in any activity conducted with or benefiting from 

Federal assistance.  

This provision binds the Contractor and subcontractors from the bid solicitation period through the 

completion of the contract. This provision is in addition to that required by Title VI of the Civil Rights 

Act of 1964. 

A 5 . 3 . 2  C l a u s e  t h a t  i s  u s e d  f o r  L e a s e  A g r e e m e n t s  o r  

T r a n s f e r  A g r e e m e n t s  

GENERAL CIVIL RIGHTS PROVISIONS 

The (tenant/concessionaire/lessee) agrees to comply with pertinent statutes, Executive Orders and such 

rules as are promulgated to ensure that no person shall, on the grounds of race, creed, color, national 

origin, sex, age, or disability be excluded from participating in any activity conducted with or benefiting 

from Federal assistance.  If the (tenant/concessionaire/lessee) transfers its obligation to another, the 

transferee is obligated in the same manner as the (tenant/concessionaire/lessor).  

This provision obligates the (tenant/concessionaire/lessee) for the period during which the property is 

owned, used or possessed by the (tenant/concessionaire/lessee) and the airport remains obligated to the 



 

Guidelines for Contract Provisions for Obligated Sponsors and Airport Improvement Program Projects  

Issued on June 19, 2018 Page 13 

Federal Aviation Administration. This provision is in addition to that required by Title VI of the Civil 

Rights Act of 1964.  



 

Guidelines for Contract Provisions for Obligated Sponsors and Airport Improvement Program Projects  

Issued on June 19, 2018 Page 14 

A 6  C I V I L  R I G H T S  –  T I T L E  V I  A S S U R A N C E  

A 6 . 1  S O U R C E  

49 USC § 47123 

FAA Order 1400.11  

A 6 . 2  A P P L I C A B I L I T Y  

Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended, (Title VI) prohibits discrimination on the grounds of 

race, color, or national origin under any program or activity receiving Federal financial assistance. 

Sponsors must include appropriate clauses from the Standard DOT Title VI Assurances in all contracts 

and solicitations.  

The text of each individual clause comes from the U.S. Department of Transportation Order DOT 1050.2, 

Standard Title VI Assurances and Nondiscrimination Provisions, effective April 24, 2013.  These 

assurances require that the Recipient (the sponsor) insert the appropriate clauses in the form provided 

by the DOT.  Where the clause refers to the applicable activity, project, or program, it means the AIP 

project. 

The clauses are as follows: 

A 6 . 2 . 1  A p p l i c a b i l i t y  o f  T i t l e  V I  S o l i c i t a t i o n  N o t i c e  

Contract Clause The Sponsor must include the contract 

clause in: 

Clause Text is 

Included in 

Paragraph 

Title VI Solicitation Notice –  

• Assurance 2 of the DOT 

Standard Title VI Assurances 

and Nondiscrimination 

Clauses 

• Assurance 30d of the Airport 

Sponsor Assurances 

1) All AIP funded solicitations for bids, 

requests for proposals, or any work 

subject to Title VI regulations; and  

2) All sponsor proposals for negotiated 

agreements regardless of funding 

source. 

A6.3.1 

Title VI Clauses for Compliance with 

Nondiscrimination Requirements  

• Assurance 3 of the DOT 

Standard Title VI Assurances 

and Nondiscrimination 

Clauses 

• Assurance 30e.1 of the 

Airport Sponsor Assurances 

Every contract or agreement (unless the 

sponsor has determined, and the FAA 

concurs, that the contract or agreement is 

not subject to the Nondiscrimination Acts 

and Authorities) 

It has been determined that service 

contracts with utility companies that are 

not already subject to nondiscrimination 

requirements must include this clause. 

A6.4.1 



 

Guidelines for Contract Provisions for Obligated Sponsors and Airport Improvement Program Projects  

Issued on June 19, 2018 Page 15 

Contract Clause The Sponsor must include the contract 

clause in: 

Clause Text is 

Included in 

Paragraph 

Title VI Required Clause for Property 

Interests Transferred from the 

United States 

• Assurance 4 of the DOT 

Standard Title VI Assurances 

and Nondiscrimination 

Clauses 

• Assurance 30e.3 of the 

Airport Sponsor Assurances 

As a covenant running with the land, in 

any deed from the United States effecting 

or recording a transfer of real property, 

structures, use, or improvements thereon 

or interest therein to a sponsor. 

This is a rare occurrence and it will be the 

responsibility of the United States 

government to include the clause in the 

contract. 

A6.4.2 

Title VI Required Clause for Transfer 

of Real Property Acquired or 

Improved Under the Activity, Facility 

or Program –  

• Assurance 5 of the DOT 

Standard Title VI Assurances 

and Nondiscrimination 

Clauses 

• Assurance 30e.4a of the 

Airport Sponsor Assurances 

As a covenant running with the land, in 

any future deeds, leases, licenses, permits, 

or similar instruments entered into by the 

sponsor with other parties for all transfers 

of real property acquired or improved 

under Airport Improvement Program 

This applies to agreements such as leases 

where a physical portion of the airport is 

transferred for use, for example a fuel 

farm, apron space, or a parking facility. 

A6.4.3 

Clause for Construction/Use/Access 

to Real Property Acquired Under the 

Activity, Facility or Program  

• Assurance 6 of the DOT 

Standard Title VI Assurances 

and Nondiscrimination 

Clauses  

• Assurance 30e.4b of the 

Airport Sponsor Assurances 

In any future (deeds, leases, licenses, 

permits, or similar instruments) entered 

into by the sponsor with other parties for 

the construction or use of, or access to, 

space on, over, or under real property 

acquired or improved under Airport 

Improvement Program 

This applies to agreements such as leases 

of concession space in a terminal. 

A6.4.4 

Title VI List of Pertinent 

Nondiscrimination Acts and 

Authorities  

• Assurance 3 of the DOT 

Standard Title VI Assurances 

and Nondiscrimination 

Clauses 

• Assurance 30e.2 of the 

Airport Sponsor Assurances 

Insert this list in every contract or 

agreement, unless the sponsor has 

determined, and the FAA concurs, that the 

contract or agreement is not subject to the 

Nondiscrimination Acts and Authorities. 

This list can be omitted if the FAA has 

determined that the contractor or 

company is already subject to 

nondiscrimination requirements. 

A6.4.5 



 

Guidelines for Contract Provisions for Obligated Sponsors and Airport Improvement Program Projects  

Issued on June 19, 2018 Page 16 

A 6 . 3  S O L I C I T A T I O N  C L A U S E  

The sponsor must include this clause in: 

1) All AIP funded solicitations for bids, requests for proposals, or any work subject to Title VI 

regulations; and  

2) All sponsor proposals for negotiated agreements regardless of funding source. 

A 6 . 3 . 1  T i t l e  V I  S o l i c i t a t i o n  N o t i c e  

Title VI Solicitation Notice: 

The (Name of Sponsor), in accordance with the provisions of Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 
(78 Stat. 252, 42 USC §§ 2000d to 2000d-4) and the Regulations, hereby notifies all bidders or offerors 
that it will affirmatively ensure that any contract entered into pursuant to this advertisement, [select 
disadvantaged business enterprises or airport concession disadvantaged business enterprises] will be 
afforded full and fair opportunity to submit bids in response to this invitation and will not be 
discriminated against on the grounds of race, color, or national origin in consideration for an award. 

  



 

Guidelines for Contract Provisions for Obligated Sponsors and Airport Improvement Program Projects  

Issued on June 19, 2018 Page 17 

A 6 . 4  C O N T R A C T  C L A U S E S  

A 6 . 4 . 1  T i t l e  V I  C l a u s e s  f o r  C o m p l i a n c e  w i t h  

N o n d i s c r i m i n a t i o n  R e q u i r e m e n t s  

The sponsor must include this contract clause in: 

1) Every contract or agreement (unless the sponsor has determined, and the FAA concurs, 

that the contract or agreement is not subject to the Nondiscrimination Acts and 

Authorities); and 

2) Service contracts with utility companies that are not already subject to nondiscrimination 

requirements. 

Compliance with Nondiscrimination Requirements: 

During the performance of this contract, the Contractor, for itself, its assignees, and successors in 
interest (hereinafter referred to as the “Contractor”), agrees as follows: 

1. Compliance with Regulations:  The Contractor (hereinafter includes consultants) will 
comply with the Title VI List of Pertinent Nondiscrimination Acts and Authorities, as they 
may be amended from time to time, which are herein incorporated by reference and made a 
part of this contract. 

2. Nondiscrimination:  The Contractor, with regard to the work performed by it during the 
contract, will not discriminate on the grounds of race, color, or national origin in the selection 
and retention of subcontractors, including procurements of materials and leases of equipment.  
The Contractor will not participate directly or indirectly in the discrimination prohibited by 
the Nondiscrimination Acts and Authorities, including employment practices when the 
contract covers any activity, project, or program set forth in Appendix B of 49 CFR part 21.  

3. Solicitations for Subcontracts, including Procurements of Materials and Equipment:  In 
all solicitations, either by competitive bidding or negotiation made by the Contractor for work 
to be performed under a subcontract, including procurements of materials, or leases of 
equipment, each potential subcontractor or supplier will be notified by the Contractor of the 
contractor’s obligations under this contract and the Nondiscrimination Acts and Authorities 
on the grounds of race, color, or national origin.   

4. Information and Reports:  The Contractor will provide all information and reports required 
by the Acts, the Regulations, and directives issued pursuant thereto and will permit access to 
its books, records, accounts, other sources of information, and its facilities as may be 
determined by the sponsor or the Federal Aviation Administration to be pertinent to ascertain 
compliance with such Nondiscrimination Acts and Authorities and instructions.  Where any 
information required of a contractor is in the exclusive possession of another who fails or 
refuses to furnish the information, the Contractor will so certify to the sponsor or the Federal 
Aviation Administration, as appropriate, and will set forth what efforts it has made to obtain 
the information. 

5. Sanctions for Noncompliance:  In the event of a Contractor’s noncompliance with the non-
discrimination provisions of this contract, the sponsor will impose such contract sanctions as 
it or the Federal Aviation Administration may determine to be appropriate, including, but not 
limited to: 



 

Guidelines for Contract Provisions for Obligated Sponsors and Airport Improvement Program Projects  

Issued on June 19, 2018 Page 18 

a. Withholding payments to the Contractor under the contract until the Contractor 
complies; and/or 

b. Cancelling, terminating, or suspending a contract, in whole or in part. 

6. Incorporation of Provisions:  The Contractor will include the provisions of paragraphs one 
through six in every subcontract, including procurements of materials and leases of 
equipment, unless exempt by the Acts, the Regulations, and directives issued pursuant 
thereto.  The Contractor will take action with respect to any subcontract or procurement as 
the sponsor or the Federal Aviation Administration may direct as a means of enforcing such 
provisions including sanctions for noncompliance.  Provided, that if the Contractor becomes 
involved in, or is threatened with litigation by a subcontractor, or supplier because of such 
direction, the Contractor may request the sponsor to enter into any litigation to protect the 
interests of the sponsor.  In addition, the Contractor may request the United States to enter 
into the litigation to protect the interests of the United States. 

A 6 . 4 . 2  T i t l e  V I  C l a u s e s  f o r  D e e d s  T r a n s f e r r i n g  U n i t e d  

S t a t e s  P r o p e r t y  

This is a rare occurrence, and it will be the responsibility of the United States government to include the 

clause in the contract.  It will be included as a covenant running with the land, in any deed from the 

United States effecting or recording a transfer of real property, structures, use, or improvements 

thereon or interest therein to a sponsor. 

CLAUSES FOR DEEDS TRANSFERRING UNITED STATES PROPERTY 

The following clauses will be included in deeds effecting or recording the transfer of real property, 
structures, or improvements thereon, or granting interest therein from the United States pursuant to the 
provisions of the Airport Improvement Program grant assurances. 

NOW, THEREFORE, the Federal Aviation Administration as authorized by law and upon the 
condition that the (Title of Sponsor) will accept title to the lands and maintain the project constructed 
thereon in accordance with (Name of Appropriate Legislative Authority), for the (Airport 

Improvement Program or other program for which land is transferred), and the policies and 
procedures prescribed by the Federal Aviation Administration of the U.S. Department of Transportation 
in accordance and in compliance with all requirements imposed by Title 49, Code of Federal 
Regulations, U.S. Department of Transportation, Subtitle A, Office of the Secretary, Part 21, Non-
discrimination in Federally-assisted programs of the U.S. Department of Transportation pertaining to 
and effectuating the provisions of Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (78 Stat. 252; 42 USC § 
2000d to 2000d-4), does hereby remise, release, quitclaim and convey unto the (Title of Sponsor) all the 
right, title and interest of the U.S. Department of Transportation/Federal Aviation Administration in and 
to said lands described in (Exhibit A attached hereto or other exhibit describing the transferred 

property) and made a part hereof. 

(HABENDUM CLAUSE) 

TO HAVE AND TO HOLD said lands and interests therein unto (Title of Sponsor) and its successors 
forever, subject, however, to the covenants, conditions, restrictions and reservations herein contained as 
follows, which will remain in effect for the period during which the real property or structures are used 
for a purpose for which Federal financial assistance is extended or for another purpose involving the 
provision of similar services or benefits and will be binding on the (Title of Sponsor), its successors and 
assigns. 



 

Guidelines for Contract Provisions for Obligated Sponsors and Airport Improvement Program Projects  

Issued on June 19, 2018 Page 19 

The (Title of Sponsor), in consideration of the conveyance of said lands and interests in lands, does 
hereby covenant and agree as a covenant running with the land for itself, its successors and assigns, that 
(1) no person will on the grounds of race, color, or national origin, be excluded from participation in, be 
denied the benefits of, or be otherwise subjected to discrimination with regard to any facility located 
wholly or in part on, over, or under such lands hereby conveyed [,] [and]* (2) that the (Title of Sponsor) 
will use the lands and interests in lands and interests in lands so conveyed, in compliance with all 
requirements imposed by or pursuant to Title 49, Code of Federal Regulations, U.S. Department of 
Transportation, Subtitle A, Office of the Secretary, Part 21, Non-discrimination in Federally-assisted 
programs of the U.S. Department of Transportation, Effectuation of Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 
1964, and as said Regulations and Acts may be amended[, and (3) that in the event of breach of any of 
the above-mentioned nondiscrimination conditions, the Department will have a right to enter or re-enter 
said lands and facilities on said land, and that above described land and facilities will thereon revert to 
and vest in and become the absolute property of the Federal Aviation Administration and its assigns as 
such interest existed prior to this instruction].* 

(*Reverter clause and related language to be used only when it is determined that such a clause is 

necessary in order to make clear the purpose of Title VI.) 

A 6 . 4 . 3  T i t l e  V I  C l a u s e s  f o r  T r a n s f e r  o f  R e a l  P r o p e r t y  

A c q u i r e d  o r  I m p r o v e d  U n d e r  t h e  A c t i v i t y ,  F a c i l i t y ,  

o r  P r o g r a m  

This applies to agreements such as leases where a physical portion of the airport is transferred for 

use―for example a fuel farm, apron space, or a parking facility―and will be included as a covenant 

running with the land, in any future deeds, leases, licenses, permits, or similar instruments entered into 

by the sponsor with other parties for all transfers of real property acquired or improved under the 

Airport Improvement Program.  

CLAUSES FOR TRANSFER OF REAL PROPERTY ACQUIRED OR IMPROVED UNDER THE 

AIRPORT IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM 

The following clauses will be included in (deeds, licenses, leases, permits, or similar instruments) 
entered into by the (Title of Sponsor) pursuant to the provisions of the Airport Improvement Program 
grant assurances. 

A. The (grantee, lessee, permittee, etc. as appropriate) for himself/herself, his/her heirs, 
personal representatives, successors in interest, and assigns, as a part of the consideration 
hereof, does hereby covenant and agree [in the case of deeds and leases add “as a covenant 
running with the land”] that: 

1. In the event facilities are constructed, maintained, or otherwise operated on the 
property described in this (deed, license, lease, permit, etc.) for a purpose for which a 
Federal Aviation Administration activity, facility, or program is extended or for 
another purpose involving the provision of similar services or benefits, the (grantee, 
licensee, lessee, permittee, etc.) will maintain and operate such facilities and services 
in compliance with all requirements imposed by the Nondiscrimination Acts and 
Regulations listed in the Pertinent List of Nondiscrimination Authorities (as may be 
amended) such that no person on the grounds of race, color, or national origin, will 
be excluded from participation in, denied the benefits of, or be otherwise subjected to 
discrimination in the use of said facilities.  

B. With respect to licenses, leases, permits, etc., in the event of breach of any of the above 
Nondiscrimination covenants, (Title of Sponsor) will have the right to terminate the (lease, 



 

Guidelines for Contract Provisions for Obligated Sponsors and Airport Improvement Program Projects  

Issued on June 19, 2018 Page 20 

license, permit, etc.) and to enter, re-enter, and repossess said lands and facilities thereon, 
and hold the same as if the (lease, license, permit, etc.) had never been made or issued.* 

C. With respect to a deed, in the event of breach of any of the above Nondiscrimination 
covenants, the (Title of Sponsor) will have the right to enter or re-enter the lands and 
facilities thereon, and the above described lands and facilities will there upon revert to and 
vest in and become the absolute property of the (Title of Sponsor) and its assigns.* 

(*Reverter clause and related language to be used only when it is determined that such a clause is 
necessary to make clear the purpose of Title VI.) 



 

Guidelines for Contract Provisions for Obligated Sponsors and Airport Improvement Program Projects  

Issued on June 19, 2018 Page 21 

A 6 . 4 . 4  T i t l e  V I  C l a u s e s  f o r  C o n s t r u c t i o n / U s e / A c c e s s  t o  

R e a l  P r o p e r t y  A c q u i r e d  U n d e r  t h e  A c t i v i t y ,  

F a c i l i t y  o r  P r o g r a m  

This applies to agreements such as leases of concession space in a terminal and any future deeds, leases, 

licenses, permits, or similar instruments entered into by the sponsor with other parties for the 

construction or use of, or access to, space on, over, or under real property acquired or improved under 

the Airport Improvement Program. 

 

CLAUSES FOR CONSTRUCTION/USE/ACCESS TO REAL PROPERTY ACQUIRED  

UNDER THE ACTIVITY, FACILITY OR PROGRAM 

The following clauses will be included in deeds, licenses, permits, or similar instruments/agreements 
entered into by (Title of Sponsor) pursuant to the provisions of the Airport Improvement Program grant 
assurances. 

A. The (grantee, licensee, permittee, etc., as appropriate) for himself/herself, his/her heirs, 
personal representatives, successors in interest, and assigns, as a part of the consideration 
hereof, does hereby covenant and agree (in the case of deeds and leases add, “as a covenant 
running with the land”) that (1) no person on the ground of race, color, or national origin, will 
be excluded from participation in, denied the benefits of, or be otherwise subjected to 
discrimination in the use of said facilities, (2) that in the construction of any improvements 
on, over, or under such land, and the furnishing of services thereon, no person on the ground 
of race, color, or national origin, will be excluded from participation in, denied the benefits 
of, or otherwise be subjected to discrimination, (3) that the (grantee, licensee, lessee, 
permittee, etc.) will use the premises in compliance with all other requirements imposed by or 
pursuant to the List of discrimination Acts And Authorities. 

B. With respect to (licenses, leases, permits, etc.), in the event of breach of any of the above 
nondiscrimination covenants, (Title of Sponsor) will have the right to terminate the (license, 
permit, etc., as appropriate) and to enter or re-enter and repossess said land and the facilities 
thereon, and hold the same as if said (license, permit, etc., as appropriate) had never been 
made or issued.* 

C. With respect to deeds, in the event of breach of any of the above nondiscrimination 
covenants, (Title of Sponsor) will there upon revert to and vest in and become the absolute 
property of (Title of Sponsor) and its assigns.* 

(*Reverter clause and related language to be used only when it is determined that such a clause is 
necessary to make clear the purpose of Title VI.) 

  



 

Guidelines for Contract Provisions for Obligated Sponsors and Airport Improvement Program Projects  

Issued on June 19, 2018 Page 22 

A 6 . 4 . 5  T i t l e  V I  L i s t  o f  P e r t i n e n t  N o n d i s c r i m i n a t i o n  A c t s  

 a n d  A u t h o r i t i e s  

Insert this list in every contract or agreement, unless the sponsor has determined and the FAA concurs, 

that the contract or agreement is not subject to the Nondiscrimination Acts and Authorities.  This list can 

be omitted if the FAA has determined that the contractor or company is already subject to 

nondiscrimination requirements. 

Title VI List of Pertinent Nondiscrimination Acts and Authorities 

During the performance of this contract, the Contractor, for itself, its assignees, and successors in 
interest (hereinafter referred to as the “Contractor”) agrees to comply with the following non-
discrimination statutes and authorities; including but not limited to: 

• Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (42 USC § 2000d et seq., 78 stat. 252) (prohibits 
discrimination on the basis of race, color, national origin);  

• 49 CFR part 21 (Non-discrimination in Federally-assisted programs of the Department of 
Transportation—Effectuation of Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964);  

• The Uniform Relocation Assistance and Real Property Acquisition Policies Act of 1970, (42 USC 
§ 4601) (prohibits unfair treatment of persons displaced or whose property has been acquired 
because of Federal or Federal-aid programs and projects);  

• Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (29 USC § 794 et seq.), as amended (prohibits 
discrimination on the basis of disability); and 49 CFR part 27; 

• The Age Discrimination Act of 1975, as amended (42 USC § 6101 et seq.) (prohibits 
discrimination on the basis of age); 

• Airport and Airway Improvement Act of 1982 (49 USC § 471, Section 47123), as amended 
(prohibits discrimination based on race, creed, color, national origin, or sex);  

• The Civil Rights Restoration Act of 1987 (PL 100-209) (broadened the scope, coverage and 
applicability of Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, the Age Discrimination Act of 1975 and 
Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, by expanding the definition of the terms “programs 
or activities” to include all of the programs or activities of the Federal-aid recipients, sub-
recipients and contractors, whether such programs or activities are Federally funded or not); 

• Titles II and III of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, which prohibit discrimination on 
the basis of disability in the operation of public entities, public and private transportation systems, 
places of public accommodation, and certain testing entities (42 USC §§ 12131 – 12189) as 
implemented by U.S. Department of Transportation regulations at 49 CFR parts 37 and 38; 

• The Federal Aviation Administration’s Nondiscrimination statute (49 USC § 47123) (prohibits 
discrimination on the basis of race, color, national origin, and sex); 

• Executive Order 12898, Federal Actions to Address Environmental Justice in Minority 
Populations and Low-Income Populations, which ensures nondiscrimination against minority 
populations by discouraging programs, policies, and activities with disproportionately high and 
adverse human health or environmental effects on minority and low-income populations; 

• Executive Order 13166, Improving Access to Services for Persons with Limited English 
Proficiency, and resulting agency guidance, national origin discrimination includes discrimination 
because of limited English proficiency (LEP).  To ensure compliance with Title VI, you must 
take reasonable steps to ensure that LEP persons have meaningful access to your programs (70 
Fed. Reg. at 74087 to 74100); 



 

Guidelines for Contract Provisions for Obligated Sponsors and Airport Improvement Program Projects  

Issued on June 19, 2018 Page 23 

• Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972, as amended, which prohibits you from 
discriminating because of sex in education programs or activities (20 USC 1681 et seq). 



 

Guidelines for Contract Provisions for Obligated Sponsors and Airport Improvement Program Projects  

Issued on June 19, 2018 Page 24 

A 7  C L E A N  A I R  A N D  W A T E R  P O L L U T I O N  C O N T R O L   

A 7 . 1  S O U R C E   

2 CFR § 200, Appendix II(G) 

A 7 . 2  A P P L I C A B I L I T Y  

Contract Types – This provision is required for all contracts and lower tier contracts that exceed 

$150,000. 

Use of Provision – No mandatory language provided.  The following language is acceptable to the FAA 

and meets the intent of this requirement.   If the sponsor uses different language, the sponsor’s 

language must fully satisfy the requirements of Appendix II to 2 CFR §200. 

A 7 . 3   C O N T R A C T  C L A U S E  

CLEAN AIR AND WATER POLLUTION CONTROL 

Contractor agrees to comply with all applicable standards, orders, and regulations issued pursuant to the 

Clean Air Act (42 USC § 740-7671q) and the Federal Water Pollution Control Act as amended (33 USC 

§ 1251-1387). The Contractor agrees to report any violation to the Owner immediately upon discovery. 

The Owner assumes responsibility for notifying the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) and the 

Federal Aviation Administration.  

Contractor must include this requirement in all subcontracts that exceeds $150,000. 

  



 

Guidelines for Contract Provisions for Obligated Sponsors and Airport Improvement Program Projects  

Issued on June 19, 2018 Page 25 

A 8  C O N T R A C T  W O R K H O U R S  A N D  S A F E T Y  S T A N D A R D S  A C T  

R E Q U I R E M E N T S  

A 8 . 1  S O U R C E  

2 CFR § 200, Appendix II(E) 

A 8 . 2  A P P L I C A B I L I T Y  

Contract Workhours and Safety Standards Act Requirements (CWHSSA) requires contractors and 

subcontractors on covered contracts to pay laborers and mechanics employed in the performance of the 

contracts one and one-half times their basic rate of pay for all hours worked over 40 in a workweek. 

CWHSSA prohibits unsanitary, hazardous, or dangerous working conditions on federally assisted 

projects.  The Wage and Hour Division (WHD) within the U.S. Department of Labor (DOL) enforces the 

compensation requirements of this Act, while DOL’s Occupational Safety and Health Administration 

(OSHA) enforces the safety and health requirements 

Contract Types – 

Construction – This provision applies to all contracts and lower tier contracts that exceed 

$100,000, and employ laborers, mechanics, watchmen, and guards.  

Equipment – This provision applies to any equipment project exceeding $100,000 that involves 

installation of equipment onsite (e.g. electrical vault equipment).  This provision does not apply 

to equipment acquisition projects where the manufacture of the equipment takes place offsite 

at the vendor plant (e.g. ARFF and SRE vehicles). 

Professional Services – This provision applies to professional service agreements that exceed 

$100,000 and employs laborers, mechanics, watchmen, and guards. This includes members of 

survey crews and exploratory drilling operations.  

Property – While most land transactions do not involve employment of laborers, mechanics, 

watchmen, and guards, under certain circumstances, a property acquisition project could 

require such employment.  Examples include the installation of property fencing or testing for 

environmental contamination 

Use of Provision – MANDATORY TEXT.  Sponsors must incorporate this text without modification. 

A 8 . 3  C O N T R A C T  C L A U S E  

CONTRACT WORKHOURS AND SAFETY STANDARDS ACT REQUIREMENTS 

1. Overtime Requirements. 

No contractor or subcontractor contracting for any part of the contract work which may require or 

involve the employment of laborers or mechanics shall require or permit any such laborer or mechanic, 

including watchmen and guards, in any workweek in which he or she is employed on such work to work 

in excess of forty hours in such workweek unless such laborer or mechanic receives compensation at a 



 

Guidelines for Contract Provisions for Obligated Sponsors and Airport Improvement Program Projects  

Issued on June 19, 2018 Page 26 

rate not less than one and one-half times the basic rate of pay for all hours worked in excess of forty 

hours in such workweek. 

2. Violation; Liability for Unpaid Wages; Liquidated Damages.  

In the event of any violation of the clause set forth in paragraph (1) of this clause, the Contractor and 

any subcontractor responsible therefor shall be liable for the unpaid wages. In addition, such contractor 

and subcontractor shall be liable to the United States (in the case of work done under contract for the 

District of Columbia or a territory, to such District or to such territory), for liquidated damages.  Such 

liquidated damages shall be computed with respect to each individual laborer or mechanic, including 

watchmen and guards, employed in violation of the clause set forth in paragraph (1) of this clause, in the 

sum of $10 for each calendar day on which such individual was required or permitted to work in excess 

of the standard workweek of forty hours without payment of the overtime wages required by the clause 

set forth in paragraph (1) of this clause. 

3. Withholding for Unpaid Wages and Liquidated Damages. 

The Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) or the Owner shall upon its own action or upon written 

request of an authorized representative of the Department of Labor withhold or cause to be withheld, 

from any moneys payable on account of work performed by the contractor or subcontractor under any 

such contract or any other Federal contract with the same prime contractor, or any other federally 

assisted contract subject to the Contract Work Hours and Safety Standards Act, which is held by the 

same prime contractor, such sums as may be determined to be necessary to satisfy any liabilities of such 

contractor or subcontractor for unpaid wages and liquidated damages as provided in the clause set forth 

in paragraph (2) of this clause. 

4. Subcontractors.  

The Contractor or subcontractor shall insert in any subcontracts the clauses set forth in paragraphs (1) 

through (4) and also a clause requiring the subcontractor to include these clauses in any lower tier 

subcontracts.  The prime contractor shall be responsible for compliance by any subcontractor or lower 

tier subcontractor with the clauses set forth in paragraphs (1) through (4) of this clause. 

  



 

Guidelines for Contract Provisions for Obligated Sponsors and Airport Improvement Program Projects  

Issued on June 19, 2018 Page 27 

A 9  C O P E L A N D  “ A N T I - K I C K B A C K ”  A C T  

A 9 . 1   S O U R C E  

2 CFR § 200, Appendix II(D) 

29 CFR Parts 3 and 5 

A 9 . 2  A P P L I C A B I L I T Y  a n d  P U R P O S E  

The Copeland (Anti-Kickback) Act (18 USC 874 and 40 USC 3145) makes it unlawful to induce by force, 

intimidation, threat of dismissal from employment, or by any other manner, any person employed in the 

construction or repair of public buildings or public works, financed in whole or in part by the United 

States, to give up any part of the compensation to which that person is entitled under a contract of 

employment. The Copeland Act also requires each contractor and subcontractor to furnish weekly a 

statement of compliance with respect to the wages paid each employee during the preceding week.  

Contract Types –   

Construction – This provision applies to all construction contracts and subcontracts financed 

under the AIP that exceed $2,000. 

Equipment – This provision applies to all equipment installation projects (e.g. electrical vault 

improvements) financed under the AIP that exceed $2,000.  This provision does not apply to 

equipment acquisitions where the equipment is manufactured at the vendor’s plant (e.g. SRE 

and ARFF vehicles). 

Professional Services –The emergence of different project delivery methods has created 

situations where Professional Service Agreements (PSAs) include tasks that meet the definition 

of construction, alteration, or repair as defined in 29 CFR Part 5. If such tasks result in work that 

qualifies as construction, alteration, or repair and it exceeds $2,000, the PSA must incorporate 

the Copeland Anti-kickback provision. 

Property –Ordinarily, land acquisition projects would not involve employment of laborers or 

mechanics and thus the Copeland Anti-Kickback provision would not apply.  However, land 

projects that involve installation of boundary fencing and demolition of structures would involve 

laborers and mechanics. The sponsor must include this provision if the land acquisition project 

involves employment of laborers or mechanics for a contract exceeding $2,000. 

Use of Provision – MANDATORY TEXT.  29 CFR Part 5 establishes specific language a sponsor must use 

in construction contracts.  The sponsor may not make any modification to the standard language.  

Architectural/Engineering (A/E) firms that employ laborers and mechanics on a task that meets the 

definition of construction, alteration, or repair are acting as a contractor.  The sponsor may not 

substitute the term “contractor” for “consultant” in such instances. 



 

Guidelines for Contract Provisions for Obligated Sponsors and Airport Improvement Program Projects  

Issued on June 19, 2018 Page 28 

A 9 . 3   C O N T R A C T  C L A U S E  

COPELAND “ANTI-KICKBACK” ACT 

Contractor must comply with the requirements of the Copeland “Anti-Kickback” Act (18 USC 874 and 

40 USC 3145), as supplemented by Department of Labor regulation 29 CFR part 3.  Contractor and 

subcontractors are prohibited from inducing, by any means, any person employed on the project to give 

up any part of the compensation to which the employee is entitled.  The Contractor and each 

Subcontractor must submit to the Owner, a weekly statement on the wages paid to each employee 

performing on covered work during the prior week. Owner must report any violations of the Act to the 

Federal Aviation Administration. 

  



 

Guidelines for Contract Provisions for Obligated Sponsors and Airport Improvement Program Projects  

Issued on June 19, 2018 Page 29 

A 1 0  D A V I S - B A C O N  R E Q U I R E M E N T S   

A 1 0 . 1  S O U R C E   

2 CFR § 200, Appendix II(D) 

29 CFR Part 5 

A 1 0 . 2  A P P L I C A B I L I T Y  

The Davis-Bacon Act ensures that laborers and mechanics employed under the contract receive pay no 

less than the locally prevailing wages and fringe benefits as determined by the Department of Labor.  

Contract Types –   

Construction – Incorporate into all construction contracts and subcontracts that exceed $2,000 

and include funding from the AIP. 

Equipment – This provision applies to all equipment installation projects (e.g. electrical vault 

improvements) financed under the AIP that exceed $ 2, 000.  This provision does not apply to 

equipment acquisitions where the equipment is manufactured at the vendor’s plant (e.g. SRE 

and ARFF vehicles) 

Professional Services – The emergence of different project delivery methods has created 

situations where Professional Service Agreements (PSAs) includes tasks that meet the definition 

of construction, alteration, or repair as defined in 29 CFR Part 5. If such tasks result in work that 

qualifies as construction, alteration, or repair and it exceeds $2,000, the PSA must incorporate 

this clause. 

Property – Ordinarily, land acquisition projects would not involve employment of laborers or 

mechanics and thus the provision would not apply.  However, land projects that involve 

installation of boundary fencing and demolition of structures would involve laborers and 

mechanics. The sponsor must include this provision if the land acquisition project involves 

employment of laborers or mechanics for a contract exceeding $2,000. 

Fencing Projects – Fencing projects that exceed $2,000 must include this provision. 

Use of Provision – MANDATORY TEXT. 29 CFR part 5 establishes specific language a sponsor must use.  

The sponsor may not make any modification to the standard language.  A/E firms that employ laborers 

and mechanics on a task that meets the definition of construction, alteration, or repair are acting as a 

contractor.  The sponsor may not substitute the term “Contractor” for “Consultant” in such instances. 

A 1 0 . 3  C O N T R A C T  C L A U S E  

DAVIS-BACON REQUIREMENTS 

1. Minimum Wages. 

(i)  All laborers and mechanics employed or working upon the site of the work will be paid 

unconditionally and not less often than once a week, and without subsequent deduction or rebate on any 



 

Guidelines for Contract Provisions for Obligated Sponsors and Airport Improvement Program Projects  

Issued on June 19, 2018 Page 30 

account (except such payroll deductions as are permitted by the Secretary of Labor under the Copeland 

Act (29 CFR Part 3)), the full amount of wages and bona fide fringe benefits (or cash equivalent 

thereof) due at time of payment computed at rates not less than those contained in the wage 

determination of the Secretary of Labor which is attached hereto and made a part hereof, regardless of 

any contractual relationship which may be alleged to exist between the Contractor and such laborers and 

mechanics.  

Contributions made or costs reasonably anticipated for bona fide fringe benefits under section 1(b)(2) of 

the Davis-Bacon Act on behalf of laborers or mechanics are considered wages paid to such laborers or 

mechanics, subject to the provisions of paragraph (1)(iv) of this section; also, regular contributions 

made or costs incurred for more than a weekly period (but not less often than quarterly) under plans, 

funds, or programs which cover the particular weekly period, are deemed to be constructively made or 

incurred during such weekly period. Such laborers and mechanics shall be paid the appropriate wage 

rate and fringe benefits on the wage determination for the classification of work actually performed, 

without regard to skill, except as provided in 29 CFR Part 5.5(a)(4). Laborers or mechanics performing 

work in more than one classification may be compensated at the rate specified for each classification for 

the time actually worked therein: Provided that the employer’s payroll records accurately set forth the 

time spent in each classification in which work is performed. The wage determination (including any 

additional classification and wage rates conformed under (1)(ii) of this section) and the Davis-Bacon 

poster (WH-1321) shall be posted at all times by the Contractor and its subcontractors at the site of the 

work in a prominent and accessible place where it can easily be seen by the workers. 

(ii)(A) The contracting officer shall require that any class of laborers or mechanics, including helpers, 

which is not listed in the wage determination and which is to be employed under the contract shall be 

classified in conformance with the wage determination. The contracting officer shall approve an 

additional classification and wage rate and fringe benefits therefore only when the following criteria 

have been met: 

(1) The work to be performed by the classification requested is not performed by a classification in the 

wage determination;  

(2) The classification is utilized in the area by the construction industry; and 

(3) The proposed wage rate, including any bona fide fringe benefits, bears a reasonable relationship to 

the wage rates contained in the wage determination. 

(B) If the Contractor and the laborers and mechanics to be employed in the classification (if known), or 

their representatives, and the contracting officer agree on the classification and wage rate (including the 

amount designated for fringe benefits where appropriate), a report of the action taken shall be sent by 

the contracting officer to the Administrator of the Wage and Hour Division, Employment Standards 

Administration, U.S. Department of Labor, Washington, DC 20210.  The Administrator, or an 

authorized representative, will approve, modify, or disapprove every additional classification action 

within 30 days of receipt and so advise the contracting officer or will notify the contracting officer 

within the 30-day period that additional time is necessary. 

(C) In the event the Contractor, the laborers, or mechanics to be employed in the classification, or their 

representatives, and the contracting officer do not agree on the proposed classification and wage rate 

(including the amount designated for fringe benefits where appropriate), the contracting officer shall 



 

Guidelines for Contract Provisions for Obligated Sponsors and Airport Improvement Program Projects  

Issued on June 19, 2018 Page 31 

refer the questions, including the views of all interested parties and the recommendation of the 

contracting officer, to the Administrator for determination. The Administrator, or an authorized 

representative, will issue a determination within 30 days of receipt and so advise the contracting officer 

or will notify the contracting officer within the 30-day period that additional time is necessary.  

(D) The wage rate (including fringe benefits where appropriate) determined pursuant to subparagraphs 

(1)(ii) (B) or (C) of this paragraph, shall be paid to all workers performing work in the classification 

under this contract from the first day on which work is performed in the classification. 

(iii) Whenever the minimum wage rate prescribed in the contract for a class of laborers or mechanics 

includes a fringe benefit which is not expressed as an hourly rate, the contractor shall either pay the 

benefit as stated in the wage determination or shall pay another bona fide fringe benefit or an hourly 

cash equivalent thereof. 

(iv) If the Contractor does not make payments to a trustee or other third person, the Contractor may 

consider as part of the wages of any laborer or mechanic the amount of any costs reasonably anticipated 

in providing bona fide fringe benefits under a plan or program: Provided that the Secretary of Labor has 

found, upon the written request of the Contractor, that the applicable standards of the Davis-Bacon Act 

have been met. The Secretary of Labor may require the Contractor to set aside in a separate account 

assets for the meeting of obligations under the plan or program.  

2. Withholding.  

The Federal Aviation Administration or the sponsor shall upon its own action or upon written request of 

an authorized representative of the Department of Labor withhold or cause to be withheld from the 

Contractor under this contract or any other Federal contract with the same prime contractor, or any other 

federally-assisted contract subject to Davis-Bacon prevailing wage requirements, which is held by the 

same prime contractor, so much of the accrued payments or advances as may be considered necessary to 

pay laborers and mechanics, including apprentices, trainees, and helpers, employed by the Contractor or 

any subcontractor the full amount of wages required by the contract. In the event of failure to pay any 

laborer or mechanic, including any apprentice, trainee, or helper, employed or working on the site of 

work, all or part of the wages required by the contract, the Federal Aviation Administration may, after 

written notice to the Contractor, Sponsor, Applicant, or Owner, take such action as may be necessary to 

cause the suspension of any further payment, advance, or guarantee of funds until such violations have 

ceased. 

3. Payrolls and Basic Records. 

(i) Payrolls and basic records relating thereto shall be maintained by the Contractor during the course of 

the work and preserved for a period of three years thereafter for all laborers and mechanics working at 

the site of the work. Such records shall contain the name, address, and social security number of each 

such worker; his or her correct classification; hourly rates of wages paid (including rates of 

contributions or costs anticipated for bona fide fringe benefits or cash equivalents thereof of the types 

described in 1(b)(2)(B) of the Davis-Bacon Act); daily and weekly number of hours worked; deductions 

made; and actual wages paid. Whenever the Secretary of Labor has found under 29 CFR 5.5(a)(1)(iv) 

that the wages of any laborer or mechanic include the amount of any costs reasonably anticipated in 

providing benefits under a plan or program described in section 1(b)(2)(B) of the Davis-Bacon Act, the 

Contractor shall maintain records that show that the commitment to provide such benefits is 



 

Guidelines for Contract Provisions for Obligated Sponsors and Airport Improvement Program Projects  

Issued on June 19, 2018 Page 32 

enforceable, that the plan or program is financially responsible, and that the plan or program has been 

communicated in writing to the laborers or mechanics affected, and that show the costs anticipated or 

the actual costs incurred in providing such benefits. Contractors employing apprentices or trainees under 

approved programs shall maintain written evidence of the registration of apprenticeship programs and 

certification of trainee programs, the registration of the apprentices and trainees, and the ratios and wage 

rates prescribed in the applicable programs.  

(ii)(A) The Contractor shall submit weekly for each week in which any contract work is performed a 

copy of all payrolls to the Federal Aviation Administration if the agency is a party to the contract, but if 

the agency is not such a party, the Contractor will submit the payrolls to the applicant, Sponsor, or 

Owner, as the case may be, for transmission to the Federal Aviation Administration. The payrolls 

submitted shall set out accurately and completely all of the information required to be maintained under 

29 CFR 5.5(a)(3)(i), except that full social security numbers and home addresses shall not be included 

on weekly transmittals. Instead the payrolls shall only need to include an individually identifying 

number for each employee (e.g. the last four digits of the employee’s social security number). The 

required weekly payroll information may be submitted in any form desired. Optional Form WH–347 is 

available for this purpose from the Wage and Hour Division Web site at 

www.dol.gov/whd/forms/wh347instr.htm or its successor site. The prime contractor is responsible for the 

submission of copies of payrolls by all subcontractors. Contractors and subcontractors shall maintain the 

full social security number and current address of each covered worker and shall provide them upon 

request to the Federal Aviation Administration if the agency is a party to the contract, but if the agency 

is not such a party, the Contractor will submit them to the applicant, sponsor, or Owner, as the case may 

be, for transmission to the Federal Aviation Administration, the Contractor, or the Wage and Hour 

Division of the Department of Labor for purposes of an investigation or audit of compliance with 

prevailing wage requirements. It is not a violation of this section for a prime contractor to require a 

subcontractor to provide addresses and social security numbers to the prime contractor for its own 

records, without weekly submission to the sponsoring government agency (or the applicant, Sponsor, or 

Owner). 

(B) Each payroll submitted shall be accompanied by a "Statement of Compliance," signed by the 

Contractor or subcontractor or his or her agent who pays or supervises the payment of the persons 

employed under the contract and shall certify the following: 

(1) The payroll for the payroll period contains the information required to be provided under 29 CFR § 

5.5(a)(3)(ii), the appropriate information is being maintained under 29 CFR § 5.5 (a)(3)(i), and that such 

information is correct and complete; 

(2) Each laborer and mechanic (including each helper, apprentice, and trainee) employed on the contract 

during the payroll period has been paid the full weekly wages earned, without rebate, either directly or 

indirectly, and that no deductions have been made either directly or indirectly from the full wages 

earned, other than permissible deductions as set forth in Regulations 29 CFR Part 3;  

(3) Each laborer or mechanic has been paid not less than the applicable wage rates and fringe benefits or 

cash equivalents for the classification of work performed, as specified in the applicable wage 

determination incorporated into the contract. 



 

Guidelines for Contract Provisions for Obligated Sponsors and Airport Improvement Program Projects  

Issued on June 19, 2018 Page 33 

(C) The weekly submission of a properly executed certification set forth on the reverse side of Optional 

Form WH-347 shall satisfy the requirement for submission of the “Statement of Compliance” required 

by paragraph (3)(ii)(B) of this section. 

(D) The falsification of any of the above certifications may subject the Contractor or subcontractor to 

civil or criminal prosecution under Section 1001 of Title 18 and Section 231 of Title 31 of the United 

States Code. 

(iii) The Contractor or subcontractor shall make the records required under paragraph (3)(i) of this 

section available for inspection, copying, or transcription by authorized representatives of the sponsor, 

the Federal Aviation Administration, or the Department of Labor and shall permit such representatives 

to interview employees during working hours on the job. If the Contractor or subcontractor fails to 

submit the required records or to make them available, the Federal agency may, after written notice to 

the Contractor, Sponsor, applicant, or Owner, take such action as may be necessary to cause the 

suspension of any further payment, advance, or guarantee of funds. Furthermore, failure to submit the 

required records upon request or to make such records available may be grounds for debarment action 

pursuant to 29 CFR 5.12. 

4.  Apprentices and Trainees. 

(i) Apprentices. Apprentices will be permitted to work at less than the predetermined rate for the work 

they performed when they are employed pursuant to and individually registered in a bona fide 

apprenticeship program registered with the U.S. Department of Labor, Employment and Training 

Administration, Bureau of Apprenticeship and Training, or with a State Apprenticeship Agency 

recognized by the Bureau, or if a person is employed in his or her first 90 days of probationary 

employment as an apprentice in such an apprenticeship program, who is not individually registered in 

the program, but who has been certified by the Bureau of Apprenticeship and Training or a State 

Apprenticeship Agency (where appropriate) to be eligible for probationary employment as an 

apprentice. The allowable ratio of apprentices to journeymen on the job site in any craft classification 

shall not be greater than the ratio permitted to the contractor as to the entire work force under the 

registered program. Any worker listed on a payroll at an apprentice wage rate, who is not registered or 

otherwise employed as stated above, shall be paid not less than the applicable wage rate on the wage 

determination for the classification of work actually performed. In addition, any apprentice performing 

work on the job site in excess of the ratio permitted under the registered program shall be paid not less 

than the applicable wage rate on the wage determination for the work actually performed. Where a 

contractor is performing construction on a project in a locality other than that in which its program is 

registered, the ratios and wage rates (expressed in percentages of the journeyman’s hourly rate) 

specified in the Contractor’s or subcontractor’s registered program shall be observed. Every apprentice 

must be paid at not less than the rate specified in the registered program for the apprentice’s level of 

progress, expressed as a percentage of the journeymen hourly rate specified in the applicable wage 

determination. Apprentices shall be paid fringe benefits in accordance with the provisions of the 

apprenticeship program. If the apprenticeship program does not specify fringe benefits, apprentices must 

be paid the full amount of fringe benefits listed on the wage determination for the applicable 

classification. If the Administrator determines that a different practice prevails for the applicable 

apprentice classification, fringes shall be paid in accordance with that determination. In the event the 

Bureau of Apprenticeship and Training, or a State Apprenticeship Agency recognized by the Bureau, 



 

Guidelines for Contract Provisions for Obligated Sponsors and Airport Improvement Program Projects  

Issued on June 19, 2018 Page 34 

withdraws approval of an apprenticeship program, the Contractor will no longer be permitted to utilize 

apprentices at less than the applicable predetermined rate for the work performed until an acceptable 

program is approved. 

(ii) Trainees. Except as provided in 29 CFR 5.16, trainees will not be permitted to work at less than the 

predetermined rate for the work performed unless they are employed pursuant to and individually 

registered in a program which has received prior approval, evidenced by formal certification by the U.S. 

Department of Labor, Employment and Training Administration. The ratio of trainees to journeymen on 

the job site shall not be greater than permitted under the plan approved by the Employment and Training 

Administration. Every trainee must be paid at not less than the rate specified in the approved program 

for the trainee’s level of progress, expressed as a percentage of the journeyman hourly rate specified in 

the applicable wage determination. Trainees shall be paid fringe benefits in accordance with the 

provisions of the trainee program. If the trainee program does not mention fringe benefits, trainees shall 

be paid the full amount of fringe benefits listed on the wage determination unless the Administrator of 

the Wage and Hour Division determines that there is an apprenticeship program associated with the 

corresponding journeyman wage rate on the wage determination that provides for less than full fringe 

benefits for apprentices.  Any employee listed on the payroll at a trainee rate that is not registered and 

participating in a training plan approved by the Employment and Training Administration shall be paid 

not less than the applicable wage rate on the wage determination for the classification of work actually 

performed.  In addition, any trainee performing work on the job site in excess of the ratio permitted 

under the registered program shall be paid not less than the applicable wage rate on the wage 

determination for the work actually performed.  In the event the Employment and Training 

Administration withdraws approval of a training program, the Contractor will no longer be permitted to 

utilize trainees at less than the applicable predetermined rate for the work performed until an acceptable 

program is approved. 

(iii)  Equal Employment Opportunity.  The utilization of apprentices, trainees, and journeymen under 

this part shall be in conformity with the equal employment opportunity requirements of Executive Order 

11246, as amended, and 29 CFR Part 30. 

5. Compliance with Copeland Act Requirements. 

The Contractor shall comply with the requirements of 29 CFR Part 3, which are incorporated by 

reference in this contract. 

6. Subcontracts. 

The Contractor or subcontractor shall insert in any subcontracts the clauses contained in 29 CFR Part 

5.5(a)(1) through (10) and such other clauses as the Federal Aviation Administration may by 

appropriate instructions require, and also a clause requiring the subcontractors to include these clauses 

in any lower tier subcontracts.  The prime contractor shall be responsible for the compliance by any 

subcontractor or lower tier subcontractor with all the contract clauses in 29 CFR Part 5.5. 

7.  Contract Termination: Debarment.  

A breach of the contract clauses in paragraph 1 through 10 of this section may be grounds for 

termination of the contract, and for debarment as a contractor and a subcontractor as provided in 29 

CFR 5.12. 



 

Guidelines for Contract Provisions for Obligated Sponsors and Airport Improvement Program Projects  

Issued on June 19, 2018 Page 35 

8. Compliance with Davis-Bacon and Related Act Requirements. 

All rulings and interpretations of the Davis-Bacon and Related Acts contained in 29 CFR Parts 1, 3, and 

5 are herein incorporated by reference in this contract. 

9. Disputes Concerning Labor Standards. 

Disputes arising out of the labor standards provisions of this contract shall not be subject to the general 

disputes clause of this contract.  Such disputes shall be resolved in accordance with the procedures of 

the Department of Labor set forth in 29 CFR Parts 5, 6, and 7. Disputes within the meaning of this 

clause include disputes between the Contractor (or any of its subcontractors) and the contracting agency, 

the U.S. Department of Labor, or the employees or their representatives. 

10. Certification of Eligibility. 

(i) By entering into this contract, the Contractor certifies that neither it (nor he or she) nor any person or 

firm who has an interest in the Contractor’s firm is a person or firm ineligible to be awarded 

Government contracts by virtue of section 3(a) of the Davis-Bacon Act or 29 CFR 5.12(a)(1). 

(ii) No part of this contract shall be subcontracted to any person or firm ineligible for award of a 

Government contract by virtue of section 3(a) of the Davis-Bacon Act or 29 CFR 5.12(a)(1). 

(iii) The penalty for making false statements is prescribed in the U.S. Criminal Code, 18 USC 1001. 

  



 

Guidelines for Contract Provisions for Obligated Sponsors and Airport Improvement Program Projects  

Issued on June 19, 2018 Page 36 

A 1 1  D E B A R M E N T  A N D  S U S P E N S I O N   

A 1 1 . 1  S O U R C E  

2 CFR part 180 (Subpart C) 

2 CFR part 1200 

DOT Order 4200.5 

A 1 1 . 2  A P P L I C A B I L I T Y  

The sponsor must verify that the firm or individual that it is entering into a contract with is not presently 

suspended, excluded, or debarred by any Federal department or agency from participating in federally 

assisted projects. The sponsor accomplishes this by:  

1)  Checking the System for Award Management (SAM.gov) to verify that the firm or individual is 

not listed in SAM.gov as being suspended, debarred, or excluded;  

2)  Collecting a certification from the firm or individual that it is not suspended, debarred, or 

excluded; and  

3)  Incorporating a clause in the contract that requires lower tier contracts to verify that no 

suspended, debarred, or excluded firm or individual is included in the project. 

Contract Types – This requirement applies to covered transactions, which are defined in 2 CFR part 180.  

AIP funded contracts are non-procurement transactions, as defined by §180.970. Covered transactions 

include any AIP-funded contract, regardless of tier, that is awarded by a contractor, subcontractor, 

supplier, consultant, or its agent or representative in any transaction, if the amount of the contract is 

expected to equal or exceed $25,000.  This includes contracts associated with land acquisition projects. 

Use of Provision – No mandatory language provided.  The following language is acceptable to the FAA in 

meeting the intent of this requirement.   If the sponsor uses different language, the sponsor’s language 

must fully satisfy the requirements of 2 CFR part 180. For professional service agreements, sponsor may 

substitute bidder/offeror with consultant. 

A 1 1 . 3   S O L I C I T A T I O N  C L A U S E  

A 1 1 . 3 . 1  B i d d e r  o r  O f f e r o r  C e r t i f i c a t i o n  

CERTIFICATION OF OFFERER/BIDDER REGARDING DEBARMENT 

By submitting a bid/proposal under this solicitation, the bidder or offeror certifies that neither it nor its 

principals are presently debarred or suspended by any Federal department or agency from participation 

in this transaction. 



 

Guidelines for Contract Provisions for Obligated Sponsors and Airport Improvement Program Projects  

Issued on June 19, 2018 Page 37 

A 1 1 . 3 . 2  L o w e r  T i e r  C o n t r a c t  C e r t i f i c a t i o n  

CERTIFICATION OF LOWER TIER CONTRACTORS REGARDING DEBARMENT 

The successful bidder, by administering each lower tier subcontract that exceeds $25,000 as a “covered 

transaction”, must verify each lower tier participant of a “covered transaction” under the project is not 

presently debarred or otherwise disqualified from participation in this federally assisted project.  The 

successful bidder will accomplish this by: 

1. Checking the System for Award Management at website:  http://www.sam.gov. 

2. Collecting a certification statement similar to the Certification of Offerer /Bidder Regarding 

Debarment, above. 

3. Inserting a clause or condition in the covered transaction with the lower tier contract. 

If the Federal Aviation Administration later determines that a lower tier participant failed to disclose to 

a higher tier participant that it was excluded or disqualified at the time it entered the covered transaction, 

the FAA may pursue any available remedies, including suspension and debarment of the non-compliant 

participant.  

  



 

Guidelines for Contract Provisions for Obligated Sponsors and Airport Improvement Program Projects  

Issued on June 19, 2018 Page 38 

A 1 2  D I S A D V A N T A G E D  B U S I N E S S  E N T E R P R I S E   

A 1 2 . 1  S O U R C E  

49 CFR part 26 

A 1 2 . 2  A P P L I C A B I L I T Y   

A sponsor that anticipates awarding $250,000 or more in AIP funded prime contracts in a federal fiscal 

year must have an approved Disadvantaged Business Enterprise (DBE) program on file with the FAA 

Office of Civil Rights (§ 26.21).  The approved DBE program will identify a 3-year overall program goal 

that the sponsor bases on the availability of ready, willing, and able DBEs relative to all businesses ready, 

willing, and able to participate on the project (§ 26.45).  

Contract Types – Sponsors with a DBE program on file with the FAA must include the three following 

provisions, if applicable: 

1) Clause in all solicitations for proposals for which a contract goal has been established, 

2) Clause in each prime contract, and 

3) Clause in solicitations that are obtaining DBE participation through race/gender neutral 

means. 

Use of Provision –   

1. Solicitations with a DBE Project Goal – No mandatory language provided.  49 CFR §26.53 

requires a sponsor’s solicitation to address what a contractor must submit on proposed DBE 

participation.  The language of A12.3.1 is acceptable to the FAA in meeting the intent of this 

requirement.  If the sponsor uses different language, the sponsor’s revised language must 

fully satisfy these requirements. The sponsor may require the contractor’s submittal on 

proposed DBE participation either at bid opening as a matter of responsiveness or within 

five days of bid opening as a matter of responsibility.  

2. Solicitations Relying on Race-gender Neutral Means – No mandatory language provided. The 

language of A12.3.2 is acceptable to the FAA in meeting the intent of this requirement.  If 

the sponsor uses different language, the sponsor’s revised language must fully satisfy 

requirements for a sponsor that is not applying a project specific contract goal but is 

covered by a DBE program on file with the FAA. 

3. Contracts Covered by DBE Program – MANDATORY TEXT PROVIDED.  Sponsors must 

incorporate this language if they have a DBE program on file with the FAA.  This includes 

projects where DBE participation is obtained through race-gender neutral means (i.e. no 

project goal). Sections §26.13 and §26.29 establish mandatory language for contractor 

assurance and prompt payment.  The sponsor must not modify the language. 

4. Sponsors that are not required to have a DBE program on file with the FAA are not required 

to include DBE provisions and clauses. 



 

Guidelines for Contract Provisions for Obligated Sponsors and Airport Improvement Program Projects  

Issued on June 19, 2018 Page 39 

A 1 2 . 3  R E Q U I R E D  P R O V I S I O N S  

A 1 2 . 3 . 1  S o l i c i t a t i o n  L a n g u a g e  ( S o l i c i t a t i o n s  t h a t  i n c l u d e  a  

P r o j e c t  G o a l )  

Information Submitted as a matter of bidder responsiveness: 

The Owner’s award of this contract is conditioned upon Bidder or Offeror satisfying the good faith 

effort requirements of 49 CFR §26.53.  

As a condition of bid responsiveness, the Bidder or Offeror must submit the following information with 

its proposal on the forms provided herein:  

1) The names and addresses of Disadvantaged Business Enterprise (DBE) firms that will participate 

in the contract;  

2) A description of the work that each DBE firm will perform;  

3) The dollar amount of the participation of each DBE firm listed under (1)  

4) Written statement from Bidder or Offeror that attests their commitment to use the DBE firm(s) 

listed under (1) to meet the Owner’s project goal; and 

5) If Bidder or Offeror cannot meet the advertised project DBE goal, evidence of good faith efforts 

undertaken by the Bidder or Offeror as described in appendix A to 49 CFR part 26. 

Information submitted as a matter of bidder responsibility: 

The Owner’s award of this contract is conditioned upon Bidder or Offeror satisfying the good faith 

effort requirements of 49 CFR §26.53.  

The successful Bidder or Offeror must provide written confirmation of participation from each of the 

DBE firms the Bidder or Offeror lists in its commitment within five days after bid opening.  

1) The names and addresses of Disadvantaged Business Enterprise (DBE) firms that will participate 

in the contract;  

2) A description of the work that each DBE firm will perform;  

3) The dollar amount of the participation of each DBE firm listed under (1)  

4) Written statement from Bidder or Offeror that attests their commitment to use the DBE firm(s) 

listed under (1) to meet the Owner’s project goal; and 

5) If Bidder or Offeror cannot meet the advertised project DBE goal, evidence of good faith efforts 

undertaken by the Bidder or Offeror as described in appendix A to 49 CFR part 26. 

A 1 2 . 3 . 2  S o l i c i t a t i o n  L a n g u a g e  ( R a c e / G e n d e r  N e u t r a l  

M e a n s )  

The requirements of 49 CFR part 26 apply to this contract. It is the policy of the [Insert Name of 

Owner] to practice nondiscrimination based on race, color, sex, or national origin in the award or 

performance of this contract. The Owner encourages participation by all firms qualifying under this 

solicitation regardless of business size or ownership.  



 

Guidelines for Contract Provisions for Obligated Sponsors and Airport Improvement Program Projects  

Issued on June 19, 2018 Page 40 

A 1 2 . 3 . 3  P r i m e  C o n t r a c t s  ( P r o j e c t s  C o v e r e d  b y  a  D B E  

P r o g r a m )  

DISADVANTAGED BUSINESS ENTERPRISES 

Contract Assurance (§ 26.13) –  

The Contractor or subcontractor shall not discriminate on the basis of race, color, national origin, or sex 

in the performance of this contract. The Contractor shall carry out applicable requirements of 49 CFR 

part 26 in the award and administration of Department of Transportation-assisted contracts. Failure by 

the Contractor to carry out these requirements is a material breach of this contract, which may result in 

the termination of this contract or such other remedy as the Owner deems appropriate, which may 

include, but is not limited to: 

1) Withholding monthly progress payments; 

2) Assessing sanctions; 

3) Liquidated damages; and/or 

4) Disqualifying the Contractor from future bidding as non-responsible. 

Prompt Payment (§26.29) – The prime contractor agrees to pay each subcontractor under this prime 

contract for satisfactory performance of its contract no later than 30 days from the receipt of each 

payment the prime contractor receives from Morrow County. The prime contractor agrees further to 

return retainage payments to each subcontractor within 30 days after the subcontractor’s work is 

satisfactorily completed. Any delay or postponement of payment from the above referenced time frame 

may occur only for good cause following written approval of the Morrow County. This clause applies to 

both DBE and non-DBE subcontractors. 



 

Guidelines for Contract Provisions for Obligated Sponsors and Airport Improvement Program Projects  

Issued on June 19, 2018 Page 41 

A 1 3  D I S T R A C T E D  D R I V I N G  

A 1 3 . 1  S O U R C E  

Executive Order 13513 

DOT Order 3902.10 

A 1 3 . 2  A P P L I C A B I L I T Y  

The FAA encourages recipients of Federal grant funds to adopt and enforce safety policies that decrease 

crashes by distracted drivers, including policies to ban text messaging while driving when performing 

work related to a grant or subgrant.  

Contract Types – Sponsors must insert this provision in all AIP funded contracts that exceed the micro-

purchase threshold of 2 CFR §200.67 (currently set at $3,500). 

Use of Provision – No mandatory text provided.  The following language is acceptable to the FAA in 

meeting the intent of this requirement.  If the sponsor uses different language, the sponsor’s revised 

language must fully satisfy these requirements.  

A 1 3 . 3  C O N T R A C T  C L A U S E  

TEXTING WHEN DRIVING 

In accordance with Executive Order 13513, “Federal Leadership on Reducing Text Messaging While 

Driving”, (10/1/2009) and DOT Order 3902.10, “Text Messaging While Driving”, (12/30/2009), the 

Federal Aviation Administration encourages recipients of Federal grant funds to adopt and enforce 

safety policies that decrease crashes by distracted drivers, including policies to ban text messaging while 

driving when performing work related to a grant or subgrant.  

In support of this initiative, the Owner encourages the Contractor to promote policies and initiatives for 

its employees and other work personnel that decrease crashes by distracted drivers, including policies 

that ban text messaging while driving motor vehicles while performing work activities associated with 

the project.  The Contractor must include the substance of this clause in all sub-tier contracts exceeding 

$3,500 that involve driving a motor vehicle in performance of work activities associated with the 

project. 

 



 

Guidelines for Contract Provisions for Obligated Sponsors and Airport Improvement Program Projects  

Issued on June 19, 2018 Page 42 

A 1 4  E N E R G Y  C O N S E R V A T I O N  R E Q U I R E M E N T S  

A 1 4 . 1  S O U R C E  

2 CFR § 200, Appendix II(H) 

A 1 4 . 2  A P P L I C A B I L I T Y  

The Energy Conservation Requirements of 2 CFR § 200 Appendix II(H) requires this provision on energy 

efficiency. 

Contract Types – The sponsor must include this provision in all AIP funded contracts and lower-tier 

contracts. 

Use of Provision – No mandatory text provided.  The following language is acceptable to the FAA and 

meets the intent of this requirement.   If the sponsor uses different language, the sponsor’s revised 

language must fully satisfy these requirements. Sponsor may substitute “Contractor and subcontractor” 

with “Consultant and sub-consultant” for professional service agreements. 

A 1 4 . 3  C O N T R A C T  C L A U S E  

ENERGY CONSERVATION REQUIREMENTS 

Contractor and Subcontractor agree to comply with mandatory standards and policies relating to energy 

efficiency as contained in the state energy conservation plan issued in compliance with the Energy 

Policy and Conservation Act (42 USC 6201et seq). 

 



 

Guidelines for Contract Provisions for Obligated Sponsors and Airport Improvement Program Projects  

Issued on June 19, 2018 Page 43 

A 1 5  D R U G  F R E E  W O R K P L A C E  R E Q U I R E M E N T S   

A 1 5 . 1  S O U R C E  

49 CFR part 32 

Drug-Free Workplace Act of 1988 (41 U.S.C. 701 et seq., as amended) 

A 1 5 . 2  A P P L I C A B I L I T Y  

The Drug-Free Workplace Act of 1988 requires some Federal contractors and all Federal grantees to 

agree that they will provide drug-free workplaces as a condition of receiving a contract or grant from a 

Federal agency. The Act does not apply to contractors, subcontractors, or subgrantees, although the 

Federal grantees workplace may be where the contractors, subcontractors, or subgrantees are working. 

Contract Types – This provision applies to all AIP funded projects, but not to the contracts between the 

grantee (the sponsor) and a contractor, subcontractors, suppliers, or subgrantees. 

Use of Provision – No mandatory or recommended text provided because the requirements do not 

extend beyond the sponsor level.   

A 1 5 . 3  C O N T R A C T  C L A U S E  

None. 

  



 

Guidelines for Contract Provisions for Obligated Sponsors and Airport Improvement Program Projects  

Issued on June 19, 2018 Page 44 

A 1 6  E Q U A L  E M P L O Y E M E N T  O P P O R T U N I T Y  ( E E O )  

A 1 6 . 1  S O U R C E  

2 CFR 200, Appendix II(C) 

41 CFR § 60-1.4 

41 CFR § 60-4.3 

Executive Order 11246 

A 1 6 . 2  A P P L I C A B I L I T Y   

The purpose of this provision is to provide equal opportunity for all persons, without regard to race, 

color, religion, sex, or national origin who are employed or seeking employment with contractors 

performing under a federally assisted construction contract.  There are two provisions ― a construction 

clause and a specification clause. 

The equal opportunity contract clause must be included in any contract or subcontract when the 

amount exceeds $10,000.  Once the equal opportunity clause is determined to be applicable, the 

contract or subcontract must include the clause for the remainder of the year, regardless of the amount 

or the contract. 

Contract Types – 

Construction – The sponsor must incorporate contract and specification language in all 

construction contracts and subcontracts as required above.  

Equipment – The sponsor must incorporate contract and specification language into all 

equipment contracts as required above that involves installation of equipment onsite (e.g. 

electrical vault equipment).  This provision does not apply to equipment acquisition projects 

where the manufacture of the equipment takes place offsite at the vendor plant (e.g. ARFF and 

SRE vehicles). 

Professional Services – The sponsor must include contract and specification language into all 

professional service agreements as required above.  

Property – The sponsor must include contract and specification language into all land acquisition 

projects that include work that qualifies as construction work as defined by 41 CFR part 60 as 

required above. An example is installation of boundary fencing. 

Use of Provision – MANDATORY TEXT.  41 CFR § 60-1.4 provides the mandatory contract language. 41 

CFR § 60-4.3 provides the mandatory specification language. The sponsor must incorporate these 

clauses without modification. 



 

Guidelines for Contract Provisions for Obligated Sponsors and Airport Improvement Program Projects  

Issued on June 19, 2018 Page 45 

A 1 6 . 3  M A N D A T O R Y  C O N T R A C T  C L A U S E  

A 1 6 . 3 . 1  E E O  C o n t r a c t  C l a u s e  

EQUAL OPPORTUNITY CLAUSE 

During the performance of this contract, the Contractor agrees as follows: 

(1) The Contractor will not discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of 

race, color, religion, sex, or national origin. The Contractor will take affirmative action to ensure that 

applicants are employed, and that employees are treated during employment, without regard to their 

race, color, religion, sex, sexual orientation, gender identify, or national origin. Such action shall 

include, but not be limited to, the following: employment, upgrading, demotion, or transfer; recruitment 

or recruitment advertising; layoff, or termination; rates of pay or other forms of compensation; and 

selection for training, including apprenticeship. The Contractor agrees to post in conspicuous places, 

available to employees and applicants for employment, notices to be provided setting forth the 

provisions of this nondiscrimination clause. 

(2) The Contractor will, in all solicitations or advertisements for employees placed by or on behalf of 

the Contractor, state that all qualified applicants will receive considerations for employment without 

regard to race, color, religion, sex, or national origin. 

(3) The Contractor will send to each labor union or representative of workers with which it has a 

collective bargaining agreement or other contract or understanding, a notice to be provided advising the 

said labor union or workers’ representatives of the Contractor’s commitments under this section and 

shall post copies of the notice in conspicuous places available to employees and applicants for 

employment. 

(4) The Contractor will comply with all provisions of Executive Order 11246 of September 24, 1965, 

and of the rules, regulations, and relevant orders of the Secretary of Labor. 

(5) The Contractor will furnish all information and reports required by Executive Order 11246 of 

September 24, 1965, and by rules, regulations, and orders of the Secretary of Labor, or pursuant thereto, 

and will permit access to his books, records, and accounts by the administering agency and the Secretary 

of Labor for purposes of investigation to ascertain compliance with such rules, regulations, and orders. 

(6) In the event of the Contractor’s noncompliance with the nondiscrimination clauses of this contract or 

with any of the said rules, regulations, or orders, this contract may be canceled, terminated, or 

suspended in whole or in part and the Contractor may be declared ineligible for further Government 

contracts or federally assisted construction contracts in accordance with procedures authorized in 

Executive Order 11246 of September 24, 1965, and such other sanctions may be imposed and remedies 

invoked as provided in Executive Order 11246 of September 24, 1965, or by rule, regulation, or order of 

the Secretary of Labor, or as otherwise provided by law. 

(7) The Contractor will include the portion of the sentence immediately preceding paragraph (1) and the 

provisions of paragraphs (1) through (7) in every subcontract or purchase order unless exempted by 

rules, regulations, or orders of the Secretary of Labor issued pursuant to section 204 of Executive Order 

11246 of September 24, 1965, so that such provisions will be binding upon each subcontractor or 

vendor. The Contractor will take such action with respect to any subcontract or purchase order as the 



 

Guidelines for Contract Provisions for Obligated Sponsors and Airport Improvement Program Projects  

Issued on June 19, 2018 Page 46 

administering agency may direct as a means of enforcing such provisions, including sanctions for 

noncompliance: Provided, however, that in the event a contractor becomes involved in, or is threatened 

with, litigation with a subcontractor or vendor as a result of such direction by the administering agency 

the Contractor may request the United States to enter into such litigation to protect the interests of the 

United States. 

A 1 6 . 3 . 2  E E O  S p e c i f i c a t i o n  

STANDARD FEDERAL EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY  

CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT SPECIFICATIONS 

1. As used in these specifications:  

a.  “Covered area” means the geographical area described in the solicitation from which this 

contract resulted; 

b.  “Director” means Director, Office of Federal Contract Compliance Programs (OFCCP), U.S. 

Department of Labor, or any person to whom the Director delegates authority; 

c.  “Employer identification number” means the Federal social security number used on the 

Employer’s Quarterly Federal Tax Return, U.S. Treasury Department Form 941; 

d.  “Minority” includes:  

(1)  Black (all persons having origins in any of the Black African racial groups not of 

Hispanic origin); 

(2)  Hispanic (all persons of Mexican, Puerto Rican, Cuban, Central or South American, or 

other Spanish culture or origin regardless of race); 

(3)  Asian and Pacific Islander (all persons having origins in any of the original peoples of the 

Far East, Southeast Asia, the Indian Subcontinent, or the Pacific Islands); and 

(4)  American Indian or Alaskan native (all persons having origins in any of the original 

peoples of North America and maintaining identifiable tribal affiliations through membership 

and participation or community identification). 

2. Whenever the Contractor, or any subcontractor at any tier, subcontracts a portion of the work 

involving any construction trade, it shall physically include in each subcontract in excess of $10,000 the 

provisions of these specifications and the Notice which contains the applicable goals for minority and 

female participation and which is set forth in the solicitations from which this contract resulted. 

3. If the Contractor is participating (pursuant to 41 CFR part 60-4.5) in a Hometown Plan approved by 

the U.S. Department of Labor in the covered area either individually or through an association, its 

affirmative action obligations on all work in the Plan area (including goals and timetables) shall be in 

accordance with that Plan for those trades which have unions participating in the Plan. Contractors shall 

be able to demonstrate their participation in and compliance with the provisions of any such Hometown 

Plan.  Each contractor or subcontractor participating in an approved plan is individually required to 

comply with its obligations under the EEO clause and to make a good faith effort to achieve each goal 

under the Plan in each trade in which it has employees.  The overall good faith performance by other 



 

Guidelines for Contract Provisions for Obligated Sponsors and Airport Improvement Program Projects  

Issued on June 19, 2018 Page 47 

contractors or subcontractors toward a goal in an approved Plan does not excuse any covered 

contractor’s or subcontractor’s failure to take good faith efforts to achieve the Plan goals and timetables. 

4. The Contractor shall implement the specific affirmative action standards provided in paragraphs 7a 

through 7p of these specifications.  The goals set forth in the solicitation from which this contract 

resulted are expressed as percentages of the total hours of employment and training of minority and 

female utilization the Contractor should reasonably be able to achieve in each construction trade in 

which it has employees in the covered area. Covered construction contractors performing construction 

work in a geographical area where they do not have a Federal or federally assisted construction contract 

shall apply the minority and female goals established for the geographical area where the work is being 

performed.  Goals are published periodically in the Federal Register in notice form, and such notices 

may be obtained from any Office of Federal Contract Compliance Programs office or from Federal 

procurement contracting officers.  The Contractor is expected to make substantially uniform progress in 

meeting its goals in each craft during the period specified. 

5. Neither the provisions of any collective bargaining agreement nor the failure by a union with whom 

the Contractor has a collective bargaining agreement to refer either minorities or women shall excuse 

the Contractor’s obligations under these specifications, Executive Order 11246, or the regulations 

promulgated pursuant thereto. 

6. In order for the non-working training hours of apprentices and trainees to be counted in meeting the 

goals, such apprentices and trainees shall be employed by the Contractor during the training period and 

the Contractor shall have made a commitment to employ the apprentices and trainees at the completion 

of their training, subject to the availability of employment opportunities.  Trainees shall be trained 

pursuant to training programs approved by the U.S. Department of Labor. 

7. The Contractor shall take specific affirmative actions to ensure equal employment opportunity.  The 

evaluation of the Contractor’s compliance with these specifications shall be based upon its effort to 

achieve maximum results from its actions.  The Contractor shall document these efforts fully and shall 

implement affirmative action steps at least as extensive as the following:  

a. Ensure and maintain a working environment free of harassment, intimidation, and coercion at all 

sites, and in all facilities at which the Contractor’s employees are assigned to work.  The Contractor, 

where possible, will assign two or more women to each construction project. The Contractor shall 

specifically ensure that all foremen, superintendents, and other onsite supervisory personnel are 

aware of and carry out the Contractor’s obligation to maintain such a working environment, with 

specific attention to minority or female individuals working at such sites or in such facilities. 

b. Establish and maintain a current list of minority and female recruitment sources, provide written 

notification to minority and female recruitment sources and to community organizations when the 

Contractor or its unions have employment opportunities available, and maintain a record of the 

organizations’ responses. 

c. Maintain a current file of the names, addresses, and telephone numbers of each minority and 

female off-the-street applicant and minority or female referral from a union, a recruitment source, or 

community organization and of what action was taken with respect to each such individual.  If such 

individual was sent to the union hiring hall for referral and was not referred back to the Contractor 



 

Guidelines for Contract Provisions for Obligated Sponsors and Airport Improvement Program Projects  

Issued on June 19, 2018 Page 48 

by the union or, if referred, not employed by the Contractor, this shall be documented in the file 

with the reason therefore along with whatever additional actions the Contractor may have taken. 

d. Provide immediate written notification to the Director when the union or unions with which the 

Contractor has a collective bargaining agreement has not referred to the Contractor a minority 

person or female sent by the Contractor, or when the Contractor has other information that the union 

referral process has impeded the Contractor’s efforts to meet its obligations. 

e. Develop on-the-job training opportunities and/or participate in training programs for the area 

which expressly include minorities and women, including upgrading programs and apprenticeship 

and trainee programs relevant to the Contractor’s employment needs, especially those programs 

funded or approved by the Department of Labor.  The Contractor shall provide notice of these 

programs to the sources compiled under 7b above. 

f.  Disseminate the Contractor’s EEO policy by providing notice of the policy to unions and training 

programs and requesting their cooperation in assisting the Contractor in meeting its EEO 

obligations; by including it in any policy manual and collective bargaining agreement; by 

publicizing it in the company newspaper, annual report, etc.; by specific review of the policy with 

all management personnel and with all minority and female employees at least once a year; and by 

posting the company EEO policy on bulletin boards accessible to all employees at each location 

where construction work is performed. 

g. Review, at least annually, the company’s EEO policy and affirmative action obligations under 

these specifications with all employees having any responsibility for hiring, assignment, layoff, 

termination, or other employment decisions, including specific review of these items, with onsite 

supervisory personnel such superintendents, general foremen, etc., prior to the initiation of 

construction work at any job site.  A written record shall be made and maintained identifying the 

time and place of these meetings, persons attending, subject matter discussed, and disposition of the 

subject matter. 

h. Disseminate the Contractor’s EEO policy externally by including it in any advertising in the news 

media, specifically including minority and female news media, and providing written notification to 

and discussing the Contractor’s EEO policy with other contractors and subcontractors with whom 

the Contractor does or anticipates doing business. 

i. Direct its recruitment efforts, both oral and written, to minority, female, and community 

organizations, to schools with minority and female students; and to minority and female recruitment 

and training organizations serving the Contractor’s recruitment area and employment needs.  Not 

later than one month prior to the date for the acceptance of applications for apprenticeship or other 

training by any recruitment source, the Contractor shall send written notification to organizations, 

such as the above, describing the openings, screening procedures, and tests to be used in the 

selection process. 

j. Encourage present minority and female employees to recruit other minority persons and women 

and, where reasonable, provide after school, summer, and vacation employment to minority and 

female youth both on the site and in other areas of a contractor’s workforce. 



 

Guidelines for Contract Provisions for Obligated Sponsors and Airport Improvement Program Projects  

Issued on June 19, 2018 Page 49 

k. Validate all tests and other selection requirements where there is an obligation to do so under 41 

CFR part 60-3. 

l. Conduct, at least annually, an inventory and evaluation at least of all minority and female 

personnel, for promotional opportunities and encourage these employees to seek or to prepare for, 

through appropriate training, etc., such opportunities. 

m. Ensure that seniority practices, job classifications, work assignments, and other personnel 

practices do not have a discriminatory effect by continually monitoring all personnel and 

employment related activities to ensure that the EEO policy and the Contractor’s obligations under 

these specifications are being carried out. 

n. Ensure that all facilities and company activities are non-segregated except that separate or single 

user toilet and necessary changing facilities shall be provided to assure privacy between the sexes. 

o. Document and maintain a record of all solicitations of offers for subcontracts from minority and 

female construction contractors and suppliers, including circulation of solicitations to minority and 

female contractor associations and other business associations.  

p. Conduct a review, at least annually, of all supervisor’s adherence to and performance under the 

Contractor’s EEO policies and affirmative action obligations. 

8. Contractors are encouraged to participate in voluntary associations, which assist in fulfilling one or 

more of their affirmative action obligations (7a through 7p).  The efforts of a contractor association, 

joint contractor union, contractor community, or other similar groups of which the Contractor is a 

member and participant may be asserted as fulfilling any one or more of its obligations under 7a through 

7p of these specifications provided that the Contractor actively participates in the group, makes every 

effort to assure that the group has a positive impact on the employment of minorities and women in the 

industry, ensures that the concrete benefits of the program are reflected in the Contractor’s minority and 

female workforce participation, makes a good faith effort to meet its individual goals and timetables, 

and can provide access to documentation which demonstrates the effectiveness of actions taken on 

behalf of the Contractor.  The obligation to comply, however, is the Contractor’s and failure of such a 

group to fulfill an obligation shall not be a defense for the Contractor’s noncompliance. 

9.  A single goal for minorities and a separate single goal for women have been established.  The 

Contractor, however, is required to provide equal employment opportunity and to take affirmative 

action for all minority groups, both male and female, and all women, both minority and non-minority.  

Consequently, if the particular group is employed in a substantially disparate manner (for example, even 

though the Contractor has achieved its goals for women generally), the Contractor may be in violation 

of the Executive Order if a specific minority group of women is underutilized. 

10. The Contractor shall not use the goals and timetables or affirmative action standards to discriminate 

against any person because of race, color, religion, sex, or national origin. 

11.  The Contractor shall not enter into any subcontract with any person or firm debarred from 

Government contracts pursuant to Executive Order 11246. 

12.  The Contractor shall carry out such sanctions and penalties for violation of these specifications and 

of the Equal Opportunity Clause, including suspension, termination, and cancellation of existing 



 

Guidelines for Contract Provisions for Obligated Sponsors and Airport Improvement Program Projects  

Issued on June 19, 2018 Page 50 

subcontracts as may be imposed or ordered pursuant to Executive Order 11246, as amended, and its 

implementing regulations, by the Office of Federal Contract Compliance Programs. Any contractor who 

fails to carry out such sanctions and penalties shall be in violation of these specifications and Executive 

Order 11246, as amended. 

13. The Contractor, in fulfilling its obligations under these specifications, shall implement specific 

affirmative action steps, at least as extensive as those standards prescribed in paragraph 7 of these 

specifications, so as to achieve maximum results from its efforts to ensure equal employment 

opportunity. If the Contractor fails to comply with the requirements of the Executive Order, the 

implementing regulations, or these specifications, the Director shall proceed in accordance with 41 CFR 

part 60-4.8. 

14. The Contractor shall designate a responsible official to monitor all employment related activity to 

ensure that the company EEO policy is being carried out, to submit reports relating to the provisions 

hereof as may be required by the Government, and to keep records.  Records shall at least include for 

each employee, the name, address, telephone number, construction trade, union affiliation if any, 

employee identification number when assigned, social security number, race, sex, status (e.g., mechanic, 

apprentice, trainee, helper, or laborer), dates of changes in status, hours worked per week in the 

indicated trade, rate of pay, and locations at which the work was performed.  Records shall be 

maintained in an easily understandable and retrievable form; however, to the degree that existing 

records satisfy this requirement, contractors shall not be required to maintain separate records. 

15.  Nothing herein provided shall be construed as a limitation upon the application of other laws which 

establish different standards of compliance or upon the application of requirements for the hiring of 

local or other area residents (e.g. those under the Public Works Employment Act of 1977 and the 

Community Development Block Grant Program).



 

Guidelines for Contract Provisions for Obligated Sponsors and Airport Improvement Program Projects  

Issued on June 19, 2018 Page 51 

A 1 7  F E D E R A L  F A I R  L A B O R  S T A N D A R D S  A C T  ( F E D E R A L  M I N I M U M  W A G E )  

A 1 7 . 1  S O U R C E  

29 USC § 201, et seq 

A 1 7 . 2  A P P L I C A B I L I T Y   

The U.S. Department of Labor (DOL) Wage and Hour Division administers the Fair Labor Standards Act 

(FLSA).  This act prescribes federal standards for basic minimum wage, overtime pay, record keeping, 

and child labor standards.  

Contract Types – Per the Department of Labor, all employees of certain enterprises having workers 

engaged in interstate commerce; producing goods for interstate commerce; or handling, selling, or 

otherwise working on goods or materials that have been moved in or produced for such commerce by 

any person are covered by the FLSA. 

All consultants, sub-consultants, contractors, and subcontractors employed under this federally assisted 

project must comply with the FLSA. 

Professional Services – 29 CFR § 213 exempts employees in a bona fide executive, administrative 

or professional capacity.  Because professional firms employ individuals that are not covered by 

this exemption, the sponsor’s agreement with a professional services firm must include the FLSA 

provision. 

Use of Provision – No mandatory text provided.  The following language is acceptable to the FAA and 

meets the intent of this requirement. If the sponsor uses different language, the sponsor’s language 

must fully satisfy the requirements of 29 USC § 201.The sponsor must select contractor or consultant, as 

appropriate for the contract.  

A 1 7 . 3  S O L I C I T A T I O N  C L A U S E  

All contracts and subcontracts that result from this solicitation incorporate by reference the provisions of 

29 CFR part 201, the Federal Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA), with the same force and effect as if 

given in full text.  The FLSA sets minimum wage, overtime pay, recordkeeping, and child labor 

standards for full and part-time workers. 

The [Contractor | Consultant] has full responsibility to monitor compliance to the referenced statute or 

regulation.  The [Contractor | Consultant] must address any claims or disputes that arise from this 

requirement directly with the U.S. Department of Labor – Wage and Hour Division. 



 

Guidelines for Contract Provisions for Obligated Sponsors and Airport Improvement Program Projects  

Issued on June 19, 2018 Page 52 

A 1 8  L O B B Y I N G  A N D  I N F L U E N C I N G  F E D E R A L  E M P L O Y E E S  

A 1 8 . 1  S O U R C E  

31 USC § 1352 – Byrd Anti-Lobbying Amendment 

2 CFR part 200, Appendix II(J) 

49 CFR part 20, Appendix A 

A 1 8 . 2  A P P L I C A B I L I T Y  

Consultants and contractors that apply or bid for an award of $100,000 or more must certify that it will 

not and has not used Federal appropriated funds to pay any person or organization for influencing or 

attempting to influence an officer or employee of any agency, a member of Congress, officer or 

employee of Congress, or an employee of a member of Congress in connection with obtaining any 

Federal contract, grant, or another award covered by 31 USC 1352. Each tier must also disclose any 

lobbying with non-Federal funds that takes place in connection with obtaining any Federal award. 

Contract Types – The sponsor must incorporate this provision into all contracts exceeding $100,000. 

Use of Provision – MANDATORY TEXT. Appendix A to 49 CFR Part 20 prescribes language the sponsor 

must use.  The sponsor must incorporate this provision without modification. 

A 1 8 . 3  C O N T R A C T  C L A U S E  

CERTIFICATION REGARDING LOBBYING 

The Bidder or Offeror certifies by signing and submitting this bid or proposal, to the best of his or her 

knowledge and belief, that: 

(1) No Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid, by or on behalf of the Bidder or 

Offeror, to any person for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of an 

agency, a Member of Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a 

Member of Congress in connection with the awarding of any Federal contract, the making of 

any Federal grant, the making of any Federal loan, the entering into of any cooperative 

agreement, and the extension, continuation, renewal, amendment, or modification of any 

Federal contract, grant, loan, or cooperative agreement.  

(2) If any funds other than Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid to any person 

for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any agency, a Member of 

Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a Member of Congress in 

connection with this Federal contract, grant, loan, or cooperative agreement, the undersigned 

shall complete and submit Standard Form-LLL, “Disclosure Form to Report Lobbying,” in 

accordance with its instructions.  

(3) The undersigned shall require that the language of this certification be included in the award 

documents for all sub-awards at all tiers (including subcontracts, subgrants, and contracts under 



 

Guidelines for Contract Provisions for Obligated Sponsors and Airport Improvement Program Projects  

Issued on June 19, 2018 Page 53 

grants, loans, and cooperative agreements) and that all sub-recipients shall certify and disclose 

accordingly. 

This certification is a material representation of fact upon which reliance was placed when this 

transaction was made or entered into. Submission of this certification is a prerequisite for making or 

entering into this transaction imposed by section 1352, title 31, U.S. Code. Any person who fails to file 

the required certification shall be subject to a civil penalty of not less than $10,000 and not more than 

$100,000 for each such failure. 

  



 

Guidelines for Contract Provisions for Obligated Sponsors and Airport Improvement Program Projects  

Issued on June 19, 2018 Page 54 

A 1 9  P R O H I B I T I O N  o f  S E G R E G A T E D  F A C I L I T I E S   

A 1 9 . 1  S O U R C E  

41 CFR § 60  

A 1 9 . 2  A P P L I C A B I L I T Y  

The contractor must comply with the requirements of the EEO clause by ensuring that facilities they 

provide for employees are free of segregation on the basis of race, color, religion, sex, sexual 

orientation, gender identity, or national origin.  This clause must be included in all contracts that include 

the equal opportunity clause, regardless of the amount of the contract.  

 

Contract Types – AIP sponsors must incorporate the Prohibition of Segregated Facilities clause in any 

contract containing the Equal Employment Opportunity clause of 41 CFR §60.1. This obligation flows 

down to subcontract and sub-tier purchase orders containing the Equal Employment Opportunity 

clause. 

Construction – Construction work means construction, rehabilitation, alteration, conversion, 

extension, demolition or repair of buildings, highways, or other changes or improvements to 

real property, including facilities providing utility services. The term also includes the 

supervision, inspection, and other onsite functions incidental to the actual construction. 

 

Equipment – On site installation of equipment such as airfield lighting control equipment meets 

the definition of construction and thus this provision would apply.  This provision does not apply 

to equipment projects involving manufacture of the item at a vendor’s manufacturing plant.  An 

example would be the manufacture of a SRE or ARFF vehicle. 

 

Professional Services – Professional services that include tasks that qualify as construction work 

as defined by 41 CFR part 60. Examples include the installation of noise monitoring equipment. 

Property/Land – Land acquisition contracts that include tasks that qualify as construction work 

as defined by 41 CFR part 60. Examples include demolition of structures or installation of 

boundary fencing. 

Use of Provision – No mandatory text provided.  The following language is acceptable to the FAA and 

meets the intent of this requirement.  If the sponsor uses different language, the sponsor’s language 

must fully satisfy the requirements of 41 CFR § 60. 

A 1 9 . 3  C O N T R A C T  C L A U S E  

PROHIBITION OF SEGREGATED FACILITIES 

(a) The Contractor agrees that it does not and will not maintain or provide for its employees any 

segregated facilities at any of its establishments, and that it does not and will not permit its employees to 

perform their services at any location under its control where segregated facilities are maintained. The 

Contractor agrees that a breach of this clause is a violation of the Equal Employment Opportunity clause 

in this contract.  



 

Guidelines for Contract Provisions for Obligated Sponsors and Airport Improvement Program Projects  

Issued on June 19, 2018 Page 55 

(b) “Segregated facilities,” as used in this clause, means any waiting rooms, work areas, rest rooms and 

wash rooms, restaurants and other eating areas, time clocks, locker rooms and other storage or dressing 

areas, parking lots, drinking fountains, recreation or entertainment areas, transportation, and housing 

facilities provided for employees that are segregated by explicit directive or are in fact segregated on the 

basis of race, color, religion, sex, or national origin because of written or oral policies or employee 

custom. The term does not include separate or single-user rest rooms or necessary dressing or sleeping 

areas provided to assure privacy between the sexes. 

(c) The Contractor shall include this clause in every subcontract and purchase order that is subject to the 

Equal Employment Opportunity clause of this contract. 



 

Guidelines for Contract Provisions for Obligated Sponsors and Airport Improvement Program Projects  

Issued on June 19, 2018 Page 56 

A 2 0  O C C U P A T I O N A L  S A F E T Y  A N D  H E A L T H  A C T  O F  1 9 7 0  

A 2 0 . 1  S O U R C E  

29 CFR part 1910 

A 2 0 . 2  A P P L I C A B I L I T Y  

Contract Types – All contracts and subcontracts must comply with the Occupational Safety and Health 

Act of 1970 (OSH). The U.S. Department of Labor Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA) 

oversees the workplace health and safety standards wage provisions from OSH. 

Use of Provision – No mandatory text provided. The following language is acceptable to the FAA and 

meets the intent of this requirement.  If the sponsor uses different language, the sponsor’s language 

must fully satisfy the requirements of 20 CFR part 1910. 

A 2 0 . 3  C O N T R A C T  C L A U S E  

All contracts and subcontracts that result from this solicitation incorporate by reference the requirements 

of 29 CFR Part 1910 with the same force and effect as if given in full text.  The employer must provide 

a work environment that is free from recognized hazards that may cause death or serious physical harm 

to the employee. The employer retains full responsibility to monitor its compliance and their 

subcontractor’s compliance with the applicable requirements of the Occupational Safety and Health Act 

of 1970 (20 CFR Part 1910).  The employer must address any claims or disputes that pertain to a 

referenced requirement directly with the U.S. Department of Labor – Occupational Safety and Health 

Administration.  

  



 

Guidelines for Contract Provisions for Obligated Sponsors and Airport Improvement Program Projects  

Issued on June 19, 2018 Page 57 

A 2 1  P R O C U R E M E N T  O F  R E C O V E R E D  M A T E R I A L S  

A 2 1 . 1  S O U R C E   

2 CFR § 200.322 

40 CFR part 247 

Solid Waste Disposal Act 

A 2 1 . 2  A P P L I C A B I L I T Y  

Sponsors of AIP funded development and equipment projects must comply with Section 6002 of the 

Solid Waste Disposal Act, as amended by the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act.  Section 6002 

emphasizes maximizing energy and resource recovery through use of affirmative procurement actions 

for recovered materials identified in the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) guidelines codified at 

40 CFR part 247. When acquiring items designated in the guidelines, the sponsor must procure items 

that contain the highest percentage of recovered materials practicable, consistent with maintaining a 

satisfactory level of competition. 

Contract Types – This provision applies to any contracts that include procurement of products 

designated in subpart B of 40 CFR part 247 where the purchase price of the item exceeds $10,000 or the 

value of the quantity acquired by the preceding fiscal year exceeded $10,000.  

Construction and Equipment – Include this provision in all construction and equipment projects. 

Professional Services and Property – Include this provision if the agreement includes 

procurement of a product that exceeds $10,000. 

Use of Provision – No mandatory text provided.  The following language is acceptable to the FAA and 

meets the intent of this requirement.  If the sponsor uses different language, the sponsor’s language 

must fully satisfy the requirements of 2 CFR § 200. 

A 2 1 . 3  C O N T R A C T  C L A U S E  

PROCUREMENT OF RECOVERED MATERIALS 

Contractor and subcontractor agree to comply with Section 6002 of the Solid Waste Disposal Act, as 

amended by the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, and the regulatory provisions of 40 CFR Part 

247.  In the performance of this contract and to the extent practicable, the Contractor and subcontractors 

are to use products containing the highest percentage of recovered materials for items designated by the 

Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) under 40 CFR Part 247 whenever: 

 The contract requires procurement of $10,000 or more of a designated item during the fiscal 

year; or 

 The contractor has procured $10,000 or more of a designated item using Federal funding during 

the previous fiscal year. 



 

Guidelines for Contract Provisions for Obligated Sponsors and Airport Improvement Program Projects  

Issued on June 19, 2018 Page 58 

The list of EPA-designated items is available at www.epa.gov/smm/comprehensive-procurement-

guidelines-construction-products. 

Section 6002(c) establishes exceptions to the preference for recovery of EPA-designated products if the 

contractor can demonstrate the item is: 

a)  Not reasonably available within a timeframe providing for compliance with the contract 

performance schedule;  

b) Fails to meet reasonable contract performance requirements; or  

c)  Is only available at an unreasonable price.  

  



 

Guidelines for Contract Provisions for Obligated Sponsors and Airport Improvement Program Projects  

Issued on June 19, 2018 Page 59 

A 2 2  R I G H T  T O  I N V E N T I O N S  

A 2 2 . 1  S O U R C E  

2 CFR § 200, Appendix II(F) 

37 CFR §401 

A 2 2 . 2  A P P L I C A B I L I T Y  

Contract Types – This provision applies to all contracts and subcontracts with small business firms or 

nonprofit organizations that include performance of experimental, developmental, or research work.  

This clause is not applicable to construction, equipment, or professional service contracts unless the 

contract includes experimental, developmental, or research work.  

Use of Provision – No mandatory text provided. The following language is acceptable to the FAA and 

meets the intent of this requirement.  If the sponsor uses different language, the sponsor’s language 

must fully satisfy the requirements of Appendix II to 2 CFR part 200. 

A 2 2 . 3  C O N T R A C T  C L A U S E  

RIGHTS TO INVENTIONS 

Contracts or agreements that include the performance of experimental, developmental, or research work 

must provide for the rights of the Federal Government and the Owner in any resulting invention as 

established by 37 CFR part 401, Rights to Inventions Made by Non-profit Organizations and Small 

Business Firms under Government Grants, Contracts, and Cooperative Agreements.  This contract 

incorporates by reference the patent and inventions rights as specified within 37 CFR §401.14.  

Contractor must include this requirement in all sub-tier contracts involving experimental, 

developmental, or research work. 

 

 

  



 

Guidelines for Contract Provisions for Obligated Sponsors and Airport Improvement Program Projects  

Issued on June 19, 2018 Page 60 

A 2 3  S E I S M I C  S A F E T Y   

A 2 3 . 1  S O U R C E  

49 CFR part 41 

A 2 3 . 2  A P P L I C A B I L I T Y  

Contract Types – This provision applies to construction of new buildings and additions to existing 

buildings financed in whole or in part through the Airport Improvement Program.  

Professional Services– Sponsor must incorporate this clause in any contract involved in the 

construction of new buildings or structural addition to existing buildings.  

Construction – Sponsor must incorporate this clause in any contract involved in the construction 

of new buildings or structural addition to existing buildings. 

Equipment – Sponsor must include the construction provision if the project involves 

construction or structural addition to a building such as an electrical vault project to 

accommodate or install equipment. 

Land – This provision will not typically apply to a property/land project. 

Use of Provision – No mandatory text provided.  The following language is acceptable to the FAA and 

meets the intent of this requirement.  If the sponsor uses different language, the sponsor’s language 

must fully satisfy the requirements of 49 CFR part 41.  

A 2 3 . 3  C O N T R A C T  C L A U S E  

A 2 3 . 3 . 1  P r o f e s s i o n a l  S e r v i c e  A g r e e m e n t s  f o r  D e s i g n  

SEISMIC SAFETY 

In the performance of design services, the Consultant agrees to furnish a building design and associated 

construction specification that conform to a building code standard that provides a level of seismic 

safety substantially equivalent to standards as established by the National Earthquake Hazards 

Reduction Program (NEHRP).  Local building codes that model their building code after the current 

version of the International Building Code (IBC) meet the NEHRP equivalency level for seismic safety.  

At the conclusion of the design services, the Consultant agrees to furnish the Owner a “certification of 

compliance” that attests conformance of the building design and the construction specifications with the 

seismic standards of NEHRP or an equivalent building code.  

A 2 3 . 3 . 2  C o n s t r u c t i o n  C o n t r a c t s  

SEISMIC SAFETY 

The Contractor agrees to ensure that all work performed under this contract, including work performed 

by subcontractors, conforms to a building code standard that provides a level of seismic safety 

substantially equivalent to standards established by the National Earthquake Hazards Reduction 



 

Guidelines for Contract Provisions for Obligated Sponsors and Airport Improvement Program Projects  

Issued on June 19, 2018 Page 61 

Program (NEHRP).  Local building codes that model their code after the current version of the 

International Building Code (IBC) meet the NEHRP equivalency level for seismic safety.  



 

Guidelines for Contract Provisions for Obligated Sponsors and Airport Improvement Program Projects  

Issued on June 19, 2018 Page 62 

A 2 4  T A X  D E L I N Q U E N C Y  A N D  F E L O N Y  C O N V I C T I O N S   

A 2 4 . 1  S O U R C E  

Sections 415 and 416 of Title IV, Division L of the Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2014 (Pub. L. 113-76), 

and similar provisions in subsequent appropriations acts. 

DOT Order 4200.6 - Requirements for Procurement and Non-Procurement Regarding Tax Delinquency 

and Felony Convictions 

A 2 4 . 2  A P P L I C A B I L I T Y  

The sponsor must ensure that no funding goes to any contractor who: 

• Has been convicted of a Federal felony within the last 24 months; or  

• Has any outstanding tax liability for which all judicial and administrative remedies have lapsed or 

been exhausted. 

Contract Types – This provision applies to all contracts funded in whole or part with AIP.  

Use of Provision – The following language is acceptable to the FAA and meets the intent of this 

requirement.  If the sponsor uses different language, the sponsor’s language must fully satisfy the 

requirements of DOT Order 4200.6. 

A 2 4 . 3  C O N T R A C T  C L A U S E  

CERTIFICATION OF OFFERER/BIDDER REGARDING TAX DELINQUENCY AND 

FELONY CONVICTIONS 

The applicant must complete the following two certification statements. The applicant must indicate its 

current status as it relates to tax delinquency and felony conviction by inserting a checkmark () in the 

space following the applicable response. The applicant agrees that, if awarded a contract resulting from 

this solicitation, it will incorporate this provision for certification in all lower tier subcontracts. 

Certifications 

 The applicant represents that it is (  ) is not (  ) a corporation that has any unpaid Federal tax 

liability that has been assessed, for which all judicial and administrative remedies have been 

exhausted or have lapsed, and that is not being paid in a timely manner pursuant to an agreement 

with the authority responsible for collecting the tax liability. 

 The applicant represents that it is (  ) is not (  ) is not a corporation that was  convicted of a 

criminal violation under any Federal law within the preceding 24 months. 

Note 

If an applicant responds in the affirmative to either of the above representations, the applicant is 

ineligible to receive an award unless the sponsor has received notification from the agency suspension 

and debarment official (SDO) that the SDO has considered suspension or debarment and determined 

that further action is not required to protect the Government’s interests.  The applicant therefore must 

provide information to the owner about its tax liability or conviction to the Owner, who will then notify 



 

Guidelines for Contract Provisions for Obligated Sponsors and Airport Improvement Program Projects  

Issued on June 19, 2018 Page 63 

the FAA Airports District Office, which will then notify the agency’s SDO to facilitate completion of 

the required considerations before award decisions are made. 

Term Definitions 

Felony conviction: Felony conviction means a conviction within the preceding twentyfour 
(24) months of a felony criminal violation under any Federal law and includes 
conviction of an offense defined in a section of the U.S. code that specifically classifies 
the offense as a felony and conviction of an offense that is classified as a felony under 18 
U.S.C. § 3559. 

Tax Delinquency: A tax delinquency is any unpaid Federal tax liability that has been assessed, 
for which all judicial and administrative remedies have been exhausted, or have lapsed, and that 
is not being paid in a timely manner pursuant to an agreement with the authority responsible for 
collecting the tax liability. 

  



 

Guidelines for Contract Provisions for Obligated Sponsors and Airport Improvement Program Projects  

Issued on June 19, 2018 Page 64 

A 2 5  T E R M I N A T I O N  O F  C O N T R A C T  

A 2 5 . 1  S O U R C E  

2 CFR § 200 Appendix II(B) 

FAA Advisory Circular 150/5370-10, Section 80-09  

A 2 5 . 2  A P P L I C A B I L I T Y  

Contract Types – All contracts and subcontracts in excess of $10,000 must address termination for cause 

and termination for convenience by the sponsor. The provision must address the manner (i.e. notice, 

opportunity to cure, and effective date) by which the sponsor’s contract will be affected and the basis 

for settlement (i.e. incurred expenses, completed work, profit, etc.). 

Use of Provision – 

Termination for Default – MANDATORY TEXT.  Section 80-09 of FAA Advisory Circular 150/5370-

10 establishes standard language for Termination for Default under a construction contract.  The 

sponsor must not make any changes to this standard language. 

Termination for Convenience – No mandatory text provided.  The sponsor must include a clause 

for termination for convenience. The following language is acceptable to the FAA and meets the 

intent of this requirement.   If the sponsor uses different language, the sponsor’s language must 

fully satisfy the requirements of Appendix II to 2 CFR part 200. 

Equipment, Professional Services, and Property – No mandatory text provided. The sponsor may 

use their established clause language provided that it adequately addresses the intent of 

Appendix II(B) to Part 200, which addresses termination for fault and for convenience. 

A 2 5 . 3  C O N T R A C T  C L A U S E  

A 2 5 . 3 . 1  T e r m i n a t i o n  f o r  C o n v e n i e n c e  

TERMINATION FOR CONVENIENCE (CONSTRUCTION & EQUIPMENT CONTRACTS) 

The Owner may terminate this contract in whole or in part at any time by providing written notice to the 

Contractor.  Such action may be without cause and without prejudice to any other right or remedy of 

Owner. Upon receipt of a written notice of termination, except as explicitly directed by the Owner, the 

Contractor shall immediately proceed with the following obligations regardless of any delay in 

determining or adjusting amounts due under this clause:  

1. Contractor must immediately discontinue work as specified in the written notice. 

2. Terminate all subcontracts to the extent they relate to the work terminated under the notice. 

3. Discontinue orders for materials and services except as directed by the written notice. 

4. Deliver to the Owner all fabricated and partially fabricated parts, completed and partially 

completed work, supplies, equipment and materials acquired prior to termination of the work, 

and as directed in the written notice. 



 

Guidelines for Contract Provisions for Obligated Sponsors and Airport Improvement Program Projects  

Issued on June 19, 2018 Page 65 

5. Complete performance of the work not terminated by the notice. 

6. Take action as directed by the Owner to protect and preserve property and work related to this 

contract that Owner will take possession. 

Owner agrees to pay Contractor for:  

 completed and acceptable work executed in accordance with the contract documents prior to the 

effective date of termination; 

 documented expenses sustained prior to the effective date of termination in performing work and 

furnishing labor, materials, or equipment as required by the contract documents in connection 

with uncompleted work; 

 reasonable and substantiated claims, costs, and damages incurred in settlement of terminated 

contracts with Subcontractors and Suppliers; and 

 reasonable and substantiated expenses to the Contractor directly attributable to Owner’s 

termination action. 

Owner will not pay Contractor for loss of anticipated profits or revenue or other economic loss arising 

out of or resulting from the Owner’s termination action. 

The rights and remedies this clause provides are in addition to any other rights and remedies provided 

by law or under this contract. 

TERMINATION FOR CONVENIENCE (PROFESSIONAL SERVICES)  

The Owner may, by written notice to the Consultant, terminate this Agreement for its convenience and 

without cause or default on the part of Consultant. Upon receipt of the notice of termination, except as 

explicitly directed by the Owner, the Contractor must immediately discontinue all services affected. 

Upon termination of the Agreement, the Consultant must deliver to the Owner all data, surveys, models, 

drawings, specifications, reports, maps, photographs, estimates, summaries, and other documents and 

materials prepared by the Engineer under this contract, whether complete or partially complete.  

Owner agrees to make just and equitable compensation to the Consultant for satisfactory work 

completed up through the date the Consultant receives the termination notice.  Compensation will not 

include anticipated profit on non-performed services. 

Owner further agrees to hold Consultant harmless for errors or omissions in documents that are 

incomplete as a result of the termination action under this clause. 

A 2 5 . 3 . 2  T e r m i n a t i o n  f o r  D e f a u l t  

TERMINATION FOR DEFAULT (CONSTRUCTION) 

Section 80-09 of FAA Advisory Circular 150/5370-10 establishes conditions, rights, and remedies 

associated with Owner termination of this contract due to default of the Contractor.   

TERMINATION FOR DEFAULT (EQUIPMENT) 

The Owner may, by written notice of default to the Contractor, terminate all or part of this Contract if 

the Contractor: 



 

Guidelines for Contract Provisions for Obligated Sponsors and Airport Improvement Program Projects  

Issued on June 19, 2018 Page 66 

1. Fails to commence the Work under the Contract within the time specified in the Notice- to-

Proceed; 

2. Fails to make adequate progress as to endanger performance of this Contract in accordance with 

its terms; 

3. Fails to make delivery of the equipment within the time specified in the Contract, including any 

Owner approved extensions; 

4. Fails to comply with material provisions of the Contract; 

5. Submits certifications made under the Contract and as part of their proposal that include false or 

fraudulent statements; or 

6. Becomes insolvent or declares bankruptcy. 

If one or more of the stated events occur, the Owner will give notice in writing to the Contractor and 

Surety of its intent to terminate the contract for cause. At the Owner’s discretion, the notice may allow 

the Contractor and Surety an opportunity to cure the breach or default.  

If within [10] days of the receipt of notice, the Contractor or Surety fails to remedy the breach or default 

to the satisfaction of the Owner, the Owner has authority to acquire equipment by other procurement 

action. The Contractor will be liable to the Owner for any excess costs the Owner incurs for acquiring 

such similar equipment. 

Payment for completed equipment delivered to and accepted by the Owner shall be at the Contract 

price. The Owner may withhold from amounts otherwise due the Contractor for such completed 

equipment, such sum as the Owner determines to be necessary to protect the Owner against loss because 

of Contractor default. 

Owner will not terminate the Contractor’s right to proceed with the Work under this clause if the delay 

in completing the work arises from unforeseeable causes beyond the control and without the fault or 

negligence of the Contractor. Examples of such acceptable causes include: acts of God, acts of the 

Owner, acts of another Contractor in the performance of a contract with the Owner, and severe weather 

events that substantially exceed normal conditions for the location. 

If, after termination of the Contractor’s right to proceed, the Owner determines that the Contractor was 

not in default, or that the delay was excusable, the rights and obligations of the parties will be the same 

as if the Owner issued the termination for the convenience the Owner. 

The rights and remedies of the Owner in this clause are in addition to any other rights and remedies 

provided by law or under this contract. 

TERMINATION FOR DEFAULT (PROFESSIONAL SERVICES)  

Either party may terminate this Agreement for cause if the other party fails to fulfill its obligations that 

are essential to the completion of the work per the terms and conditions of the Agreement. The party 

initiating the termination action must allow the breaching party an opportunity to dispute or cure the 

breach.  

The terminating party must provide the breaching party [7] days advance written notice of its intent to 

terminate the Agreement. The notice must specify the nature and extent of the breach, the conditions 



 

Guidelines for Contract Provisions for Obligated Sponsors and Airport Improvement Program Projects  

Issued on June 19, 2018 Page 67 

necessary to cure the breach, and the effective date of the termination action.  The rights and remedies in 

this clause are in addition to any other rights and remedies provided by law or under this agreement. 

a) Termination by Owner: The Owner may terminate this Agreement in whole or in part, for the 
failure of the Consultant to: 
1. Perform the services within the time specified in this contract or by Owner approved extension; 

2. Make adequate progress so as to endanger satisfactory performance of the Project; or 

3. Fulfill the obligations of the Agreement that are essential to the completion of the Project. 

Upon receipt of the notice of termination, the Consultant must immediately discontinue all services 

affected unless the notice directs otherwise.  Upon termination of the Agreement, the Consultant must 

deliver to the Owner all data, surveys, models, drawings, specifications, reports, maps, photographs, 

estimates, summaries, and other documents and materials prepared by the Engineer under this 

contract, whether complete or partially complete.  

Owner agrees to make just and equitable compensation to the Consultant for satisfactory work 

completed up through the date the Consultant receives the termination notice.  Compensation will not 

include anticipated profit on non-performed services. 

Owner further agrees to hold Consultant harmless for errors or omissions in documents that are 

incomplete as a result of the termination action under this clause. 

If, after finalization of the termination action, the Owner determines the Consultant was not in default 

of the Agreement, the rights and obligations of the parties shall be the same as if the Owner issued the 

termination for the convenience of the Owner. 

b) Termination by Consultant: The Consultant may terminate this Agreement in whole or in part, if 

the Owner: 

1. Defaults on its obligations under this Agreement; 

2. Fails to make payment to the Consultant in accordance with the terms of this Agreement; 

3. Suspends the Project for more than [180] days due to reasons beyond the control of the 

Consultant. 

Upon receipt of a notice of termination from the Consultant, Owner agrees to cooperate with 

Consultant for the purpose of terminating the agreement or portion thereof, by mutual consent.  If 

Owner and Consultant cannot reach mutual agreement on the termination settlement, the Consultant 

may, without prejudice to any rights and remedies it may have, proceed with terminating all or parts 

of this Agreement based upon the Owner’s breach of the contract. 

In the event of termination due to Owner breach, the Engineer is entitled to invoice Owner and to 

receive full payment for all services performed or furnished in accordance with this Agreement and 

all justified reimbursable expenses incurred by the Consultant through the effective date of 

termination action. Owner agrees to hold Consultant harmless for errors or omissions in documents 

that are incomplete as a result of the termination action under this clause. 

 

 



 

Guidelines for Contract Provisions for Obligated Sponsors and Airport Improvement Program Projects  

Issued on June 19, 2018 Page 68 

A 2 6  T R A D E  R E S T R I C T I O N  C E R T I F I C A T I O N  

A 2 6 . 1   S O U R C E  

49 USC § 50104 

49 CFR part 30 

A 2 6 . 2  A P P L I C A B I L I T Y  

Unless waived by the Secretary of Transportation, sponsors may not use AIP funds on a product or 

service from a foreign country included in the current list of countries that discriminate against U.S. 

firms as published by the Office of the United States Trade Representative (USTR). 

Contract Types – The trade restriction certification and clause applies to all AIP funded projects. 

Use of Provision – MANDATORY TEXT.  49 CFR part 30 prescribes the language for this model clause.  

The sponsor must include this certification language in all contracts and subcontracts without 

modification.  

A 2 6 . 3   S O L I C I T A T I O N  C L A U S E  

TRADE RESTRICTION CERTIFICATION 

By submission of an offer, the Offeror certifies that with respect to this solicitation and any resultant 

contract, the Offeror – 

1) is not owned or controlled by one or more citizens of a foreign country included in the list of 

countries that discriminate against U.S. firms as published by the Office of the United States 

Trade Representative (USTR); 

2) has not knowingly entered into any contract or subcontract for this project with a person that is 

a citizen or national of a foreign country included on the list of countries that discriminate 

against U.S. firms as published by the USTR; and  

3) has not entered into any subcontract for any product to be used on the Federal project that is 

produced in a foreign country included on the list of countries that discriminate against U.S. 

firms published by the USTR. 

This certification concerns a matter within the jurisdiction of an agency of the United States of America 

and the making of a false, fictitious, or fraudulent certification may render the maker subject to 

prosecution under Title 18 USC Section 1001. 

The Offeror/Contractor must provide immediate written notice to the Owner if the Offeror/Contractor 

learns that its certification or that of a subcontractor was erroneous when submitted or has become 

erroneous by reason of changed circumstances.  The Contractor must require subcontractors provide 

immediate written notice to the Contractor if at any time it learns that its certification was erroneous by 

reason of changed circumstances. 

Unless the restrictions of this clause are waived by the Secretary of Transportation in accordance with 

49 CFR 30.17, no contract shall be awarded to an Offeror or subcontractor:  



 

Guidelines for Contract Provisions for Obligated Sponsors and Airport Improvement Program Projects  

Issued on June 19, 2018 Page 69 

1) who is owned or controlled by one or more citizens or nationals of a foreign country included on 
the list of countries that discriminate against U.S. firms published by the USTR or  

2) whose subcontractors are owned or controlled by one or more citizens or nationals of a foreign 
country on such USTR list or  

3) who incorporates in the public works project any product of a foreign country on such USTR list. 

Nothing contained in the foregoing shall be construed to require establishment of a system of records in 

order to render, in good faith, the certification required by this provision.  The knowledge and 

information of a contractor is not required to exceed that which is normally possessed by a prudent 

person in the ordinary course of business dealings. 

The Offeror agrees that, if awarded a contract resulting from this solicitation, it will incorporate this 

provision for certification without modification in all lower tier subcontracts. The Contractor may rely 

on the certification of a prospective subcontractor that it is not a firm from a foreign country included on 

the list of countries that discriminate against U.S. firms as published by USTR, unless the Offeror has 

knowledge that the certification is erroneous. 

This certification is a material representation of fact upon which reliance was placed when making an 

award.  If it is later determined that the Contractor or subcontractor knowingly rendered an erroneous 

certification, the Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) may direct through the Owner cancellation of 

the contract or subcontract for default at no cost to the Owner or the FAA. 

 



 

Guidelines for Contract Provisions for Obligated Sponsors and Airport Improvement Program Projects  

Issued on June 19, 2018 Page 70 

A 2 7  V E T E R A N ’ S  P R E F E R E N C E   

A 2 7 . 1  S O U R C E  

49 USC § 47112(c) 

A 2 7 . 2  A P P L I C A B I L I T Y  

Contract Types – This provision applies to all AIP funded projects that involve labor to carry out the 

project. This preference, which excludes executive, administrative, and supervisory positions, applies to 

covered veterans (as defined under § 47112(c)) only when they are readily available and qualified to 

accomplish the work required by the project.  

Use of Provision – No mandatory text provided.  The following language is acceptable to the FAA and 

meets the intent of this requirement.  If the sponsor uses different language, the sponsor’s language 

must fully satisfy the requirements of 49 USC § 47112.  

A 2 7 . 3  C O N T R A C T  C L A U S E  

VETERAN’S PREFERENCE 

In the employment of labor (excluding executive, administrative, and supervisory positions), the 

Contractor and all sub-tier contractors must give preference to covered veterans as defined within Title 

49 United States Code Section 47112.  Covered veterans include Vietnam-era veterans, Persian Gulf 

veterans, Afghanistan-Iraq war veterans, disabled veterans, and small business concerns (as defined by 

15 USC 632) owned and controlled by disabled veterans.  This preference only applies when there are 

covered veterans readily available and qualified to perform the work to which the employment relates. 















































































MORROW
COUNTY

DESTINATION
DEVELOPMENT

Building tourism in a manageable,
sustainable way that will stimulate
the local economy, protect, and
enhance local resources and foster
community pride — without
compromising the qualities that
make the place so special.

Six Month Report



Exploring Morrow County in person
Researching Morrow County history via county website, various online sites, local newspaper, social media
Researching historic economic development impact from tourism (Dean Runyan reports & various report’s)
Developed Press Release for Heppner Gazette Times and N. Morrow Times
Reviewing past editorial in publications, EOVA Trip planner (2007 to current)
Developing contact list
Conversations with  community leaders. in person , via phone call or zoom.
Connecting with local, regional and state for call outs on digital photos, editorial
Constructing the Destination Development presentation, assessment /Studio Input outline
Gathering and documenting assets (locations, attractions, events, eat, stay, play, explore)
Developing/Implementing digital database of assets for media, OTIS (Oregon tourism information system)
Revamped Morrow County Tourism Facebook page - Explore Morrow County (Morrow County Tourism)
Developed Explore Morrow County Instagram page
Social Media (posting, research, interaction, calendar development to align locally, regionally & w/ state)
Updating contact/information list
Liaison mtg. w/ Comm. Doherty & Tamra Mabbott  
Constructing/Finalizing MC Destination Development preview presentation for each community (collecting appropriate digitals & data)
Constructing/Finalizing  MC Destination Development Community Input Studio presentation for each community. (collecting appropriate 
digitals & data)
Developing digital and PDF assets to promote studio input sessions.  Sharing with each community for wider distribution on social media, 
contact lists, community forums, etc. 
Paid advertising of Community Studio Input session on social media
Researching grants for destination development projects
Developing summary of information collected from conversations with community leaders, presentation preview and community studio
input series.
Developing & implementing comprehensive interactive public online survey to involve community members who were not able to come to 
in person meeting.
Statewide DD research – connecting with regional and state level industry partners 
Researching, reviewing and investigating information from Travel Oregon’s Destination Boot Camp.  



Social Media

Facebook Live 

PDF for  Chamber/City contacts
Designed & 
developed 
individual  social 
media  imagery & 
PDF flyer for each 
community to 
share & distribute 
weeks prior to 
Studio Input .
Paid advertising 
on Explore 
Morrow County 
Facebook & 
Instagram to 
concentrate on a 
larger reach. 



Heppner - Information Preview & Studio Input Series  Done
Boardman - Information Preview & Studio Input Series  Done
Irrigon - Information Preview & Studio Input Series  Done
Ione - to be completed in June
Lexington - to be completed in June

Online Survey to launch in June, concluding in July.

Key Outcomes so far –
Raised awareness of the impact of the tourism dollars foot print
Eagerness for a county wide trail system – connecting the communities
Utilizing natural resource assets to develop events - birding, fun run on trails
Desire to share history so generations won’t forget.  Develop a living history event
Rental access to draw visitors to area – kayaks or paddle boards, bikes
Desire for more or improved events
Building a community that will entice the younger generations to stay and be engaged 

in, and that will bring in new business and visitors
Realizing that there are hurdles to overcome to move forward, infrastructure, insurance (rentals 
or events)
Getting the vision to align between all community entities



Finish Studio input Series for Lexington & Ione
Report summarizing information gathered during conversations, 

interviews, community studio input  series & online survey
Present report to Morrow County Commissioners 
Tourism committee, representing all corners of Morrow County  

appointed and  formed
Strategic plan deigned
Short and long term goals identified
Goals and action items selected for grant applications
Moving forward with 2023 goals in place by the end of 2022



Karie Walchli
Oregon's Rugged Country

Representing
Morrow Co. Tourism
Umatilla Co. Tourism

kariewalchli@gmail.com

Follow Morrow County Tourism – EXPLORE MORROW COUNTY
on Facebook & Instagram







PLANNING DEPARTMENT ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
PO Box 40   •   Irrigon, Oregon 97844 
(541) 922-4624  
 

June 3, 2022 
 
MEMO 
TO: Board of Commissioners 
CC: Darrell Green, County Administrator 
 Justin Nelson, County Counsel 
 John Bowles, Undersheriff 
 Robyn Canaday, Interim Public Health Director 
RE: Measure 109 (psilocybin) – Summary of Land Use  
 
 
Oregon voters approved Ballot Measure 109 in 2020, which authorizes the manufacture 
and use of psilocybin products under controlled supervision and establishes the 
regulatory framework for oversight and administration.  BM 109 is codified in ORS 
Chapter 475A.   

BM109 and ORS Chapter 475A are patterned after the current marijuana statutes and 
regulatory system.  ORS 475A goes into effect on January 1, 2023.   

Unlike the marijuana legislation, all jurisdictions are treated as having “opted-in” to the 
psilocybin regulations, unless the Board refers the matter to the voters at the next 
general election and the voters elect to “opt-out”.  Whether opting in or opting out, the 
County may adopt “time-place-manner” regulations, as with the marijuana statutes. 

Land Use Issues 

1. County Ordinances:  Certain County Ordinances may need to be amended to 
establish land use regulations and standards regarding psilocybin production and 
“psilocybin service centers;” or to prohibit or otherwise restrict them. 

2. Opt-out under ORS 475A.718:  BM 109 / ORS 475A will become effective 
beginning January 1, 2023, unless Linn County voters elect to “opt out” in the 
upcoming November general election.  The deadline to get a measure on the 
ballot is August, 19, 2022.  If there is interest in putting the question on the ballot, 
drafting should begin soon. 

3. Time-Place-Manner (TPM) regulations under ORS 475A.530:  The regulatory 
framework and TPM regulations permitted by statute are largely the same as those 
for marijuana businesses.  

 



4. Land Use Compatibility Statements (LUCS) under ORS 475A.270:  As with the 
marijuana regulations, an application for production license or a license to operate 
a “psilocybin service center” under BM 109 / ORS 475A requires that the County sign 
a land use compatibility statement to indicate whether the use is permitted at the 
proposed location.  The language in the form and the process will be essentially the 
same.  

5. Farm use under ORS 475A.570: (1) Psilocybin-producing fungi is: (a) A crop for the 
purposes of “farm use” as defined in ORS 215.203 (see below).  However, psilocybin 
production must occur indoors. 

Key Provisions of ORS Chapter 475A 

475A.305 Psilocybin service center operator license; fees; rules.  

** 

(d) Must ensure that the psilocybin service center is located in an area that is not: 
      (A) Within the limits of an incorporated city or town; and 
      (B) Zoned exclusively for residential use; 

475A.270 Duty to request land use compatibility statement. (1) Prior to receiving a license under ORS 
475A.290 or 475A.305, an applicant shall request a land use compatibility statement from the city or 
county that authorizes the land use. The land use compatibility statement must demonstrate that the 
requested license is for a land use that is allowable as a permitted or conditional use within the given 
zoning designation where the land is located. The Oregon Health Authority may not issue a license if the 
land use compatibility statement shows that the proposed land use is prohibited in the applicable zone. 

      (2) Except as provided in subsection (3) of this section, a city or county that receives a request for a 
land use compatibility statement under this section must act on that request within 21 days of: 
      (a) Receipt of the request, if the land use is allowable as an outright permitted use; or 
      (b) Final local permit approval, if the land use is allowable as a conditional use. 

      (3) A city or county that receives a request for a land use compatibility statement under this section 
is not required to act on that request during the period that the authority discontinues licensing those 
premises pursuant to ORS 475A.718 (4). 

      (4) A city or county action concerning a land use compatibility statement under this section is not a 
land use decision for purposes of ORS chapter 195, 196, 197, 215 or 227. [2021 c.1 §19] 

475A.530 Local time, place and manner regulations. (1) For purposes of this section, “reasonable 
regulations” includes: 
      (a) Reasonable conditions on the manner in which a psilocybin product manufacturer that holds a 
license issued under ORS 475A.290 may manufacture psilocybin products; 



      (b) Reasonable conditions on the manner in which a psilocybin service center operator that holds a 
license issued under ORS 475A.305 may provide psilocybin services; 
      (c) Reasonable limitations on the hours during which a premises for which a license has been issued 
under ORS 475A.210 to 475A.722 may operate; 
      (d) Reasonable requirements related to the public’s access to a premises for which a license has been 
issued under ORS 475A.210 to 475A.722; and 
      (e) Reasonable limitations on where a premises for which a license may be issued under ORS 
475A.210 to 475A.722 may be located. 

      

(2) Notwithstanding ORS 30.935, 215.253 (1) or 633.738, the governing body of a city or county may 
adopt ordinances that impose reasonable regulations on the operation of businesses located at 
premises for which a license has been issued under ORS 475A.210 to 475A.722 if the premises are 
located in the area subject to the jurisdiction of the city or county, except that the governing body of a 
city or county may not adopt an ordinance that prohibits a premises for which a license has been issued 
under ORS 475A.305 from being located within a distance that is greater than 1,000 feet of another 
premises for which a license has been issued under ORS 475A.305. [2021 c.1 §81] 

475A.538 Repeal of city, county ordinance that prohibits certain establishments. (1) The governing 
body of a city or county may repeal an ordinance that prohibits the establishment of any one or more of 
the following in the area subject to the jurisdiction of the city or in the unincorporated area subject to 
the jurisdiction of the county: 

      (a) Psilocybin product manufacturers that hold a license issued under ORS 475A.290; 

      (b) Psilocybin service center operators that hold a license issued under ORS 475A.305; or 

      (c) Any combination of the entities described in this subsection. 

      (2) If the governing body of a city or county repeals an ordinance under this section, the governing 
body must provide the text of the ordinance to the Oregon Health Authority, in a form and manner 
prescribed by the authority, if the ordinance concerns a premises for which a license has been issued 
under ORS 475A.210 to 475A.722. [2021 c.1 §83] 

475A.570 Psilocybin-producing fungi as crop; exceptions to permitted uses. (1) Psilocybin-producing 
fungi is: 

      (a) A crop for the purposes of “farm use” as defined in ORS 215.203; 

      (b) A crop for purposes of a “farm” and “farming practice,” both as defined in ORS 30.930; 

      (c) A product of farm use as described in ORS 308A.062; and 

      (d) The product of an agricultural activity for purposes of ORS 568.909. 

      (2) Notwithstanding ORS chapters 195, 196, 197, 215 and 227, the following are not permitted uses 
on land designated for exclusive farm use: 



      (a) A new dwelling used in conjunction with a psilocybin-producing fungi crop; 

      (b) A farm stand, as described in ORS 215.213 (1)(r) or 215.283 (1)(o), used in conjunction with a 
psilocybin-producing fungi crop; and 

      (c) Subject to subsection (3) of this section, a commercial activity, as described in ORS 215.213 (2)(c) 
or 215.283 (2)(a), carried on in conjunction with a psilocybin-producing fungi crop. 

      (3) The operation of a psilocybin service center may be carried on in conjunction with a psilocybin-
producing fungi crop. 

      (4) A county may allow the manufacture of psilocybin products as a farm use on land zoned for farm 
or forest use in the same manner as the manufacture of psilocybin products is allowed in exclusive farm 
use zones under this section and ORS 215.213, 215.283 and 475C.053. 

      (5) This section applies to psilocybin product manufacturers that hold a license under ORS 475A.290. 
[2021 c.1 §91] 

Authority of Cities and Counties to Prohibit Establishment of Psilocybin-Related Businesses 

      475A.718 Adoption of ordinances; referral to electors for approval. (1) The governing body of a city 
or county may adopt ordinances to be referred to the electors of the city or county as described in 
subsection (2) of this section that prohibit or allow the establishment of any one or more of the 
following in the area subject to the jurisdiction of the city or in the unincorporated area subject to the 
jurisdiction of the county: 

      (a) Psilocybin product manufacturers that hold a license issued under ORS 475A.290; 

      (b) Psilocybin service center operators that hold a license issued under ORS 475A.305; or 

      (c) Any combination of the entities described in this subsection. 

      (2) If the governing body of a city or county adopts an ordinance under this section, the governing 
body shall submit the measure of the ordinance to the electors of the city or county for approval at the 
next statewide general election. 

      (3) If the governing body of a city or county adopts an ordinance under this section, the governing 
body must provide the text of the ordinance to the Oregon Health Authority. 

      (4) Upon receiving notice of a prohibition under subsection (3) of this section, the authority shall 
discontinue licensing those premises to which the prohibition applies until the date of the next 
statewide general election. 

      (5) If an allowance is approved at the next statewide general election under subsection (2) of this 
section, the authority shall begin licensing the premises to which the allowance applies on the first 
business day of the January immediately following the date of the next statewide general election. 



      (6) Notwithstanding any other provisions of law, a city or county that adopts an ordinance under this 
section that prohibits the establishment of an entity described in subsection (1) of this section may not 
impose a tax or fee on the manufacturing or sale of psilocybin products. [2021 c.1 §128] 

I. law forecloses future option to have third party inspector. 



Ballot Measure 109
Oregon Psilocybin Services Act

• Directs the Oregon Health Authority to license and regulate the manufacture, 
delivery, purchase, and consumption of psilocybin at licensed psilocybin 
service centers. 

• Psilocybin is an FDA designated breakthrough therapy for treatment of 
resistant depression and major depressive disorder. 

• A person at least 21 years of age may purchase, possess, consume, and 
experience the effects of psilocybin only at a licensed psilocybin service center 
during a psilocybin administration session with a licensed psilocybin service 
facilitator. 

• Does not legalize the purchase, possession, and consumption of psilocybin 
outside of a licensed premises. 



Ballot Measure 109
Oregon Psilocybin Services Act

• Passed November 3, 2020  /  Effective January 1, 2023

• Morrow County: 1689 yes  3263 no

• Morrow County by precincts:

• Boardman 535 yes 824 no 

• Irrigon 584 yes 1088 no

• Lexington  75 yes 292 no

• Ione  114 yes 268 no

• Heppner  381 yes 791 no



• BM 109 is codified in ORS Chapter 475A.  

• BM 109 and ORS Chapter 475A are patterned after Oregon’s marijuana 
statutes and regulatory system. 

• County may refer an ordinance to the voters to prohibit or allow the 
establishment of licensed psilocybin facilities.

• County may adopt ordinances to impose reasonable (time-place-manner) 
regulations on the operation of licensed establishments.



Oregon Psilocybin Services Act
County Regulation

• Opt-out under ORS 475A.718: ORS 475A will become effective beginning 
January 1, 2023, unless Morrow County voters elect to “opt out” in the 
upcoming November general election.  The deadline to get a measure on the 
ballot is August, 19, 2022.  If there is interest in putting the question on the 
ballot, drafting should begin soon.

• Time-Place-Manner (TPM) regulations under ORS 475A.530: The 
regulatory framework and TPM regulations permitted by statute are largely 
the same as those for marijuana businesses.

• County Ordinances: Some County Ordinances may need to be amended to 
establish land use regulations and standards regarding psilocybin production 
and “psilocybin service centers.”



Oregon Psilocybin Services Act
Land Use Issues

• Land Use Compatibility Statement (LUCS) Required:

o An application for a production license or a license to operate a 
“psilocybin service center” requires that the County sign a land use 
compatibility statement to indicate whether the use is permitted at 
the proposed location. 

• Psilocybin-producing fungi is a farm crop for the purposes of “farm use” 
as defined in ORS 215.203.  

• Psilocybin production must occur indoors.



   
 
 
 
 
 
MEMORANDUM 
To:  Morrow County Board of Commissioners 
From:  Tamra Mabbott, Planning Director 
CC:  Planning Commission 
BOC Date: June 8, 2022 
RE:  Monthly Planning Update 
 
     
Mission Statement 
Planning team is pleased to announce our department’s Mission Statement:  
Morrow County Planning Department provides guidance and support to citizens for short term and long range planning 
in land use, to sustain and improve the county’s lands for future generations. Our goal is to foster development where 
people can live, work & play.  

Planning Commission Update 
Planning Commission did not meet in May. June 28th meeting will be held in Heppner.  Zoom will continue to be an 
option for participation.  
 
Current Planning Activity Month of May 2022  
• Zoning Permits – 2 
• Land Use Compatibility Reviews – 17 
• Agriculture Building Permit Exemption – 1 
• Zone Change – 2 
• Pre-Application Meetings – 2  

 
Code Enforcement Activity  
• 4 new complaints- Zoning violations, solid waste, garbage, junk and general nuisance  
• 2 complaints- Garbage & Debris, General Nuisance  
• 1 Complaint- Commercial Business complaint in residential zone 
• 1 Complaint- Solid waste  
• 3 cases closed – Properties have been cleaned up,  
• 2 code cases closed- overgrown weeds and debris causing fire hazards were properly removed.  
• 1 code case closed- Commercial business with garbage being blown around by wind, at times impacting travel on 

Interstate 84. Business is making progress and will continue to work on keeping it cleaned up.   
• 1 Court Case Continued- Making Progress with removal of garbage and vehicles. RV removed from property as 

requested. Court Date scheduled.  
• Communicating with 8 non-permitted trucking business operations located in residential zones. 
• Other outstanding/ongoing cases - 38 

 
Energy Projects 
Staff continue to coordinate and host pre-application meetings for permitting new solar and other energy 
developments. List of pending and approved projects can be found here: 
https://www.co.morrow.or.us/planning/page/renewable-energy-1 
 
 
 
 

https://www.co.morrow.or.us/planning/page/renewable-energy-1


Access and Transportation  
Planning and Public Works are hosting an informal discussion on July 14th about Tower Road and the Interstate 84 
Impacts.   Staff has received commitment that Oregon Department of Transportation (ODOT) will fund a formal 
Interchange Area Management Plan next year. 
 
Umatilla Army Depot 
Planning staff continue to provide support on matters related to the future transfer of the US Army lands to the 
Columbia Development Authority (CDA).  
 
Grants and Grant Writing 
Staff have provided support on various grant writing services which will result in county selecting a person or firm(s) to 
assist with future grant writing efforts.    

 
 
Data Dashboard  Stephen Wrecsics, GIS and Planner Tech recently developed a dashboard 
for Morrow County.  Available here:  www.co.morrow.or.us/planning/page/dashboards 
The dashboard is available for anyone to use.  Stephen Wrecsics can answer questions at 
(541) 922-4624. 
 

 
 
 
New Morrow County Building:  On May 26th, Planning staff helped host the ribbon cutting ceremony for the new North 
Morrow Government Center Building in Irrigon.  Photos below show County Commissioners, Sheriff and Undersheriff 
and Stephanie Case, Planner II.  Bottom photo includes the architecture and design team, County Administrator, Darrell 
Green and representatives of Fortis Construction, General Contractor.  Many residents of Irrigon attended to welcome 
the new addition to their city.   
 

 

http://www.co.morrow.or.us/planning/page/dashboards



































	Agenda
	USDA APHIS Wildlife Svcs. Agmt.
	OWRD IGA - Asst. Watermaster Svcs.
	Tidewater Addition Subdivision Plat
	Ramandeep Subdivision Plat
	Barnett & Moro Representation Letter & DRAFT Audit's Report
	Century West Agmt - Lex. Airport Taxiway D Reconstruction Design
	Letter of Support - LimitBid
	FY 2021 Close-Out of OHA IGA #159824
	Order #OR-2022-10: Consolidating STF & STIF Committees; Appoint Members
	Tourism Consultant - Bi-Annual Report
	Ballot Measure 109
	Planning Dept. Report
	Treasurer's Report
	Correspondence



